Self-Efficacy and Medication Adherence of Individuals with Vision Impairments

by

Debra Tazewell

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
Auburn University
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy

Auburn, Alabama May 9, 2015

Self-efficacy, vision impairment, medication management, medication adherence

Copyright 2015 by Debra Tazewell

Approved by

Rebecca Curtis, Chair, Associate Professor of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling
E. Davis Martin, Jr., Wayne T. Smith Distinguished Professor of Special Education,
Rehabilitation, and Counseling
Marie Kraska, Mildred Cheshire Fraley Distinguished Professor of Educational Foundations,
Leadership, and Technology

Abstract

The purpose of the study was to investigate the self-efficacy and medication adherence of individuals with vision impairments who were served at the time by one or more of the three non-profit consumer organizations that provide advocacy and other services for individuals with vision loss in Georgia. In addition, the study examined an individual's confidence associated with tasks such as ability to ready medication labels, ability to take medications as prescribed, and use of assistive technology aids when managing their medications.

In conducting the study, the researcher selected three non-profit consumer organizations whose focus is to provide advocacy services to individuals with vision loss. The researcher contacted each president of the three local non-profit consumer organizations that provide advocacy services for individuals with vision impairments by telephone to request the organization's participation in the study and to provide information on the purpose of the study.

A formal letter was e-mailed to each president to reiterate the purpose of the study and to request support. In addition, a request was made for permission to attend one monthly meeting of each organization to inform the members of the project and to solicit participation in the study.

All participation was voluntary. The survey instruments were self-reported and were to be completed independently or with the use of a proxy (family member or friend). After completing the surveys, participants placed surveys in the drop box at the meeting of their

organization. The survey data remained anonymous. The total number of individuals with impairments in the data set was 52.

Individuals with vision impairment demographic variables were as follows: (a) gender, (b) type of vision impairment, (c) marital status, (d) age range, (e) education, (f) current employment status, (g) housing arrangement, (h) travel independently outside the home (yes, no), (i) travel methods, (j) assistance in taking medications, (k) use of assistive technology to take medication, (l) ability to read large print on newspaper headings, (m) ability to read small print on newspaper, (n) ability to read medication labels, (o) ability to see the medication pills, and (p) requires the assistance of others in reading. Participants also responded to four openended questions that addressed their coping skills. The researcher organized comments into central themes. All participant responses provided implications for the results.

Results from the statistical analysis showed that in terms of individuals with impairments confidence level, participants were 'somewhat' to 'very confident' in taking their medication independently. There was no statistically significant difference in following prescribed medication regimens or refilling their medication on schedule, and there was no difference in the confidence level of those who used assistive technology/aids and those who did not use assistive technology in taking their medication. This finding indicated individuals felt confident in managing their medications at the .05 level; however, the finding also implied that they had challenges in being able to manage their medication regimens independently.

Acknowledgements

I wish to acknowledge and express my sincere gratitude to my committee members, Dr. Rebecca Curtis (Chair), Dr. Marie Kraska, and Dr. E. Davis Martin for their continued guidance words of encouragement, and support throughout this most challenging process. I am also very grateful to Dr. Kraska for her commitment to me, her endurance, support, and direction, as well as her guidance and belief in me throughout this process. I would also like to thank my outside reader, Dr. Elisha Wohleb, for her insight and assistance in this momentous endeavor.

Special acknowledgements go to my family. Thanks to my mother and father, Ruth and Isaac Tazewell who left me during this process but believed strongly in the education process. They supported me in every way possible, and their wisdom and beliefs encouraged me throughout this process. My sisters, Patricia Young, and Camellia M. Owens, thank you for continuing to push me. In addition, my brothers Isaac and Irwin Tazewell, thank you for your support during our most difficult period. Thanks for the continuous prayers of my four sisters and for asking God to guide and walk with me. Without Him this would not be possible.

An unlimited amount of gratitude goes to my dear husband, Dr. Ralph Noble, who has encouraged me, stood by me every step of the way, and always had words of encouragement in the mist of various challenges. Special thanks to him for always being available to share, provide encouragement, and provide necessary guidance to me in my goal. I am truly thankful. Finally, I would like to thank my good friend Leverta Peeples for always providing a positive outlook on why I must continue to complete this process, in our efforts to advocate for others.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
List of Tables	ix
List of Abbreviations	X
Chapter I. Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	6
Purpose of the Study	6
Research Questions	7
Statement of the Hypotheses	9
Design of the Study	9
Sources of Data	10
Definition of Terms	11
Limitations of the Study	13
Assumptions of the Study	13
Need for the Study	14
Significance of the Study	15
Chapter II. Review of the Literature	16
Terminology	33
Visual Impairment	33

Prevalence of Visual Impairment and Blindness in the Population	35
The Major Causes of Visual Impairment in the U.S. Population	39
Age-Related Macular Degeneration	39
Cataracts	41
Diabetic Retinopathy	42
Glaucoma	45
Theoretical Framework	47
Population Affected by Non Adherence to Medication Regiments	49
The Need for Functional Life Skills	53
Caregiver, Family and Significant Others' Involvement	57
Use of Assistive Technology and Assistive Aids	60
The Cost to Society	62
Prevent Blindness America Reports	63
Summary	65
Chapter III. Method and Instrumentation	68
Design of the Study	68
Sources of Data	69
Population and Sample	69
Profiles of Organizations from which the Sample was Selected	69
Privacy and Confidentiality of Data Collection	70
Instrumentation	71
Method of Procedure	76
Data Analysis	77

Chapter IV. Data Analysis and Results		80
Data Analysis		81
Results of Research Question One		82
Gender, Type of Vision Impa	airment, Marital Status and Age Range	83
Education Level		85
Living Arrangements		86
Travel Outside Independently	y	87
Travel Methods		88
Taking Medication		89
Ability to Read		90
Ability to See		91
Results for Research Question Two.		92
Results for Research Question Three	2	94
Results for Research Question Four		95
Results for Research Question Five.		96
Results for Research Question Six		97
Summary		98
Chapter V. Overview of the Study		101
Summary of Results		104
Limitations		109
Conclusion		110
Implications		113
Recommendations		115

Sumn	nary	.118
References		.119
Appendix A	IRB Approval Notification – Auburn University	.145
Appendix B	Letter of Permission to Use ARMS	.148
Appendix C	Letter of Permission to Use SEAMS	.150
Appendix D	Information Letter to Participants	.152
Appendix E	Permission Letter from NFB	.155
Appendix F	Permission Letter from BVAGRG	.157
Appendix G	Permission letter from GCB	.159
Appendix H	Statement on Confidentiality	.161

List of Tables

Table 1	Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments	
	by Gender, Type of Vision Impairments, and Martial Status	84
Table 2	Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision	
	Impairments by Age Group	85
Table 3	Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments	
	for Education Level and Employment Status	86
Table 4	Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments	
	for Housing Arrangements	87
Table 5	Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments	
	for Travel Independently Outside Home	87
Table 6	Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments	
	by Travel Methods	88
Table 7	Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments	
	by Ability to Take Medication and Assistive Technology/Aids	90
Table 8	Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments	
	by Ability to Read	91
Table 9	Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments	
	by Ability to See	92

List of Abbreviations

ACB American Council of the Blind

AFB American Foundation of the Blind

ADL Activities of Daily Living

ADS Adherence Demographic Survey

ARMS Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale

ACM American Council of the Blind

AOA Administration on Aging

BVA Blinded Veterans Association

BVAGRG Blinded Veterans Association Georgia Regional Group

CDC Center for Disease Control and Prevention

CMS Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services

GCB Georgia Council of the Blind

ICD International Classification of Disease

NEI National Eye Institute

NFB National Federation of the Blind

NIH National Institute of Health

SEAMS Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale

WHO World Health Organization

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

Vision impairment is considered one of the ten most frequent causes of disability in the United States according to the National Institute of Health/National Eye Institute (NIH/NEI, 2004; Center for Chronic Disease and Prevention Control [CDC], 2012). Visual impairment is also considered one of the most feared disabilities (CDC, 2012). It compromises one's quality of life because it reduces one's capacity to read, feel comfortable in taking medications, driving a car, and managing personal accounts. Vision impairment also isolates individuals from many of the activities they enjoy doing. Without the help and assistance of family and friends, adjusting to vision loss can be very difficult (Administration on Aging [AOA], 2006; CDC, 2012).

Vision impairment can be devastating and often, every day activities such as taking medications, caring for a child, caring for ailing parents, reading necessary information, succeeding at work, and traveling to familiar as well as unfamiliar places can be very challenging (American Foundation for the Blind [AFB], 2005; Lombardi & Kennicutt, 2001; McMahon & Curtis, 2009). The experience of losing one's sight is difficult and it requires assistance to adjust to vision loss. Individuals with vision impairments must be educated on new and different ways of doing things to regain their confidence and independence in daily activities (Lauerman, 2000). Learning new ways of doing things is helpful and requires the assistance of trained professionals in the field (Lauerman, 2000; Weeraratne, Opatha, & Rosa, 2012; Zagar & Baggarly, 2010).

Accessible information on medication is critical to the safety, privacy, and independence of individuals with vision impairments (American Council of the Blind [ACB], 2012; AFB, 2005, 2014; Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). Individuals with vision impairments have the right to manage their medications independently. They also have the right to access information and to feel confident that they are taking their medication safely, securely, and as prescribed by their health care provider (ACB, 2012; Weeraratne, Opatha, & Rosa, 2012; Feinberg, Rogers, & Sokol-McKay, 2009). For many individuals, the inability to read their medications puts them at serious risk of taking the wrong medications, at the wrong time, and in the wrong amount (ACB, 2012; Drummond, Drummond & Dutton, 2004).

An important problem facing today's healthcare systems is the failure of patients to take their medication as prescribed (AFB, 2005; McFeely, 2009; Yamdagni, Bhaheetharan, Dunn & Fahimi, 2007). Among patients with chronic illness, approximately 50% do not take their prescribed medications as indicated. This lack of adherence is especially true for the elderly (Brown & Bussell, 2011). Taking medications several times throughout the day or just forgetting to take the medications often contributes to nonadherence (AFB, 2005, 2014; Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005; Yamdagni, Bhaheetharan, Dunn & Fahimi, 2007).

The World Health Organization (WHO) noted that increasing the effectiveness of adherence interventions may have a far greater impact on the health of the population than any improvement in specific medical treatments (Brown & Bussell, 2011; Brown, Brown, Sharma, Brown, Gozum, & Denton, 2000; Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). Poor medication management or adherence has many factors that may include, but are not limited to, the patient's confidence level, health literacy, lack of involvement in the treatment and/or decision-making process, physician-related issues, prescriptions for complex medication regimens, communication

barriers, ineffective communication of information about adverse effects, and provision of care by multiple physicians (Brown & Bussell, 2011; Maibach & Murphy, 1995). Other factors related to healthcare nonadherence may include office visit time limitations, lack of health information, lack of assistive technology, and limited access to care as well as access to information regarding one's care (AFB, 2014; Brown & Bussell, 2011; Smith, Allen, & Blair, 2006). Poor medication adherence often leads to negative outcomes and can also lead to increased morbidity and death. Poor medication adherence is estimated to incur \$100 billion per year in costs (Brown & Bussell, 2011; Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). Medication taking behavior can be extremely complex, requiring several strategies to improve medication adherence (AFB, 2005; Brown & Bussell, 2011).

WHO reported that medication adherence is a key factor associated with the effectiveness of medication therapies (Brown & Bussell, 2011). Between one-third and two-thirds of all medication-related hospitalizations that occur in the United States are due to poor adherence to medication (Brown & Bussell, 2011; Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). WHO reports that improving adherence to medical therapy for conditions such as hypertension and diabetes reflects very important economic and health-related benefits (Brown & Bussell, 2011). There are many factors that cause a decrease in adherence to medications. WHO has classified these factors into five categories: socioeconomic factors, healthcare team factors, health system factors, therapy-related factors, and disease-related factors (Brown & Bussell, 2011; Lee, Grace, & Taylor, 2006; Sabate', 2003).

Many individuals with vision impairments are presented with an overwhelming amount of information regarding their need to adhere to various medication regimens. Individuals with vision impairment may find it difficult to understand and are unable to accurately follow the

medication regimens (ACB, 2012; AFB, 2005; Feinberg, Rogers, & Sokol-McKay, 2009; Gatti, Jacobson, Gazmararian, Schmotzer, & Kripalani, 2009). The inability of individuals to feel comfortable in taking their medications appropriately, beliefs regarding their need for medications, or inability to access health-related information are barriers to receiving optimum health care (Jeppesen, Coyle, & Misser, 2009; Maibach & Murphy, 1995). Difficulty in this area can be especially true for individuals with vision impairments who often have difficulty accessing information in printed formats (AFB, 2014; Drummond, Drummond, & Dutton, 2004; Feinberg, Rogers, & Sokol-McKay, 2009).

Colbert, Sereika, and Erlen (2012) noted that self-efficacy may influence beliefs regarding one's ability to correctly take their medications. They also found that self-efficacy mediated the relationship between one's belief regarding health-related information and medication adherence. The concept of self-efficacy was derived from Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory (Bandura, 1977a). Bandura described self-efficacy as a cognitive process involving judgment of one's ability to perform specific behaviors required to produce identified outcomes (Bandura, 1997; Chlebowy & Garvin, 2006; Maddux & Rogers, 1983; Maibach & Murphy, 1995).

Bandura noted that self-efficacy is the link between one's self-perceptions and individual actions (Bandura, 1997a). For individuals with vision impairments, their ability to feel comfortable with taking their medications, access to health information, and understanding of health instructions may significantly influence their confidence and motivation to take their medications (Colbert, Sereika, & Erten, 2012).

Self-efficacy has assumed a very important role in health care interventions (Maddux & Rogers, 1993). Health care interventions are often enhanced by self-efficacy, which also fosters

positive health-related behaviors (Bandura, 1977b; Maibach, Flora, & Nass, 1991). Self-efficacy theory has aided in understanding various chronic disease-related behaviors. It has aided in facilitating behavioral change in individuals in regards to their treatment (Lentz & Shortridge-Baggett, 2002; Pajares, 2002).

Having confidence and believing that the medications prescribed will improve one's condition can influence patients to maintain an effective treatment plan (Drummond, Drummond, & Dutton, 2004; Gatti, Jacobson, Gazmararian, Schmotzer & Kripalani, 2009). It is important for individuals with vision loss to understand that an important part of their treatment plan consists of taking their medications. They must to be able to access available information regarding their medications. They must also know what medications to take, why they are taking certain medications, and when they need to take their medications (Gatti, Jacobson, Gazmararian, Schmotzer & Kripalani, 2009; Prime, 2012).

Ngoh (2009) noted that having the necessary health information is an important component of both cognitive and functional skills that are needed to adequately take one's medication appropriately. However, patients that lack appropriate health information are more likely to take medications inadequately or be non-adherent (Georges, Bolton, & Bennett, 2004; Ngoh, 2009). Despite the availability of effective medications to address many of the current health care concerns, greater awareness of the importance of adhering to medication treatment regimens is necessary for all patients. Particular attention should be addressed to individuals with vision impairments. Patient nonadherence to prescribed medications and treatment therapy continues to be a problem when addressing the needs of individuals with vision impairments (Sleath et al., 2006; Taylor, Galbraith & Mills, 2002). Patient nonadherence to medication

regimens accounts for substantial worsening of diseases, death, and increased health care cost in the United States (Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005).

Statement of the Problem

Individuals with vision impairments face challenges in being independent in self-managing their medications. Mark Rickert of the American Foundation for the Blind (AFB, 2007) noted that individuals with vision loss who are unable to access information for their healthcare, particularly on prescription labels, may experience serious consequences.

There is a paucity of research and literature related to self-efficacy and medication adherence of individuals with vision impairments. In addition, a great deal of uncertainty exists about factors that influence medication adherence for individuals with vision impairments (Weeraratne, Opatha & Rosa, 2012). The importance of health related information for these individuals is imperative (Weeraratne, Opatha & Rosa, 2012). Information related to healthcare may be helpful in influencing individuals to take their medications as prescribed. Consequently, the focus of this research is the lack of information related to self-efficacy and medication adherence of individuals with vision impairments.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to investigate the self-efficacy and medication adherence of individuals with vision impairments. The purpose was further delineated by investigating an individual's confidence associated with tasks such as ability to read medication labels, ability to take medications as prescribed, and use of assistive technology when managing medications (Drummond, Drummond & Dutton, 2004; McMahon & Curtis, 2009).

This study contributed to the body of knowledge by addressing the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments in taking their medications, access to medical information,

willingness to adhere to a medication regimen, and the overall self-adherence to medication regimens (Drummond, Drummond & Dutton, 2004; McMahon & Curtis, 2009).

Research Questions

The purpose of this study will be explained by six research questions. The research questions addressed in this study are:

- 1. What are the demographic and personal data related to medication taking selected for this study in terms of:
 - (a) Gender (male, female),
 - (b) Type of vision impairment (cataract, glaucoma, macular degeneration, retinitis pigmentosa, diabetic retinopathy, trauma, and other),
 - (c) Marital status (married, single, divorced, widowed),
 - (d) Age Range (22–30; 31–39; 40–48; 49–57; 58–66; 67–75; 76–84; 85 and over),
 - (e) Education level (high school, GED, some college, college graduate, master's, beyond master's degree),
 - (f) Current employment status (full-time, part-time, unemployed, homemaker, retired, student, volunteer),
 - (g) Housing arrangement (lives alone, lives with spouse, lives with other family member, lives with friend, lives in residential facility),
 - (h) Travel, independently outside the home (yes/no),
 - (i) Travel methods (car, taxi, bus, wheelchair, mobility cane, sighted guide, special mode of transportation, walk alone, electric wheelchair, push wheelchair, use of support cane)

- (j) Assistance in taking medications (yes/no),
- (k) Use of assistive technology to take medication (yes/no),
- (l) Ability to read large print on newspaper headings (yes/no),
- (m) Ability to read small print on newspaper (yes/no),
- (n) Ability to read medication labels (yes/no),
- (o) Ability to see the medication pills (yes/no),
- (p) Requires the assistance of others in reading (yes/no).
- 2. In addition, further information will be collected for the following four openended questions:
 - (a) What coping methods do you use in taking your medications?
 - (b) What are the greatest barriers to taking your medication?
 - (c) If you missed or have not taken your medications, what have been the consequences?
 - (d) What assistive technology do you use to take your medications?
- 3. To what extent do individuals with vision impairments follow their prescribed medication regimens as measured by the Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS)?
- 4. To what extent do individuals with vision impairment refill their medications on schedule as measured by the Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS)?
- 5. To what extent do individuals with vision impairments feel confident in their ability to manage their medication independently, as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS)?
- 6. To what extent is there a difference in the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments who use assistive aids in taking their medications and individuals who do not

use aids to access medications as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS)?

Statement of the Hypotheses

The following null hypotheses were formulated to respond to research questions 2, 3, 4, and 5. Each null hypothesis will be tested at the .05 level of significance.

Ho₁: There is no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 10.33, the median score on the subscale of Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS) set by the scale developers for individuals who follow their prescribed medication regimens.

Ho₂: There is no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 5.99, the median score on the subscale of Adherence to Refill Medication (ARMS) set by the scale developers for individuals who refill their medication on schedule.

Ho₃: There is no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 26, the midpoint on the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS).

Ho₄: There is no statistically significant difference in mean scores on the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS) of individuals with vision impairments who use assistive aids in taking their medications and those who do not use assistive aids.

Design of the Study

This study was a survey designed to investigate self-efficacy among individuals with vision impairments. The study investigated individuals with vision impairments' confidence in taking their medications, their ability to adhere to taking prescribed medications, and their ability to meet scheduled appointments. In addition, coping methods and health literacy of individuals with vision impairment will be explored. Participants for the study will be volunteers who are

members of one of the three local organizations for the blind in the southeastern region of the United States.

The dependent variables are medication adherence and ability to meet scheduled appointments as measured by the Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS) and the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS). Coping skills associated with taking medication are measured by four open-ended responses on the Adherence Demographic Survey (ADS).

Sources of Data

Sources of data were collected from three organizations supporting individuals who are blind or visually impaired located in the southeastern region of the United States. Each organization is a resource for information as well as a network of services for the visually impaired. The organizations are also key in advocating for their members and helping to address issues through legislative actions.

The population for this study consisted of volunteers from the local membership in each of the organizations. The participants responded to the surveys as self-reported (independently) or by using a proxy. Participants who volunteered to complete the surveys were from one or more of the following three local organizations: Georgia Council for the Blind (GCB), Blinded Veterans Association Georgia Regional Group (BVAGRG), and the National Federation of the Blind of Georgia Chapter. An individual who is served by more than one of the organizations will be permitted to respond to each of the surveys only once. The researcher obtained permission from each of the participants who provided data for this study.

Presidents of each of the local organizations were identified; permission was requested to solicit participants for the study. The researcher emailed a letter to each of the presidents of the

local organizations requesting their support for the study. Also, the presidents were asked to identify one meeting date in which the researcher could administer the surveys after their local meeting.

Definition of Terms

Adherence is used to describe the extent to which an individuals' behavior in taking medication is in agreement with the recommendations of their health care provider (American Society on Aging [ASA], 2012; Asterberg & Blaschke, 2005; Steiner & Earnest, 2000).

Blindness refers to visual impairments ranging from legal blindness to total blindness (Carithwaite, 2002; Ponchillia & Ponchillia, 1996).

Coping skills or strategies refer to the specific efforts, associated with both behavioral and psychological efforts, that people use to master, tolerate, reduce, or minimize stressful events. There are two general coping strategies that have been recognized. They are problemsolving strategies that are efforts to do something active to alleviate stressful circumstances, and emotion-focused coping strategies that involve efforts to regulate the emotional consequences of stressful or potentially stressful events. Research has shown that people use both types of strategies to combat most stressful events (Folkman & Lazarus, 1980; Taylor, 1998).

Legal blindness is defined as a person having 20/200 or worse in the better eye (with best eyeglass or contact lens correction) or visual field restricted to 20 degree or less in diameter in the better eye (Andrew, 2008; Carithwaite, 2002; Ponchillia & Ponchillia, 1996; Koestler, 1976).

Low vision – A degree of vision loss that is functional but limiting enough to interfere with one's ability to perform everyday activities and that cannot be corrected with standard eye

glasses or contact lenses (Andrew, 2008; Carithwaite & Garner, 2002; Lamourex, Hassell, & Keeke, 2004).

Self-efficacy refers to individual belief in one's capability to organize and execute a course of action required to deal with different situations (Bandura, 1993; DeVellis & DeVellis, 2000; Schwarzer & Luszczynska, 2005). Self-efficacy also expands to include confidence in one's capability to regulate their motivation, emotional levels, thought processes, and social environments, to achieve a desirable level of behavioral attainment (Bandura, 1993; Hofstetter, Sallis, & Hovell, 1990).

Visual acuity is defined as the ability to distinguish details and shapes of objects with good contrast. This is also called central vision. Visual acuity is recorded as one's test distance size. For example, if a person has a 20/200 visual acuity, the person must be 20 feet away from an object to see the same object that a person with normal vision could see at 200 feet (Carithwaite & Garner, 2002).

Visual field is considered the area that an individual sees when their eyes are looking straight ahead. This area includes both the central and peripheral area of vision (Carithwaite & Garner, 2002). For individuals that have visual acuity of better than 20/200 in the better eye, the visual field of the eye to meet U.S. definition of legal blindness is 20 degrees or less (widest diameter) (Andrew, 2008; Carithwaite & Garner, 2002).

Visual impairment is any degree of vision loss (also includes total blindness) that impacts an individual's ability to perform daily life activities (Andrew, 2008; Carithwaite, 2002; Ponchillia & Ponchillia, 1996).

Limitations of the Study

The following limitations will apply to this study.

- For purposes of this study, individuals with vision impairments are defined as those individuals diagnosed as low-vision to blind.
- 2. The population for this study was limited to individuals in the following organizations for the blind: (1) Georgia Council for the Blind, (2) Georgia Regional Group of the Blinded Veterans Association, and (3) Georgia Chapter of the National Federation of the Blind.
- 3. The results of this study may not be representative of individuals with vision impairments who are members of other groups throughout the United States since the sample for this study was obtained from only the three organizations for the blind in the State of Georgia.

Assumptions of the Study

The following assumptions apply to this study:

- 1. Individuals who participated in this study were representative of other individuals with vision impairments who were served by one of the three organizations for the blind from which this sample was taken.
- 2. Participants in this study responded to all items on the survey honestly.
- 3. Participant characteristics may vary based on type of visual impairment (such as macular degeneration, glaucoma, cataract, retinitis pigmentosa, and so on); gender; marital status; age range; current employment status; and education level.
- 4. Participants can self-assess their efficacy to take their medications as prescribed.

5. Individuals participating in this study were able to self-report their responses using a typed large print survey form, assistive technology, or a proxy.

Need for the Study

The researcher could find no research or literature related to self-efficacy and independent medication administration among individuals with vision impairments. This lack of information indicates an obvious gap in the literature that results of this study may help to fill. Such information may be useful to health care providers, pharmacists, counselors, caregivers, and family members in assisting individuals with vision impairments to feel confident to manage their own medications and to follow a prescribed regimen (AFB, 2008a, 2014).

The majority of medical information for prescription drugs is provided in print and communicated in writing (AFB, 2014; Drummond, Drummond, & Dulton, 2004). However, little attention has been given to whether individuals with vision impairments are able to access information in written form. In addition, individuals with vision impairments may lack confidence in taking their medications. They are often unable to access written instructions associated with their health care (Drummond, Drummond, & Dulton, 2004; Gatti, Jacobson, Gaznararian, Schmotzer, & Kripalani, 2009; Shrank, Avorn, Rolon, & Shekelle, 2007).

There is a need for health care providers to address the challenges associated with their interactions with individuals with vision impairments. Not having access to information regarding their health care needs may contribute to non-adherent medication behaviors. The National Federation of the Blind (2004) noted that parents with vision impairments experience problems in providing medications to their children. For example, individuals with vision impairment have been hospitalized because they are unable to see their insulin labels (Weeraratne, Opatha & Rosa, 2012).

Significance of the Study

Results of this study may contribute to the existing body of knowledge by addressing the overall self-efficacy of individuals with vision impairments to take their medications, access medical information, and adhere to a medication regimen (Drummond, Drummond & Dutton, 2004; McMahon & Curtis, 2009). Therefore, this research should help to fill a gap in information related to self-efficacy and medication adherence for individuals who have blindness and/or with impaired vision. Specifically, there is a gap in the research and literature addressing the extent to which individuals feel confident to administer their own medications. Individual knowledge of prescribed medication regimens, along with meeting scheduled appointments, should help individuals better understand the importance of adhering to their recommended health care plan.

Lack of self-efficacy and willingness to follow a prescribed medication regimen may contribute to non-adherence to a treatment plan (Friedman, et al., 2008; Gatti, Jacobson, Gazmararian, Schmotzer & Kripalani, 2009; Weeraratne, Opatha & Rosa, 2012; Windham, et al., 2005). It is critical that healthcare professionals understand the challenges and barriers to self-efficacy in managing medication regimens to better serve these individuals with vision impairments (Windham, et al., 2005).

CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The number of Americans with major eye diseases is increasing. The increase of vision loss among the aging population is becoming a major public health problem (Davis, 2007; National Institute of Health/National Eye Institute [NIH/NEI], 2002; Wolfsan & Cocrane, 2000). Many Americans are facing the threat of vision loss from age-related eye diseases, and these numbers are expected to double over the next 40 years as the Baby Boomer generation ages (Rosenberg & Sperazza, 2008; Szlyk, Stelmack, Massof, Stelmack, Demers-Turco, Williams, & Wright, 2004; Massof, 2002; National Eye Institute [NIH/NEI], 2002; Wolfsan & Cochrane, 2000).

Vision loss often has a negative impact on one's ability to function effectively in their environment, especially in terms of healthy living and the ability to access or read information. Persons with vision loss face many unique challenges, especially when trying to read print in their daily activities. Vision loss occurs in all age groups; however, it is far more prevalent in the elderly (Chou, Dana, & Bougatsos, 2009; Guier, 2002). Being able to read and having access to medication information to maintain a healthy quality of life is essential. The American Foundation for the Blind (2008a) noted that there are approximately 20 million people with vision loss that have required some assistance in taking medication. Access to prescription information, such as medication type and instructions, is essential for everyone and presents a special challenge for individuals with vision loss. Many older adults take multiple prescription

as well as over-the-counter medications. This adds to the challenge of these individuals who are adjusting to vision loss (Stelmack, 2001; Windham, et al., 2005).

The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) implements laws and regulations that govern drug information. However, the FDA has never issued any specific regulations to guidelines to guarantee that prescription drug information is accessible for people with vision loss (AFB, 2008a). States primarily regulate the format and content on a prescription bottle or the pharmacy-provided packaging. All states have statutory requirements regarding prescription labeling; however, no state addresses the need to ensure that individuals with visual impairment have accessible prescription labeling information (AFB, 2008a).

Osterberg and Blaschke (2005) noted the failure of individuals to follow prescribed medications. Failure to follow the prescribed medication regimen has been identified as a significant cause of illness in the older population. Non-adherence means that the medication is not being taken as prescribed; therefore, the medication is unable to work correctly to help the patient (Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). This problem is particularly true for older adults who take medications multiple times throughout the day. In fact, failure to follow prescribed medication regimens can even result in death (Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005; Yamdagni, Bhaheetharan, Dunn & Famimi, 2007). Vision loss can be permanent loss not correctable by conventional methods (Freeman, et al., 2007; Guier, 2002). Visual impairment impacts an individual's ability to function in every aspect of life. In fact, some vision loss can result in blindness, which is one of Americans' most feared illnesses, ranking fourth after acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), cancer, and Alzheimer's disease (NIH/NEI, 2002; Rosenberg & Sperazza, 2008).

Individuals with visual impairments have unique health care and social needs. They require help and support to make informed decisions and improve their health care (Beverley,

Bath, & Booth, 2004; Davis, 2009). Accessible information is not always available for individuals who require alternate methods of communication, though it is worthy of exploration (Beverley, Bath, & Booth, 2004). In fact, accessible information is imperative for people to address their health concerns in the areas of prevention, detection, and treatment (Beverley, Bath, & Booth, 2004). Rosenberg and Sperazza (2008) noted that individuals with visual impairments may not provide information to their primary care providers regarding their vision loss or its impact because their focus is on immediate medical concerns or symptoms. During these visits, individuals with visual impairments are not always aware of the connection between their primary medical conditions and the issues related to their vision loss (Rosenberg & Sperazza, 2008).

Individuals with vision impairments may not feel it is appropriate to address their visual concerns with their primary care provider. However, primary care providers can encourage these individuals to engage in discussions and specific questions regarding their visual recognition and task performance (Rosenberg & Sperazza, 2008). When individuals with vision impairment have access to more information, it increases their patient satisfaction. In addition, when individuals are provided information that is accessible and understandable to them, there is an increase in compliance in taking their medication, and recall of information is increased. There is also an enhanced awareness and understanding associated with their medical condition (Beverley, Bath, & Booth, 2004).

A significant problem in today's medical field is a failure of individuals to follow prescribed medication regimens. This is particularly true for older adults who take medications multiple times throughout the day (Yamdagni, Bhaheetharan, Dunn, & Famimi, 2007). Failure to follow the medication regimen has been identified as a significant cause of illness in the older

population. Non-adherence to one's prescribed regimen means that the medication is not being taken appropriately; therefore, it is unable to work correctly (Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). Individuals with visual impairment want to be able to participate in activities that enhance and reflect their well-being. They want to be able to perform daily life skills such as self-medication, self-care, food preparation, clothing care, time management, reading, social functions, etc. These activities enhance one's independence and perceived quality of life (Choosing Life Skills, 1998; Cimarolli, Boerner, & Wang, 2006; Levasseur, Desrosiers, & St-Cyr Tribble, 2008).

There are several important reasons to study this topic. One important reason is the increase in the number of adults who are visually impaired and the challenges they face in accessing information, especially in terms of managing their medical care and taking prescribed medications. Visual impairment is an important health care issue. It can result in an inability to read information and follow a prescribed medication regimen. This behavior can have a devastating negative impact.

Also, individuals experiencing visual impairment often experience a loss of income, and a decrease in successful financial management (Safran, et al., 2005). An added concern is these individuals also experience a loss of independence, lack of participation in activities, limited functional skills, and concerns regarding self-care (Levasseur, Desrosiers, & St-Cyr Tribble, 2008; Windham, et al., 2005). All these skills are necessary for healthy living. Individuals should be able to access information, make informed decisions, and maintain functional skills for daily living. Thus, maintaining necessary skills requires access to information and self-care. The current literature reflects that vision impairment is a major contributor to impediments and future functional decline for older adults (Breman, Horowitz, & Su, 2005; Scott, Smiddy, Schiffman, Feuer, & Pappas, 1999). In addition, the loss of vision for older adults has been

shown to be a major contributor to lack of medical follow-up and depression (Burmedi, Becker, Heyl, Wahl, & Himmelsbach, 2002; Crews, & Campbell, 2001; Horowitz, 2004). Vision impairment and blindness impact health-related quality of life issues which are also associated with one's ability to function adequately in their daily living and self-care (Cimarolli, Boerner, & Wang, 2006; Margolis, et al., 2002). These challenges can represent a significant burden to the individual, their families, and caregivers (Davis, 2007; Silva-Smith, Theune, & Spaid, 2007).

Kington, Rogowski, Lillard, and Lee (1997) conducted a study using a health questionnaire of 2,429 participants to examine the relation between self-reported trouble seeing, six other symptoms, and nine general disease conditions with different measures of health status. Multivariate analyses were conducted using the symptoms and conditions in addition to the six symptom variables to determine their relative association with each of the scales. The study showed a significant adverse functional relation between self-reported "trouble seeing" and health status in the aged in the general population (general health perception for symptom of trouble seeing (r = -8.77). This indicates that closest to zero and negative coefficient reflected a worsening of health status for individuals with trouble seeing. The findings suggested that future instruments for assessing functional disabilities related to vision should also consider health-related questions and vice versa (Kington, Rogowski, Lillard, & Lee, 1997).

Aspinall, Johnson, Azuanra-Blanco, Maontarzino, Brice and Vickers (2008) noted that quality of life for individuals with some form of vision impairment (such as glaucoma) is reduced with the severity of the vision loss. The impact of quality of life for individuals with vision loss influences the significance given to the individual's ability to perform various tasks. Fletcher, Schuchard, Walker, and Raskauskas (2008) noted that individuals with visual impairment such as macular degeneration also had much difficulty maintaining their activities of

daily living as well as their ability to live independently. The American Foundation for the Blind (AFB, 2005) noted that following a prescribed medical regimen can enhance one's quality of life. According to a recent study by the Foundation, individuals with vision loss were unable to read their prescribed medications. In fact, some took improper doses of their medications and in some cases became ill and received treatment in the emergency room (AFB, 2009).

When issues relating to lack of access to medication or lack of ability to read printed information to take medication exist, it impacts the individual's health-related quality of life.

McMahon and Curtis (2009) conducted a study of 283 respondents who were visually impaired and two-thirds (77%) were older than age 75. They represented the Northeastern United States and received services from a blind rehabilitation agency. The researchers used SPSS software to conduct the standard descriptive statistical analysis. The survey tool contained two questions about the methods that respondents used to read prescription medication labels (McMahon & Curtis, 2009). The study explored how often and using what methods persons who are visually impaired accessed their medication levels or were independently able to read the labels on their prescription medications. Findings indicate that 46% of respondents had someone else to read their label or used some form of magnification such as hand-held magnifier (26%), video magnifier (12%), or reading glasses (8%). Others selected some other methods (5%), such as remembering the instructions provided by the physician, having medication arranged in a weekly pill dispenser, or having medication dispensed by someone else (McMahon & Curtis, 2009).

Latham, Waller, and Schaitel (2011) designed a study to examine the accessibility of medication labels for individuals with visual impairment. The study consisted of 20 subjects with normal vision. Visual impairment was produced using simulators designed by the University of Cambridge Engineering Design. For the accurate reading of three label types

under three visual conditions, the influence of label design on reading in words per minute correctly was highly significant (F 1.9, 36.5 = 32.8, p < 0.0001), as was the influence of vision (F 1.5, 29.1 = 266, p < 0.0001), and the interaction between label design and vision (F 2.4, 45.8 = 9.9, p < 0.0001), all repeated measures ANOVA. With moderate visual impairment, reading was slow (<25 wpm correct) with all label designs. The results reflected that both visual acuity and contrast sensitivity were reduced by the use of simulators (Latham, Waller, & Schaitel, 2011).

Kelly (2008) also conducted an Access to Drug Labels Survey to explore the difficulty individuals were having reading their prescription medication labels or over-the-counter medication information. Approximately 100 respondents voluntarily completed the online questionnaire that consisted of four open-ended questions. Respondents included people of all ages with vision loss who may also have other disabilities and family members who also have vision loss (Kelly, 2008). Data indicated that the inability to access necessary instructions supplied with prescriptions and over-the-counter medications often resulted in people with vision loss not taking a proper dose of necessary medication. All respondents (N=100) explained that they were dependent either on trusted sighted companions or complete strangers to convey necessary drug information (Kelly, 2008).

Moisan, Gaudet, Gregoire, and Bouchard (2002) conducted a study to explore the understanding of prescription labels and reading difficulties. There were 325 participants from six different ambulatory care centers who participated in the study. An instrument that included four survey questions was developed to measure non-compliance. All data were collected anonymously. Descriptive analysis was used to establish the proportion of participants experiencing problems reading and the proportion of the same individuals having difficulties

understanding the information on the prescription labels (Moisan, Gaudet, Gregoire, & Bouchard, 2002). The results reflect that 67.1% did not fully understand all the information, 90% of the subjects who had problems reading the labels did not manage to understand all information, 47.1% were non-compliant respondents, and 40% of subjects were not successful in reading all the labels, while more than two-thirds were unable to fully understand them (Moisan, Gaudet, Gregoire, & Bouchard, 2002).

Zagar and Baggarly (2010) in their study on medication-related difficulties used simulated activities. There were 20 subjects (second year [P2] and third year [P3] students). Subjects wore welder's goggles with lenses that were altered to simulate low-vision conditions such as glaucoma, cataract, macular degeneration, diabetic retinopathy, and retinitis pigmentosa. The sample included 100% of the students in the class; all participated in the survey. The results reflected that the greatest medication management difficulty was with visual impairments associated with macular degeneration; the least was visual impairments associated with glaucoma (Zagar & Baggarly, 2010).

Shrank, Avorn, Roton, and Shekelle (2007) focused on physician-patient communication about medications and the content and format of prescription drug labels. A systematic review of randomized controlled trials, observational studies, and systematic reviews were conducted from the literature. Of the 2,009 articles screened, 36 addressed the content of physician-patient communication about medications, and 69 that were related to the content or format of medication labels met review criteria. The results showed that patients requested drug information, expected benefits, duration of therapy, and a thorough list of potential adverse effects. Evidence about label format supports the use of larger fonts, lists, headers, and white space to enhance contrast, using simple language, and logical organization to improve readability

and comprehension. Evidence also suggests that specific content and format of prescription drug labels facilitate communication with and comprehension by patients (Shrank, Avorn, Roton, & Shekelle, 2007).

Drummond, Drummond, and Dutton (2004) conducted a study where the participants in the group were randomly selected. Thirty patients were recruited for each of the six levels of best corrected visual acuity (VA), recruiting 180 subjects in total, the Kruskal-Wallis test was used with Dunn's test to compare each group. A p value of < 0.05 was considered significant. Subjects were asked to read the instructions on the side of the box of drops without magnification. Results show that there was a decline in near visual acuity, with decline in distance visual acuity using both the near test and the Snellen Chart when comparing the ability to read the instructions on the medication with distance for visual acuity. There was a significant difference between the subgroup of patients with the best distance visual acuity (VA) of 6/18. Most were able to read the instructions and the subgroup with the best distance of 6/24 who were unable to read the instructions (Drummond, Drummond, & Dutton, 2004). When these groups were able to select the font size of their choice, the mode for preferred Arial font sizes was 16 for the 6/24 group, 18 for the 6/36 group and 22 for the 6/60 group. This study was able to document the inability of subjects with visual impairment to read the instructions on their bottle of eye drops. Even though there is a 6/18 threshold for most individuals to read instructions; however, for those with poorer vision (visual acuity), it was more difficult to read the instructions. This study suggests that font size is an important factor in being able to read the instructions (Drummond, Drummond, & Dutton, 2004).

Shrank, Choudhry, and Kesselheim (2007) also conducted a study exploring the prescription labeling design for four commonly used medications. The prescription labeling

results were assessed by pharmacy of origin, warnings, and other informational stickers. The label information was observed less often in independent pharmacies than in chain or grocery store pharmacies. There was a substantial variation in the font size of different items on the label. Use of color, bold face, and highlights on the label also showed variation. The most common bold face was the pharmacy name. The content of the warning and other special instructions on the label also varied considerably. In 82% of the bottles, warning stickers were not oriented in the same direction as the main container information. Prescriptions filled in larger bottles received significantly more labeling than those filled in smaller bottles. A small amount of the variance was explained by this association between bottle size and the amount of labeling (Pearson correlation coefficient = 0.36, P < .01) (Shrank, Choudhry, & Kesselheim 2007).

Shrank, et al. (2009) conducted a study to explore medication adherence. A new prescription medication labeling system was implemented by Target Pharmacies. A pre-post evaluation compared chronic medication adherence using pharmacy claims from two large commercial insurance plans. Those who used the Target Pharmacy were exposed to the new label; those who used Non-Target Pharmacies were not exposed. The sample included 23,745 Target users and 162,368 Non-Target users. Linear regression and segmented linear regression were used to evaluate the new-user (Target) and prevalent-user (Non-Target). For Target users there was a 0.0007 percent increase in the slope (the monthly rate of adherence) and implementation of the new label (95% C1 0.001, – 0.0013, p = 0.001) (Shrank, et al., 2009).

The researcher noted that the label would be more likely to enhance medication safety than adherence. Some of the new features of the label such as colored rings helped patients identify which medication to take that was important for them. The results also focused on

improving safety and had little effect on the quantity of medication purchased (Shrank, et al., 2009).

Feely, Vetere, and Myers (2007) conducted a study with seven participants with visual impairment (bilateral age-related macular degeneration [AMD]) and no other ocular disability. They were recruited through the low vision clinic. The study examined the reading rehabilitation of persons with visual impairment (age-related macular degeneration). All participants received one hour of instruction in eccentric viewing and page navigation with their magnifier using a method called "steady eye" where the text was optionally enlarged over their own preferred retinal loci. The results from the study revealed that participants were overcoming reading difficulties using eccentric viewing. It required persons to be highly motivated and the instructor to be skilled in conveying how they should find their preferred retinal loci. Participants reported feeling "only half a person," which indicated giving up tasks and hobbies (such as reading) because they proved too difficult, or led to frustration, irritation, and boredom. Two out of the four participants reported that they would never read properly again and stated that their reading was no longer enjoyable (Feely, Vetere, & Myers, 2007).

Popivker, Wang, and Boerner (2009) conducted a study using the Functional Loss Scale, a 15-item index, to assess whether or not difficulty was experienced in specific functional areas (e.g. reading, newspaper print, recognizing faces). Participants (N = 216) for this study were recruited from a pool of middle-aged adults (40–64) with visual impairment who had been first-time applicants at a vision rehabilitation agency. The results reflected that functional goals were nearly always vision-related daily tasks (reading regular print, labels, and prices), mobility and independence. Across these three important goals, the majority of participants (N=168) reported at least one vision-related goal (146 participants reported at least two vision-related goals).

Overall, the functional domain included more task-oriented vision-related goals, such as reading, walking outdoors, working and being independent. To conclude, visual disability in adulthood is a great barrier to achieving goals that individuals typically want and need to accomplish at this point in their life (Popivker, Wang, & Boerner, 2009).

Laitinen, et al. (2008) conducted a study examining the need for assistance when visually impaired. This study consisted of a health and rehabilitation interview that included questions on vision and rehabilitation services. The sample population (147 people) was visually impaired ($VA \le 0.25$ [20/80]). The need for assistance was analyzed among people with visual impairment living in the community (N = 120). Of these, 71% reported the need for assistance, and 24% of those said they did not receive enough assistance for everyday living. Of people with moderate low vision, 4% to 36% needed assistance in activities of daily living (ADL) tasks and 32% to 57% in instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) tasks. The corresponding proportions were higher in people with severe low vision, from 18% to 51% in ADL tasks and from 64% to 80% in IADL tasks (Laitinen, et al., 2008)

Scott, Smiddy, Schiffman, Feuer, and Pappas (1999) noted in their study that vision loss among the older population is expected to double by 2030 and those individuals needing assistance in activities of daily functioning is expected to increase. Scott, Smiddy, Schiffman, Feuer, and Pappas (1999) examined the quality of life among individuals with vision loss. They used the National Eye Institute Visual Functioning Questionnaire (NEI-VFQ). This instrument is sensitive to measuring individuals' decreased functional status which is secondary to their vision loss (Scott, Smiddy, Feuer, & Pappas, 1999; Stelmack, 2001). NEI-VFQ was administered to 156 clients in a low vision clinic during pre- and post-visit. The NEI-VFQ was developed to measure the impact of visual disability on health-related quality of life issues on

various subscales. The NEI-VFQ consisted of the following subscales: general health, general vision, visual pain, near activities, distance activities, vision-specific mental health, vision-specific expectations, vision-specific role difficulties, vision-specific dependency, driving, color vision, and peripheral vision (Scott, Smiddy, Schiffman, Feuer & Pappas, 1999).

In this study, paired-samples t-tests were used to review differences between questionnaire scores before and after respondents visited the low vision clinic (Scott, Smiddy, Schiffman, Feuer & Pappas, 1999). Paired-samples t-tests were also used to compare the scores of this study with published scores (means and standard errors) of other populations. The NEI-VFQ subscales reflected a statistically significant improvement after receiving low vision services. The scores reflected general vision (42.8 to 46.1, P = .001), near activities (38.0 to 46.3, P = .001), distance activities (38.3 to 41.1, P = .001), and peripheral vision (37.9 to 42.6, P = .001). The findings from the study indicated that respondents with visual impairments perceived that, as a result of the low vision services, there was some improvement in their visual functioning. In addition, they also perceived that their functional status and quality of life was improved (Scott, Smiddy, Schiffman, Feuer & Pappas, 1999).

Rosenberg and Sperazza (2008) noted that individuals with vision loss are more likely to have problems in their daily lives that include social isolation, depression, falls, and medication error, to name only a few. Rosenberg and Sperazza (2008) also noted that rehabilitation helps individuals with vision loss maintain their independence, reduces their need for social services and institutionalization; in addition, rehabilitation helps individuals to maintain jobs and remain active members in society (Rosenberg & Sperazza, 2008).

A study conducted by McKean-Cowdin, Varma, Wu, Hays, and Azen (2007) examined visual impairment and self-reported health-related quality of life in a cross-sectional population

Functioning Questionnaire (NEI-VFQ-25) was used. Data were analyzed using linear regression analyses and analysis of covariance to assess the relationship between health-related quality of life and visual field loss (McKean-Cowdin, Varma, Wu, Hays, & Azen, 2007). The study findings indicated that the largest beta coefficients and differences in the NEI-VFQ-25 vision-targeted subscales were present for driving difficulties, vision specific dependency, and vision-specific mental health. As a result, this reflects that visual field loss or impairment has a substantial impact on the individual's ability to function independently, which has a significant impact on one's quality of life, functional skills, and health status (Mckean-Cowdin, Varma, Wu, Hays, & Azen, 2007). The findings also reflected that persons with diminished vision or visual loss had greater difficulty with functional skills such as driving activities, dependency, distance vision skills, near vision skills, mental health, and skills that require peripheral vision. As a result, individuals with visual impairment may also experience some level of diminished health-related quality of life (Mckean-Cowdin, Varma, Wu, Hays & Azen, 2007).

Levasseur, Desrosiers, and St-Cyr Tribble (2008) reported findings in their study that examined quality of life, participation (level and satisfaction), and perceived quality of the environment (elements in the physical or social environment) of older adults. The results reflected that there were differences in quality of life based on level of activity. The participants included 156 older adults residing at home with fairly good cognitive skills. There were three instruments used: Quality of Life Index (quality of life estimates), Assessment of Life Skills (participation in activities), and the Measurement of the Quality of the Environment (environment measure). The Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) or Welch F ratio indicated that variables differed according to the activity level (Levasseur, Desrosiers, & St Cyr-Tribble, 2008).

The findings suggested that the greater the participation, the higher the activity level score (P < 0.001). Results revealed that older adults' quality of life and satisfaction with participation were greater with a higher involvement in their activity level (P < 0.001). This would also support the notion of taking an active participation in one's own care. Visual impairment can negatively impact one's perception of their quality of life (Evans, Law, Walt, Buchholz, & Hansen, 2009; Guier, 2002; Levasseur, Desrosiers, & St Cyr-Tribble, 2008). In addition, individuals who are visually impaired or who have vision loss produced a greater financial burden on health care agencies and society in general (Davis, 2007; Evan, Law, Walt, Buchholz, & Hansen, 2009; Guier, 2002).

Visual impairment also impacts individuals as well as society financially. Safran, et al. (2005) conducted a national survey of senior's community-dwellings, of elderly Medicare beneficiaries with prescription regimens. The sample included 36,901 non-institutionalized Medicare beneficiaries ages 65 and older, randomly sampled from each state and the District of Columbia. Researchers received a response rate of 51 percent. This was before the new Medicare prescription drug benefit in 2003. Slightly more than one-quarter (26%) of the seniors reported that they did not fill prescriptions in the past year because of cost, or that they skipped or cut back on medication to make the prescription last longer (Safran, et al., 2005). The results reflect the following: 90% of elderly adults (ages 65 and older) take prescription drugs, and they take about five prescription drugs on average. Seniors face financial challenges paying for drugs, which result in them skipping doses or not taking their medication. Cost related to non-adherence was even higher among individuals without prescription drug coverage (37%), lowincome seniors (35%), and those with complex chronic illness (35%). The study also found that inadequate access and adherence to essential prescription drugs can lead to adverse health

outcomes, increased use of the emergency room, admission to nursing homes or for hospitalization (Safran, et al., 2005).

Longelaan, Boer, Nispen, Wouters, and Mall (2009) conducted a study using the NEI-VFQ-25. The data were collected on 129 adults with vision impairment drawn initially from baseline and after completion of a rehabilitation program. Data analyzed used the means of random coefficient analyses for the change between subsequent measurements of the four dependent variables and the longitudinal relationship between vision-related quality of life and the prediction factors. Findings reflect that mental health and dependence scores showed significant improvement after rehabilitation, which enhanced functional skills and changed one's perception of their quality of life. The authors noted that age appeared to be a significant variable for all factors relative to the NEI-VFQ scale (Langelaan, Boer, Nispen, Wouters, & Mall, 2009).

Stelmack, et al. (2006) noted that when using a questionnaire such as the Visual Functioning Questionnaire (VFQ) to obtain information, timing regarding the collection of data is significant for individuals with vision impairment. Perceptions before and after receiving training on low vision devices can impact results. When surveying the services, provided (or provider) timing is very significant when attempting to address quality of life issues.

The Adherence to Refills and Medications Scale (ARMS) is designed to evaluate medication adherence for populations with chronic conditions. The ARMS is among the earliest instruments to measure adherence that demonstrates stability across levels of patient literacy. Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, and Jacobson (2009) noted that over 90 million people are affected with limited literacy in the United States. Understanding drug regimens as well as the side effects is a process that is associated with one's literacy. Individuals with limited literacy have a greater

challenge in being able to identify their own medications as well as distinguish medications from each other. They misinterpret prescription drug labels, auxiliary warning labels and have poor adherence to medications associated with refilling one's medication. Having limited literacy appears to be a common problem (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009).

Kalichman, Ramachandran, and Catz (1999) noted that limited literacy had a negative impact on adherence to medications. However, Gazmararian, et al. (2006) noted that inadequate literacy was significantly associated with poor medication refill adherence in unadjusted analyses. In the fully adjusted models the results showed that there was a strong trend but without a statistically significant effect (Gazmararian, et al., 2006).

The Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS) is designed to include two distinct subscales supported by the overall factor analysis. The 8-item medication taking subscale assesses a patient's ability to self-administer the prescribed regimen correctly. The four-item prescription refill subscale assesses a patient's ability to refill medications. The combined 12-item scale is a 4-point Likert-type scale with a composite score range of 12 to 48 points (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009). Cronbach's alpha for the full scale is high (α =0.82). The ARMS demonstrated high internal consistency and high correlation with older standardized measures. Patients with low ARMS scores indicate better adherence to medication. ARMS has a valid and reliable self-reported medication measure on adherence which performs well across literacy levels (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009). The Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS) is a valid self-reported scale. It is a 13-question instrument to assess barriers and self-efficacy (Lousa, Holzworth, & Ansani, 2011). The SEAMS measures confidence in one's ability to self-administer medication properly. This instrument has a high internal consistency and strong criterion-related validity (Risser, Jacobson,

& Kripalani, 2007). The instrument is scored on a 3-point Likert-type scale with a possible range of 3 to 39 points. Higher scores on the SEAMS indicate better self-efficacy. Analysis of pretest scores revealed high reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = .91$) (Risser, Jacobson, & Kripalani, 2007).

Terminology

When reporting demographic information concerning the population with vision loss, there are varying definitions and different measuring criteria used by surveyors to collect data to categorize people with vision loss (Kelly, 2009). Therefore, the terminology used and the information acquired may vary depending on the methods used (Kelly, 2009). It has been noted that there are several terms used to describe people with vision loss such as total blindness, legal blindness, low vision, visual impairment, functional limitation to seeing and severe limitation in seeing (Kelly, 2009).

Associated with the terms are various levels or degrees of vision loss. When defining terms or collecting data, there is no one source that defines and provides data that represents everyone experiencing vision loss in the United States (Kelly, 2009). In essence, there are several definitions associated with vision loss and it is imperative that researchers and participants recognize the many definitions when collecting data (Kelly, 2009).

Visual Impairment

Regardless of whether the individual is noted as being visually impaired, having low vision, or being legally blind, there is an associated functional limitation that reflects a significant interruption in an individual's ability to function independently. Individuals with vision impairment are defined as having 20/40 or worse vision in the better eye, even when they are wearing eyeglasses (American Foundation for the Blind, 2002; Friedman, Congdon,

Kempen, & Tieisch, 2002; Friedman, et al., 2008; NIH/NEI, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002). Vision impairment or low vision means that even with various interventions and/or treatments such as eye glasses, contact lenses, medicine or surgery, the individual is unable to see well (Choosing Life Skills, 1998; Friedman, Congdon, Kempen, & Tieisch, 2002; NIH/NEI, 2002). As a result of the vision loss, one must change how they adapt to situations and reorganize their life and learn new ways of doing things (Choosing Life Skills, 1998; Venkatesh, 2012).

The term visual impairment includes various ranges of vision loss. Visual impairment can be used to describe nearly any type of vision loss. An individual with vision loss can range from someone who is able to see partially, to someone who cannot see at all (Friedman, Congdon, Kempen, & Tieisch, 2002; Lehman & Ben-Joseph, 2007). The International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision (ICD-9-CM) Classifications describes various levels and ranges of visual impairments (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002). Visual impairment is associated with the functioning of the eye and tests are used to measure various levels of acuity, visual fields, contrast sensitivity and color vision (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002). The World Health Organization (WHO) International Classification of Impairment, Disabilities, and Handicaps is a system that is used to classify various diseases, impairments, disabilities, and handicaps (World Health Organization, International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health [WHO/ICF], 2001). It indicates that a visual impairment is a result of a loss or an abnormality that exists in one's physiological or psychological functioning (WHO [ICF], 2001). As a result, it may include a functional limitation for an individual in various aspects of their existence and/or ability to function in settings such as work, school, home, and leisure (Hays, Kraft, & Stolov, 1994; Massof & Lidoff, 2001; Riviere, 1996). Intervention may address various types of

impairments, utilize several approaches, and identify appropriate accommodations that will enhance the individual's performance (Hays, Kraft, & Stolov, 1994; Riviere, 1996).

Here, the eye(s) or visual system has a functional limitation due to a disease or disorder that results in a visual impairment (WHO/ICF, 2001). Visual impairment is classified based on different visual levels associated with one's visual acuity and/ or visual field limitation (WHO/ICF, 2001). However, the National Eye Institute also has established its definition for visual impairment. The National Eye Institute has described visual impairment as a condition of the eye that is not corrected by standard eyeglasses, contact lenses, medication or surgery. In addition, this condition of the eye interferes with the individual's ability to perform activities of daily living (NIH/NEI, 2006). The ICD-9-CM classification of visual impairment is used to associate a diagnosis with a code for visual impairment. This classification system specifies all levels of vision loss that take place with each eye (Freeman, Goodrich & Stelmack, 2007).

Prevalence of Visual Impairment and Blindness in the Population

Worldwide, there are about 314 million people who are visually impaired. Of that number, 45 million are considered blind. Millions of Americans lose some of their vision for different reasons and circumstances each year (NIH/NEI, 2007; WHO, 2009). In addition, as Americans age, a higher prevalence of sensory impairments is identified as reflected by the National Health Interview survey data (Davila, et al., 2009). However, at all ages women are at greater risk for vision impairment in every part of the world (WHO, 2009). The causes of vision impairment and blindness may also vary by race and ethnicity (Congdon, et al., 2004; NIH/NEI, 2002).

The number of Americans over the age of 65 will more than double over the next 25 years, from 35 million in 2000 to 72 million in 2030 (Coogan, 2004; Freeman, et al., 2007; U.S.

Department of Commerce, 2005). Eight percent of the population consists of people 80 years of age and older. This population also accounts for 69 percent of those individuals experiencing blindness in the United States (Coogan, 2004).

Many of the disorders that cause vision impairment are found in the aging population (Greig, West & Overbury, 1986; Massoff, 2002; NIH/NEI, 2002; U.S. Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, 2005). Estimates of the number of people that experience vision loss differ based on various factors such as definition of visual impairment, the population surveyed, whether self-reported or verified by screening or examination, dates in which those data were collected, and other elements associated with data collection (Freeman, et al., 2007).

Prevent Blindness America and the National Eye Institute reported that millions of Americans live with some type of age-related vision loss (Review of Ophthalmology, 2008). The NEI study on "Vision Problems in the U.S.," reported that there are between 1.5 and 3.4 million American adults 40 years and older in the U.S. with visual impairment. This is an underestimation of the actual prevalence of visual impairment because it is based on visual acuity alone (Freeman, et al., 2007; Massof, 2002; Review of Ophthalmology, 2008; The Eye Disease Prevalence and Incidence Research Group, 2004).

In the United States, there are millions of Americans who have partial or complete loss of vision (Torphy, Cassio & Glass, 2003). There are several types of eye problems and visual disturbance that result in changes in the eye (Ray, Horvat, Williams & Blasch, 2007; Zieve, Juhn, & Eltz, 2008). Vision problems in the U.S. indicated that the leading cause of vision impairment and blindness for Americans age 40 and older were age-related macular degeneration, glaucoma, cataract and diabetic retinopathy (Coogan, 2004; Garrett, 2002;

Tolman, Hill, Kleinschmidt, & Gregg, 2005; Torpy, Lynn & Glass, 2003; Zieve, Juhn, & Eltz; 2008).

Blindness affects nearly 1 million individuals over age 40; blindness or low vision affects 1 in 28 Americans older than 40 years of age. The causes of vision impairment and blindness vary by race and ethnicity (Congdon, et al., 2004; NIH/NEI, 2002). The National Institutes of Health, National Eye Institute (2002) report the following exist as the major causes of vision loss:

- Age-related macular degeneration (ARMD) has been identified as the most common cause of vision impairment in Americans age 50 and older with over 1.6 million Americans experiencing ARMD (NIH/NEI, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002; Smith, Thomas, & Dow, 2009; The Eye Disease Prevalence and Research Group, 2004). During the early years, prevalence rates are comparable among races; however, after age 75 they advance more significantly for Whites. The disease is more prevalent in Black women until the age of 75 (NIH\NEI, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002).
- of Glaucoma is a chronic disease that requires life-long treatment. There are nearly 2.2 million Americans diagnosed with glaucoma age 40 and older, or about 1.9% of the population. Another 2 million are not aware that they have this condition (Coogan, 2004; Garrett, 2002; NIH/NEI, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002). The prevalence of glaucoma is related to age and race. Glaucoma appears more commonly in Hispanics and Blacks, and it increases with age. For those aged 65–74, the prevalence for White females is 1.6% and the rate is three times higher for Black females. Glaucoma undeniably affects those aged 80 and older with more than 10%

in Hispanic women and Black men. In fact, glaucoma appears more common initially in women; however, by age 65, prevalence is more comparable between the sexes (NIH/NEI, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002; The Eye Disease Prevalence Group, 2004).

- Cataract is the leading cause of blindness in the world. There are 20.5 million

 Americans aged 40 and older with cataracts. More than half of all Americans have

 cataracts by age 80, or about one in every six individuals in this age group. Cataract

 is slightly more common in women than in men. With the increase in age, cataracts

 appear to affect Whites more frequently than any other race (Coogan, 2004; Garrett,

 2002; NIH/NEI, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002; The Eye Disease

 Prevalence and Research Group, 2004).
- Diabetic retinopathy leads in causing blindness in the industrialized world. Diabetic retinopathy increases in individuals who are between the ages of 25 and 74. For Americans that are 18 and over, diabetic retinopathy affects more than 5.3 million in the population or just 2.5% of the population (Coogan, 2004; Garrett, 2002; NIH/NEI, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002; The Eye Disease Prevalence and Research Group, 2004). Prior to age 40, diabetic retinopathy affects Whites more frequently than other races. Hispanics are also significantly affected by the disease (NIH/NEI, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002).

The prevalence of vision loss and blindness will increase significantly by 2030, mainly due to the population aging (Freeman, et al., 2007; NIH/NEI, 2004). Dr. E. Zerhowni, M.D., Director of the National Institutes of Health, stated that "As our population lives longer, the

increase in eye diseases and treatment will be an even greater challenge and a concern for vision research, that will prevent, delay and possibly cure eye diseases" (NIH/NEI, 2004).

The Major Causes of Visual Impairment in the U.S. Population Age-Related Macular Degeneration

Age-related macular degeneration (ARMD) is a loss of central vision, blurred vision, distorted vision, and eye colors will appear faded. For individuals over age 60 this is the most common cause of visual impairment which ranks third globally, and is irreversible (Tolman, Hill, Kleinschmidt, & Gregg, 2005; Zieve, Juhn, & Eltz, 2008). Individuals with ARMD have greater challenges completing daily tasks than people with other types of visual impairment (Wong, Guymer, Hassell, & Keeffe, 2004).

ARMD rises dramatically in Whites over the age of 80. ARMD is the leading cause of visual impairment in the Caucasian population. It reflects 54 percent of all visual impairment; in essence, more than one in ten White Americans over age 80 have vision loss due to ARMD (Coogan, 2004). Exudative ARMD is associated with severe loss of vision, and there are approximately 200,000 new cases annually in the United States (Kaufman, 2009). Kaufman (2009) noted that vision loss can significantly reduce one's quality of life. As a result, public health issues on this topic are increasingly important as this population continues to rise. Also, there is a substantial impact on the individual's quality of life and it is associated with increased levels of disability (Wong, Guymer, Hassell, & Keeffe, 2004).

ARMD is a gradual and progressive condition, that causes deterioration in the macular, a very sensitive area of the retina (Ben-Joseph & Lehman, 2007; Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Feely, Vetere & Myers, 2007; Tolman, Hill, Kleinschmidt & Gregg, 2005; Zieve, Juhn, & Eltz, 2008). Functional visual skills are affected by ARMD. Macular degeneration negatively

impacts the individual's ability to read fine print or small lettering. It also impacts the individual's ability to see objects. It may cause one to see wavy lines, and it also impacts one's ability to distinguish colors. Colors often appear faded (Ben-Joseph & Lehman, 2007; Casten & Rovner, 2008; Tolman, Hill, Kleinschmidt, & Gregg, 2005; Wong, Guymer, Hassell, & Keeffe, 2004).

There are many functional visual concerns associated with individuals diagnosed with macular degeneration. They include a decreased ability to recognize faces of family members, close associates, or friends. There are problems associated with check writing, managing finances, and paying bills (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Casten & Rovner, 2008; Mitchell & Bradley, 2006; Tolman, Hill, Kleinschmidt, & Gregg, 2005).

Everyday functional skills are also a concern, such as safety issues associated with cooking because of an inability to see the knobs on the stove, as well as determining when food is done. The individual also has challenges participating in hobbies and activities that they enjoyed before the vision loss. There is also increased difficulty in watching television (Ben-Joseph & Lehman, 2007; Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Fletcher, Schuchard, Walker, & Raskauskas, 2008; Mitchell & Bradley, 2006; Wong, Guymer, Hassell, & Keeffe, 2004; Zieve, Juhn, & Eltz, 2008).

Routine activities of daily living are typically affected by one's loss of central vision. Individuals with ARMD who experience significant vision loss may be unable to move around in their familiar environments and avoid large objects (Tolman, Hill, Kleinschmidt, & Gregg, 2005). However, one element that has benefitted individuals with macular degeneration is to take each task, break it down into smaller processes, and allow more time to complete the task (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Feely, Vetere, & Myers, 2007).

Vision loss from ARMD significantly lowers one's quality of life. ARMD may have a greater impact than other chronic diseases such as pulmonary diseases (Casten & Rovner, 2008; Mitchell & Bradley, 2006). For individuals with macular degeneration, severe deficits in one's visual functioning can be exacerbated by the aging process. Quality of vision, decreased judgment in depth perception, accommodation, and problems in adapting to changes in various light conditions may be experienced (Tolman, Hill, Kleinschmidt, & Gregg, 2005).

Cataracts

A cataract is a clouding of the naturally-clear lens of the eye. When an individual has cataracts, he or she may experience progressively blurred vision. Often the individual's near vision is better than his or her distance vision (Clinton, 1993; Kalina, 1997; Meadows, 2002). Individuals may experience reduced night vision, problems with glare, impaired depth perception, color distortion, and frequent prescription changes for eyeglasses (Clinton, 1993; Kalina, 1997; Meadows, 2002).

Cataracts are neither a growth nor a type of foreign substance. Cataracts are a loss of transparency due to protein aggregation. Cataracts are areas in the eyes that distort light when passing through the lens of the eye (opacities) (Clinton, 1993; Kalina, 1997). Cataracts may form very slowly and there is no pain associated with them. Age-related cataracts are the most common type and usually occur in both eyes (Kalina, 1997; Meadows, 2002).

Factors such as diabetes mellitus, drugs, trauma, and other ocular disorders can influence the onset of cataracts. Currently, there are no documented dietary or medical measures that will prevent or delay cataract formation (Jose, 1983; Kalina, 1997; Meadows, 2002; NIH/NEI, 2002; Prevent Blindness America, 2002). There are some significant factors that might contribute to cataracts such as advanced aging, diabetes, smoking and high exposure to sunlight (Prevent

Blindness America, 2002). Cataracts appear to have no attributable cause other than aging (Kalina, 1997).

Cataracts are considered the leading cause of blindness in the world (Clinton, 1993).

They are the leading cause of vision impairment among all Americans, causing 50 percent of all cases. Among African Americans, cataracts are one of the leading causes of blindness (Coogan, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002). Individuals with cataracts may experience a loss or diminished ability to perform many of their common daily living tasks. The functional limitations experienced in their daily activities are associated with the visual impairments that exist (Kalina, 1997; Stelmack, 2001). In many cases, surgical treatment can eliminate vision loss due to the disease.

Functional impediments that may be linked to diminished vision or even the loss of vision include one's ability to perform such routine activities as preparing meals, doing housework, bathing, eating, dressing, using the toilet, doing laundry, walking, shopping, taking medication, getting around outside, managing money, using the telephone, driving and using other transportation. In addition, other functional limitations may include a lack of participation in hobbies or leisure activities such as reading or watching television. Cataracts also can impact the individual's ability to work based on the associated functional limitations (Clinton, 1993; Kalina, 1997). In addition, individuals diagnosed with cataracts may experience a loss of independence, self-esteem, and deterioration of social and emotional well-being (Clinton, 1993; McGwin, Li, McNeal, & Owsley, 2003).

Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetic retinopathy is a common complication of diabetes and can affect anyone with diabetes. Diabetes has become a serious health problem nationwide (NIH/NEI, 2004; Ponchilla,

2006; Prevent Blindness America, 2002; Saaddine, et al., 1999). More U.S. adults with diabetes fear vision loss or blindness than they fear dying prematurely (Brown, 1999). Not only elderly persons but also many children are being challenged by the threat of diabetes in their lives.

Nearly seven in ten (69 percent) U.S. adults with diabetes were aware that vision loss or blindness is a potential complication associated with diabetes (NIH/NEI, 2004; Prevent Blindness America, 2002).

The leading causes of visual impairment and blindness are diabetic retinopathy and agerelated eye diseases. An estimated 3.4 million U.S. adults aged 40 and older have some form of visual impairment and blindness. Diabetes affects approximately 18 million U.S. adults, and an estimated 30% have undiagnosed diabetes, which poses an increased risk for eye disease (Brown, 1999; Ponchilla, 2006).

Diabetes is the leading cause of blindness in working adults in the U.S. Many U.S. adults with diabetes report that they have not experienced vision loss or blindness. However, this group reports that they are worried about losing the ability to conduct certain daily life activities, such as driving (65 percent), reading (61 percent) and continuing hobbies or interests (43 percent) (Brown, 2006; Stochura, 1993). As a result, individuals with vision loss or blindness also reports that they experience feelings of frustration (44 percent), depression (34 percent), and loss of independence (34 percent) because of their vision loss (Brown, 1999; Stochura, 1993).

By the time many symptoms of diabetes are noticed, blood glucose levels can be dangerously high (Knobbe & Haddrill, 2008; Sugunendran, 2011). Excess glucose in small blood vessels can lead to damage to the corneas, blood vessels, nerves, body extremities such as hands and feet, and loss of vision. High glucose levels can harm the light-sensitive layer at the back of the eye known as the retina (Knobbe & Haddrill, 2008). The tiny blood vessels at the

back of the eye can become progressively damaged and unable to transport blood properly. This damage can lead to lasting difficulties and blindness if it is not treated. This condition is known as diabetic retinopathy. However, a significant number of individuals initially diagnosed with diabetes already have some degree of retinopathy. There are typically no symptoms for diabetic retinopathy until the damage has progressed to a point where major complications are obvious (Brown, 2006; Knobbe & Haddrill, 2008; Sugunendran, 2011).

Annual dilated eye exams allow physicians to catch early signs of eye damage and helps prevent further damage (Brown, 1999; Stochura, 1993). It is vital that people with diabetic retinopathy be armed with the knowledge they need to stop the progression of the disease. For patients diagnosed with diabetes, good communication enhances prevention with the support of a healthcare team. It is important to control the disease to prevent severe damage to the individual (Brown, 1999). The longer the individual has diabetes the greater the risk of developing diabetic retinopathy (Castor & Carter, 1995; Knobbe & Haddrill, 2008). Individuals who develop diabetes later in life are also at risk of developing advanced diabetic retinopathy. Individuals with diabetes for 15 years or more years are likely to have some diabetic retinopathy (Castor & Carter, 1995; Prevent Blindness America, 2002).

Individuals with diabetic retinopathy experience numerous functional impairments because of their vision loss. They experience a loss of visual acuity as well as visual field loss (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Prevent Blindness America, 2002). Functional impediments include, but are not limited to, vision loss and a decreasing ability to travel independently and perform routine and familiar tasks. There is also a decreased ability to ambulate safely and effectively, even in familiar environments. Distinguishing large and small objects may become a challenge (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002).

Diabetic retinopathy often affects the sharpness of one's vision, making it difficult to recognize facial features. Reading is challenging and difficult even with magnification. Devices for low vision such as magnifiers are more difficult to use because accommodation must be made for the acuity loss, while the visual field is also reduced. This process reduces the speed and comprehension of reading, so that the individual is only able to read a couple of letters at a time (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Castor & Carter, 1995). Another concern for individuals with diabetic retinopathy is their lack of adaptation for light to dark environments or vice versa, thus putting them at a greater risk for falls (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Castor & Carter, 1995).

Taking medication can be very difficult for individuals with vision loss. They are unable to measure their insulin, or read their medications or blood sugar levels. This impairment can make it virtually impossible to self-medicate. In addition, individuals with vision loss may experience difficulty examining their feet for various diabetic complications. Alternative methods must be explored to aid individuals with diabetic retinopathy in meeting their health care needs (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Sugunandran, 2011).

Glaucoma

Glaucoma also causes irreversible blindness and is among the leading causes of vision impairment. Glaucoma causes a gradual damage to the optic nerve that carries visual information from the eye to the brain (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Jampel, 2001; Walt, Chiang, Stern & Doyle, 2007; Zieve, Juhn, Eltz & Griggs, 2008). Several factors influence the risk of glaucoma, including age, race, diabetes, eye trauma, and long-term use of steroid medications. Glaucoma can also occur very suddenly. When this happens, it is a medical emergency. Glaucoma is almost three times as common among African Americans as it is in White Americans. Glaucoma increases rapidly in the Hispanic population for those over the age of 65

(Coogan, 2004). Individuals are not aware of the vision loss until a significant amount is lost; at that point, they are usually experiencing significant optic nerve damage (that carries visual information from the eye to the brain). Many individuals are unaware that they even have the disease because it results in a gradual damage to the optic nerves (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; NIH/NEI, 2004). In most cases, glaucoma treatment can control and/or slow the progression of the disease or halt the disease (Jampel, 2001; Nordmann, Auzanneau, Ricard, & Berdeaux, 2003; Prevent Blindness America, 2002).

Early detection and treatment of glaucoma is necessary because even early stages of the disease can affect one's quality of life (Bournias, 2008; Mills, Janz, Wren, & Guire, 2001). However, in the past most ophthalmologists believed that if the individual did not have the disease at an advanced level or only experienced partial blindness, their living skills or quality of life would not be affected significantly. However, current research reflects that quality of life is affected significantly by early stages of glaucoma. This also indicates that in the early stages of glaucoma, patients need more assistance from care providers than previously recognized (Bournias, 2008; Jampel, 2001; Mills, Janz, Wren, & Guire, 2001; Nordmann, Auzanneau, & Ricard, & Berdeaux, 2003). The focus by ophthalmologists was primarily on keeping patients' intraocular pressure at an appropriate level. However, research has indicated that it is important to assess the patient's subjective experiences to identify and explore changes in their quality of life (Bournias, 2008; Walt, Chiang, Stern & Doyle, 2007).

Individuals with glaucoma deal with many challenges such as safety issues in traveling and/or mobility. There is a decrease in one's ability to ambulate without tripping over objects, traveling safely up and down stairs, and being able to travel effectively in the community.

Individuals with glaucoma experience many problems with daytime driving, night driving, near

vision, distance vision activities, and glare concerns (Bournias, 2008; Di Stefano, Huebner, Garber, & Smith, 2009).

Glaucoma impediments may include having problems in adapting to changes in light and dark environments, reduced acuity, and spatial vision. In addition, the individual with glaucoma has problems with visual processing of information, depth perception, color discrimination, peripheral vision and outdoor mobility (Bournias, 2008; Horvat, et al., 2003; Walt, Chaing, Stern, & Doyle, 2007).

Individuals with glaucoma have conditions that significantly impact their functional skills and their ability to perform daily activities (Walt, Chiang, Stern & Doyle, 2007). They have difficulty watching television and recognizing faces because of the vision loss. They have a major problem reading because of difficulties following lines in text when the field of view is very small (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002). When the individual has severe visual field loss, many activities are affected because the field of view is only extended to arm's length. Safety in activities such as cooking is limited (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Walt, Chiang, Stern & Doyle, 2007).

Theoretical Framework

Social Cognitive Theory will be used in this study as the theoretical framework for understanding individuals with vision impairment confidence in taking medications and their independence in following their medication regimen. Self-efficacy is a key construct and derived from the social cognitive theory. Individuals with higher self-efficacy or self-confidence feel that they are able to perform a certain behavior, such as taking their medications. They are more likely to perform that behavior (Bandura, 2007; Baranowski, Perry, & Parcel, 2002).

Bandura (2007) noted that perceived self-efficacy is an integral feature of the procedure used to

access an individual's efficacy beliefs. Perceived self-efficacy refers to the individual's belief regarding their capabilities to produce an identified behavior that gives one influence over events that impact their lives (Bandura, 2007; Turner, Rimal, Morrison, & Kim, 2006).

Chlebaury, Myers, and Mendes (2010) noted that self-efficacy has shown to positively affect the initiation and performance of appropriate medical self-care behaviors. It has increasingly gained acceptance, both as an explanatory model of health behavior and a guide for health-related promotions and interventions (Bandura, 1993, 1977a). In fact, self-efficacy has been shown to be a causal mechanism in a wide range of health-related behaviors, such as taking medications, exercise, weight control, smoking cessation, etc. (Luszczynska & Schwarzer, 2005; Yalow & Collins, 1989).

Many prominent health theories include self-efficacy as a part of their developing concept (Bandura, 1993; Luszczynska & Schwarzer, 2005). Bandura, in his Social Cognitive Theory, explained that a personal sense of control often facilitates a change of health behavior. Self-efficacy beliefs are cognitions. The cognitions determine whether the change in the health-related behavior will take place. Cognitions determine how much effort will be expanded, and how long the behavior will be sustained when faced with obstacles as well as failures (Bandura, 1993; Luszczynska & Schwarzer, 2005).

Self-efficacy has assumed a very important role in health promotion, practice, and research (Maddux & Rogers, 1993). Health promotion interventions often enhance self-efficacy, which also fosters positive health behaviors (Maibach, Flora, & Nass, 1991). Bandura described self-efficacy as a cognitive process involving judgment of one's ability to perform specific behaviors required to produce identified outcomes (Chlebowy & Garvin, 2006; Maddux & Rogers, 1983; Maibach & Murphy, 1995). Bandura also noted that self-efficacy is the link

between one's self-perceptions and individual actions (Bandura, 1993, 1977b; Lentz & Shortridge-Baggett, 2002; Pajares, 2002). Self-efficacy theory has served as a framework to help researchers understand chronic-disease-related behaviors and facilitate behavioral change in individuals (Lentz & Shortridge-Baggett, 2002; Pajares, 2002). This study will also incorporate this framework in understanding behaviors that facilitate individuals with vision impairments medication adherence as well as their confidence in taking their prescribed medications.

Population Affected by Non-Adherence to Medication Regimens

As the population ages, the use of prescription medications will increase. The literature notes that the aging population has a tendency to use more prescription medications, taking at least five prescription medications (American Foundation for the Blind, 2007; McMahon & Curtis, 2009; Wilson et al., 2007). This population also has difficulties reading their medication labels to appropriately administer their medications, a significant barrier for individuals with vision impairment (McMahon & Curtis, 2009). Vision loss affects individuals from those with very poor vision, to those with some sight but who are unable to identify shapes, to those individuals with only light perception (McMahon & Curtis, 2009; NIH/NEI, 2006, 2007; Strobel, 2003).

The Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the Americans with Disabilities Act mandates that printed information must be accessible for individuals who cannot access information in the manner commonly used by sighted persons (U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Disability Rights Section, 2005). In addition, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act also requires health information to be protected and made available in print and other media forms that are accessible for individuals (Janinszewski, Heath-Watson, Semidey, Rosenthal, & Do, 2006; Little, 2006).

The American Foundation for the Blind (AFB) conducted a national survey on attitudes and opinions associated with blindness or severe vision loss. The results indicated that Americans felt strongly that losing one's sight would have a significant negative impact on their quality of life. In terms of one's health condition, losing one's sight was viewed by surveyors as being the most negatively impacted (American Foundation for the Blind [AFB], 2009). In addition, respondents indicated that if they were to become blind or have severe vision loss, their biggest concern would be losing their independence and their ability to live alone (AFB, 2009; Horvat et al., 2003). Other significant responses that were of concern to the participants included not being able to read, not properly identifying their medication, safely moving about in the environment, and driving.

The size of the elderly population is rapidly changing in the United States (American Geriatrics Society [AGS] Foundation, 2005; Orr, Rogers, & Scott, 2006). Major demographic shifts in the country have prompted numerous concerns regarding social and health policies (AGS Foundation, 2005; Orr, Rogers, & Scott, 2006). With the increasing number of individuals who are elderly and visually impaired, there is an increased risk of being ill or hospitalized. It is necessary to know the accessibility issues that exist for this group of individuals (Lombardi & Kennicutt, 2001; McMahon & Curtis, 2009). Vision impairment is a problem that should be addressed in an individual's medical care (Guier, 2002; NIH/NEI, 2007; Orr, Rogers, & Scott, 2006). Eye disease may occur as a natural process; it can be a genetic condition in the family such as diabetes and high blood pressure, which can increase the likelihood that eye problems will occur (Meadows, 2002; Saaddine, et al., 1999). Losing one's vision is not a normal result of aging, though some changes may occur (NIH/NEI, 2007).

With vision loss, people have many challenges to address in reading print such as medication labels and other materials in their daily activities (Guier, 2002; McFeely, 2009; Orr, Rogers, & Scott, 2006). Vision loss can be found in all age groups; however, in the elderly it appears far more prevalent (Guier, 2002; McFeely, 2009). Having access to medication information to maintain a healthy quality of life is essential. The American Foundation for the Blind (2008a) also noted that there are approximately 20 million people with vision loss who have required some assistance in taking medication (McFeely, 2009).

Coons, Sumati, Keiningor, and Hays (2000) suggested that health-related quality of life is an essential element in the lives of individuals seeking healthcare with vision impairment.

Losing one's sight is a very frightening event. Vision is a dominant sense that is used to enhance the use of other senses. For older individuals, losing their vision may not be the only challenge that they are experiencing (Tuttle & Tuttle, 2004; Wahl, Schilling, Oswald, & Heyl, 1999). As the general population ages, they are likely to develop other health problems (Crews, Kirchner, & Lollar, 2006). They have medications that are prescribed and they are expected to take their medication as directed. It can be complicated if several different medications are prescribed and they are taken at different times of the day (Crews, Kirchner, & Lollar & 2006; Windham, et al., 2005).

In the elderly population, a significant number of individuals take more than two different medications daily. In fact, access to prescription information, such as instructions for usage and medication labeling, is essential and often challenging for many persons with vision loss (Coons, et al., 2000; Windham et al., 2005). There is an increase in prescribed as well as over-the-counter medications. This is an added challenge to older adults who are adjusting to vision loss

or those who have a significant amount of vision loss. These challenges also exist in the general population (Coons, et al., 2000; Windham et al., 2005).

Vision is associated with one's ability to function adequately in their daily routine (Margolis et al., 2002). However, for older adults with vision loss, healthcare and medication adherence is a significant problem. The amount of medications purchased by older adults has increased. Medication non-adherence in this population is relatively low, as noted by Windham, et al. (2005). Non-adherence to prescribed medications results in poorer control of chronic health conditions (Gellad, Hass, & Safran, 2007). Physicians have patients with vision loss that cannot be corrected with eyeglasses, contact lens, medication, or surgery. When this occurs, the clinician is unable to help the client (Guier, 2002; Janiszewski, Heath-Watson, Semidey, Rosenthal, & Do, 2006). This response can be devastating for the client. It impacts the individual's ability to function independently and safely in one's environment. It affects the individual's ability to perform daily activities and health care. It also compromises the individual's total existence and leaves the individual feeling helpless and hopeless (Crews, Kirchner, & Lollar, 2006; Guier, 2002; Janiszewski, Heath-Watson, Semidey, Rosenthal, & Do, 2006; Rosenberg & Sperazza, 2008).

When individuals are unable to access health care information, they are vulnerable to many inequities in health care provision and social networks. Information is often not accessible. Individuals with visual impairment have difficulty reading normal-sized print.

Normal print in most cases does not meet the needs of individuals with vision loss (Beverley, Bath & Booth, 2004; Drummond, Drummond, & Dutton, 2004; Rosenberg & Sperazza, 2008).

Health-related issues are of great concern for individuals with significant vision loss.

Information associated with their health care, appointments, medication, when medications are

taken, and side effects are all provided in standard print. Individuals with visual impairment cannot access this information because they are unable to read the print (Drummond, Drummond, & Dutton, 2004; Mitchell & Bradley, 2006; Tolman, Hill, Kleinschmidt, & Gregg, 2005). Individuals with vision loss may also experience major health-related problems because of their inability to self-medicate and their inability to read the information associated with their health care regime (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Drummond, Drummond, & Dutton, 2004; Zieve, Juhn & Eltz, 2008). Individuals with visual impairments are more likely to have a decline in functional activities and co-morbidity which exacerbates one's already functional limitations (Janiszewski, Heath-Watson, Semidey, Rosenthal, & Do, 2006; Mitchell & Bradley, 2006; Tolman, Hill, Kleinschmidt, & Gregg, 2005).

The quality of life has many elements that influence an individual's ability to live safely and comfortably in their environment. Access to necessary health-related information such as medication, types of prescriptions, doses, side effects, appointments, and so on impact quality of life (Orr, Rogers, & Scott, 2006). It is important that individuals with visual impairments have the necessary information to make informed decisions regarding their health care, as does any other sighted person (Windham, et al., 2005). When individuals with visual impairments are experiencing multiple health conditions, their functional capacity may decrease (Crews, Jones, & Kim, 2006; Crews, Kirchner, & Lollar, 2006). These conditions are serious enough to affect major aspects of their daily functioning and influence health-related conditions (Crews, Jones, & Kim, 2006).

The Need for Functional Life Skills

Life skills consist of education that facilitates the practice and reinforcement of psychosocial skills in a culturally and developmentally appropriate way. It contributes to the

promotion of personal and social goals, occupational, health maintenance, the ability to address social problems, and the protection of human rights (Cimarolli, Boerner, & Wang, 2006; Goodship, 2012; Rubin, Chan, & Thomas, 2003; World Health Organization [WHO], 1999). In facilitating the achievement of one's goals, issues that occur in performing life skills must be appropriately diagnosed, reduced and/or removed or accommodated to obtain positive outcomes (Rubin, Chan, & Thomas, 2003).

Life skills are also an important factor in one's quality of life. Life skills are related to those behaviors used in day-to-day functioning and continued in one's lifestyle and maintenance (Cimarolli, Boerner, & Wang, 2006; Murphy & Williams, 1999; Venkatesh, 2012). Life skills and functional skills refer to a variety of skills that are often necessary in natural, domestic, vocational, and community environments. They are associated with real life events and experiences (Choosing Life Skills, 1998; EPIS Center, 2014; Goodship, 2012; Venkatesh, 2012).

There are several questions to consider when determining if an activity/skill is functional.

These may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Will the activity/skill increase the individual's ability to perform independently?
- Will the activity/skill reflect that the individual is competent to manage the task?
- How frequently is the activity/skill performed by the individual?
- Will the activity/skill be performed in different natural settings?
- If the individual is unable to perform the activity/skill, will someone else perform the task for him/her?

(Brown, Falvey, et al., 1980)

The World Health Organization defined life skills as one's ability for adaptive and positive behavior that help individuals in being able to cope and deal effectively with challenges

and demands of everyday life (Venkatesh, 2012). Life skills encompass many components that include interpersonal, self-development, communication, social concerns, job, financial concerns, health, educational concerns, relationships with family, friends and others, anger management, and stress management. Educating individuals in life skills should be a fundamental right for individuals of all ages, which is an indispensable key for personal and social improvements (World Education Forum, 2000). Effective use of life skills can enhance one's abilities in such areas as vocational interest, job seeking, communication, social needs, and leisure activities. These behaviors are a necessary part of one's ability to perform life skills (Brown, Falvey, et al., 1980; Choosing Life Skills, 1998; Cimarolli, Boerner, & Wang, 2006; Venkatesh, 2012). Use of effective life skills enables individuals to function successfully in their daily routines and in multiple roles as members of a family, community, and workforce (National Literacy Act, 1993; Venkatesh, 2012; World Education Forum, 2000).

Challenges exist for individuals with vision impairments that far exceed challenges faced by sighted individuals (Jutai, Strong, & Russell-Minda, 2009; Stelmack, 2001). Individuals with vision impairment have greater challenges in their ability to perform many life skills, daily activities, and functional skills that are significant to one's quality of life or health (Jutai, Strong, & Russell-Minda, 2009; Stelmack, 2001; Venkatesh, 2012). Examples of this include skills such as managing one's medical care, personal care such as dressing, eating, writing, reading, traveling from place to place, socialization, and communicating with others (Lamourex, Hassell, & Keeffe, 2004; Stelmack, 2001). However, these skills are often taken for granted. Such skills are vital to the individual's ability to function independently in his or her environment (Guier, 2002; Stelmack, 2001; Venkatesh, 2012).

A major concern for all individuals is healthy living and the ability to access or read information. Individuals with vision loss have greater challenges, which they must address in being able to perform many life skills. Being able to perform daily activities is significant to one's quality of life (Jutai, Strong, & Russell-Minda, 2009; Stelmack, 2001; Venkatesh, 2012). These life skills are necessary and often taken for granted, but they are vital to the individual's ability to function independently in his or her environment (Guier, 2002; Ray, Horvat, Williams, & Blasch, 2007; Stelmack, 2001; Venkatesh, 2012).

Vision loss in many cases affects the patient's ability to function and effectively administer their medication, in addition to other daily living activities (Crews, Kirchner, & Lollar, 2006; McFeely, 2009). About half of the older populations do not take their medications properly. In fact, 5% to 12% of older adults have trouble seeing, even with conventional methods such as eyeglasses and/or contact lenses. As a result, it is hard for them to correctly read medication bottles and other instructions; it is also difficult to identify one prescription from another (Crews, Kirchner, & Lollar, 2006; McFeely, 2009; Windham, et al., 2005).

Patients that find it difficult and cumbersome to take their medication may result in noncompliance. In addition, errors in medication can be critical (Guier, 2002; Windham, et al., 2005). Stelmack (2001) noted that vision loss is associated with one's ability to function, which includes taking care of daily needs such as self-medication and many other quality of life activities.

Life skills are an important factor in one's quality of life (Murphy & Williams, 1999; Venkatesh, 2012). Life skills include the ability to use knowledge to perform learned tasks or develop the ability to do something for one's self in areas that influence daily functioning (visual skills, social functioning, mental status, medication management/health, and independence).

Effective use of life skills enables individuals to function successfully in their multiple roles as members of a family, community, and workforce (Choosing Life Skills, 1998; Venkatesh, 2012). Caregiver, Family and Significant Others' Involvement

Silva-Smith, Theune, and Spaid (2007) noted that individuals with vision impairment require the assistance of others at various levels to achieve their daily activities. Family members and significant others contribute to their quality of life. Caregivers are also described as family members or friends. They provide assistance to family members that are visually impaired. They are aware of the medical and functional skills of the individual (Ankri, Andrieu, Beaufils, Grand, & Henrard, 2005; Fuhr, Martinez, & Williams, 2008; Silva-Smith, Theune, & Spaid, 2007). When individuals are faced with vision impairments such as decreased visual acuity, it reduces the ability of individuals to care for themselves and others (Bernbaum, Albert, Duckro, & Merkel, 1993; Fuhr, Martinez, & Williams, 2008).

There were approximately 125 million persons in the United States during the year 2000 living with chronic health conditions or disabilities. This number is expected to increase significantly in the future (Fuhr, Bethany, & Williams, 2008; Silva-Smith, Theune, & Spaid, 2007). The literature asserts that 44.4 million individuals provided some level of informal care to adult family members with physical disabilities or some type of chronic illness during a one-year period. The supportive care provided by caregivers to their family members or others enabled them to remain in their homes. Caregivers provide various supportive care and link individuals with vision loss to other services (Travis, et al., 2003).

Caregivers also help their family members in specific ways by providing assistance with such things as preparing meals, eating, bathing, financial management, traveling, housekeeping chores, medical appointments, medication, and various forms of clothing preparation. These

individuals are informal caregivers that are unpaid; however, the value of their caregiving has been estimated to amount to over \$257 billion annually (Fuhr, Martinez, & Williams, 2008).

The literature indicates that individuals who are visually impaired experience difficulty seeing visual information. These individuals report a reduced quality of life and limitations in daily functional activities. There are numerous activities that contribute to one's quality of life; however, because of the vision loss, basic functional skills become a greater challenge for these individuals (Fuhr, Martinez, & Williams, 2008; Owsley, McGwin, Sloane, Stalvey, & Wells, 2001).

Family members and friends are often confused by the individual's ability to function and their loss of vision. Traveling independently appears to be a problem. Loss of mobility in unfamiliar environments also creates a problem. It was reported that individuals with visual impairment felt that they received extra attention from family members, which reduced their feelings of independence (Feely, Vetere, & Myers, 2007). Family members and friends lack knowledge of the disease. They fail to realize that an individual has lost some central and peripheral vision, which is not clear for individuals as well as their family. They still have the use of some of their vision to function (Becker, Wahl, Schilling, & Burmedi, 2005; Carthwaite & Garner, 2002).

Caregivers are able to assist the individual with vision loss in many of their life skills. Some common functional skills are difficult because of the vision loss such as decreased facial recognition, major problems in reading small print, problems writing, reading checks, and a decreased ability to gather, store, and retrieve information. Individuals with visual loss have a reduced ability to recognize and administer their medications, problems with mobility evolves, risks of injury from falls are increased, as are problems with daily activities such as shopping,

grooming, cleaning, inability to drive a car, managing health issues (e.g., medications and doctor's appointments), and lack of ability to perform numerous tasks that require one to use visual cues (Fuhr, Martinez, & Williams, 2008; Owsley, McGwin, Sloane, Stalvey, & Wells, 2001).

For individuals with diabetes and vision loss, these conditions can affect them in different ways, from little impact on their families to becoming overprotective (Nora, Kelly, & Matlock, 2006). There are restrictive food selections and portions, which in some cases have a positive impact on how they are treated, and how meals are prepared. However, having vision loss negatively affects the livelihoods of individuals. They are no longer able to drive. They experience loss of employment, they have moved from two incomes to a single income, or they experience role reversal between husband and wife (Nora, Kelly, & Matlock, 2006).

As the U.S. population continues to age, an increasing number of individuals will experience blindness, and the cost effectiveness of preventing unnecessary dependence will be even more important. Successful rehabilitation will be achieved through active program participation, and peer support from those who have learned to manage various medical complications and activities of daily living effectively (Lamoureux, Pallant, et al., 2007; Mahon & Curtis, 2009; Scott, Smiddy, Schiffman, Feuer, & Pappas, 1999).

Studies have shown that among caregivers, stress levels and physical and psychological morbidity are elevated in this population. Caregivers appear to be at an increased risk for poor immune function, illness, infection, and depression. In fact, review of the literature suggests that caregivers experiencing mental and physical health problems may appear to provide care to individuals at a lower quality (Beach, 2005; Fuhr, Martinez, & Williams, 2008; Silva-Smith, Theune, & Spaid, 2007).

When individuals are involved in the rehabilitation process, family involvement is a very important aspect of the individual's adjustment (Fuhr, Martinez, & Williams, 2008). This involvement enlightens and educates family members. It helps to reinforce rehabilitation skills for the individual at home, work, and in the community. Caregivers and family members assist the individual with vision loss to adjust by identifying problems or misconceptions that may negatively affect their adjustment to the vision loss (Di Stefano, Huebner, Garber, & Smith, 2009; McIlvane & Reinhardt, 2001; Silva-Smith, Theune, & Spaid, 2007).

Use of Assistive Technology and Assistive Aids

Data from the National Center for Health Statistics noted that of 41.8 million Americans with disabilities, in the United States approximately 10 million individuals are blind or visually impaired. People in the U.S. that are aged 18 years and older require some form of assistive technology (American Society of Consultant Pharmacists Foundation, 2008; Carlson, Ehrlich, Berland, & Bailey, 2001). The current National Center for Health Statistics data reflect the following:

- 8.3 million Americans with disabilities needed special equipment or assistive technology (AT) to perform basic activities of daily living (ADLs) such as bathing or showering, dressing, eating, getting in and out of bed or chairs, walking, getting outside, and using the toilet, including getting to the toilet (Carlson, Ehrlich, Berland, & Bailey, 2001).
- 16.6 million Americans with disabilities used special equipment, aids or assistive technology (Carlson, Ehrlich, Berland, & Bailey, 2001).
- 15.4 million Americans with disabilities reported using assistive technologies that were primarily medical (Carlson, Ehrlich, Berland, & Bailey, 2001).

- 14 million Americans with disabilities lived in homes modified to meet their special needs (Carlson, Ehrlich, Berland, & Bailey, 2001).
- Just over 400,000 Americans with disabilities were provided special accommodations
 that included readers, oral and sign language interpreters, job coaches, personal
 assistants, job design or slowing the pace of tasks, reduced work hours and more
 breaks, part-time work and other types of equipment, help, and work arrangements
 (Carlson, Ehrlich, Berland, & Bailey, 2001).

The literature reflects that there are nearly 250,000 individuals in U.S. households who specifically use assistive technology devices for their vision loss (Russell, Hendershot, LeClere, Howie, & Adler, 1997).

Even with the negative consequences and the prevalence of vision loss among older adults, research on assistive technology for individuals with vision impairment and functional life skills in regard to healthy living has received little attention (Horowitz, Brennan, Reinhart, & MacMillan, 2006). Passage of the Technology-Related Assistance Act of 1988 (P.L. 100-407) provided support to individuals with disabilities and enabled them to gain access to services and assistive technology (Martin, 2001; Riviere, 1996).

What does assistive technology mean for individuals with vision loss? Assistive technology is a tool that assists individuals with vision loss to master a task or to complete desired projects that may have been out of reach had they not had the tool (Minnesota Adult Basic Education Disabilities, n.d.; Riviere, 2001). It is important for the individual with vision loss because it enables them to be in control of their properties and behavior to preserve their autonomy and attainment of important goals (Becker, Wahl, Schilling, & Burmedi, 2005).

AFB (2014) noted that clients with vision impairment may also benefit from large-print display that include size and thickness of print adjustments, style of print, contrast between print and background adjustments, accommodations for glare that is adjusted by the monitor display, and audio equipment. Audio devices that read information are also valuable to help individuals with visual impairment to access information. Accommodations needed for travel for individuals with vision impairment are provided in the orientation and mobility training which instructs patients with vision loss to successfully ambulate through the environment safely (Janinszewski, Heath-Watson, Semidey, Rosenthal, & Do, 2006; Mitchell & Bradley, 2006).

Assistive technology and aids enhance their ability to self-actualize and perform tasks independently. Assistive technology has drastically changed the way individuals with disabilities function in society. It has become the equalizer for many individuals with vision loss and other impairments. Assistive technology has enabled individuals with vision loss to continue to be productive individuals in achieving and maintaining their individual goals to move closer to the American dream (AFB, 2014; Casciato, 2007; Martin, 2001; Riviere, 2001).

The Cost to Society

In the United States, visual impairment is among the 10 most prevalent causes of disability with 240,000 new cases per year (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Stroupe et al., 2008). In addition, major adult vision disorders have substantial impact and the cost continues to elevate with the increase in ocular diseases. In the United States, the cost of care for major adult visual disorders was estimated to be more than \$35.4 billion; and \$57.5 million was attributed to medical costs for patients with macular degeneration, which is the leading cause of vision loss in older adults (Stroupe et al., 2008).

Congress signed into law the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (P.L. 108-173). This legislation directed the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) to carry out a Low Vision Rehabilitation Demonstration Project. The purpose of the project was to assess the impact of adding certified low vision therapists, certified vision rehabilitation therapists, and orientation and mobility specialists as Medicare reimbursement for vision rehabilitation services (Mogk, Watson, & Williams, 2008).

CMS described its objectives in the demonstration project to identify whether or not vision rehabilitation could be established as a budget neutral service in which, for example, fewer falls and hip fractures could pay for the vision rehabilitation services (Lyles, Watson, & Williams, 2008). The project had flaws in it. Therefore, recommendations were made to restructure or terminate the demonstration project. Congress continues to debate on increases to Medicare coverage for rehabilitation services. Rehabilitation scientists continue to explore methods to evaluate and determine various approaches that improve the quality of life for persons with vision impairment (Szlyk, et al., 2004).

In some areas, vision rehabilitation services were provided with up to 12 hours of service per patient per year, as needed. In addition, services are billed by the supervising physician and occupational therapist and to the payer for services provided to the client with vision impairment (Mogk, Watson, & Williams, 2008). The extended cost associated with treatment and care to the individual with visual impairment and the cost to society should not be underestimated.

Prevent Blindness America Reports

It is estimated that vision loss costs the federal government significant taxable income. In addition, the annual care costs are more than \$4 billion annually. For people with vision impairment who were born in 2000, lifetime costs will reach \$2.5 billion (Trophy, Lynn, &

Glass, 2003). For one visually impaired person, the average lifetime cost for managing these impairments is approximately \$566,000 (Friedman, Congdon, Kempen, & Tielsch, 2002; Ophthalmology Times, 2007; Trophy, Lynn, & Glass, 2003).

Outpatient and pharmaceutical services make up the most direct medical costs. For patient ages 40 to 64 years, the largest direct medical cost is for inpatient services related to cataract and glaucoma. The breakdown of direct annual medical costs for outpatient, inpatient, and prescription drug services for the major diseases affecting the aging eye:

- o Cataract (\$6.8 billion)
- o Refractive error (\$5.51 billion)
- o Glaucoma (\$2.86 billion)
- o Age-related macular degeneration (\$0.57 billion)
- o Diabetic retinopathy (\$0.49 billion)

Direct costs for Americans ages 40 to 64 years are \$7.94 billion; direct costs for Americans ages 65 and above are \$8.30 billion (Ophthalmology Times, 2007). Nearly \$11 billion of the total \$11.2 billion in direct nonmedical costs goes to nursing home care. Although only 4.3% of the general population aged 65 years or older live in nursing homes, for people who are visually impaired or blind, the proportion living in nursing homes are 16% and 40%, respectively. Measuring quality of life or health utility loss in chronic medical conditions is estimated at \$10.5 billion for visual impairment and blindness (Ophthalmology Times, 2007).

Vision impairment remains a significant problem for individuals as they age. It impacts every aspect of one's life and influences how individuals view themselves and the world around them. Visual impairment impacts one's quality of life in numerous ways. Visual impairment often has a negative effect on the individual's ability to manage their health care and their ability

to function independently. It impacts the individual's emotional status, physical status, as well as the functional level of the individual. Visual impairment can exist with other medical conditions and increase the chances of major medical problems developing. Awareness is needed to assure that necessary resources can be aligned to enhance research, treatment, and prevention of our nation's increasing eye problems (NIH/NEI, 2002). As our aging population continues to increase, the resources that are needed to enhance services to individuals with visual impairment must be made available to aid in maintaining one's independence in managing their medication regime that supports their quality of life (Ophthalmology Times, 2007; Orr, Rodgers, & Scott, 2006).

Age-related vision impairment is a condition that affects the quality of life of many individuals, altering the way they interact with their environment and posing a major threat to daily functioning (Girdler, Packer, & Boldy, 2008; MacLaughlin, et al., 2005). Society must be made aware of this growing population of individuals with vision impairment. Information is needed to prepare for the challenges of current and future treatments to provide healthcare and rehabilitation services for this population (Orr, Rodgers, & Scott, 2006; NIH/NEI, 2002).

Loss of vision impacts the individual's social roles, their participation in various civic activities and their overall quality of life. Various activities are cultivated into one's social responsibilities. Older adults who had a complex medication regime and vision loss show complications in their ability to adhere to their medication regime. They lack visual skills and they are unable to correctly administer their medication (MacLaughlin, et al., 2005).

Summary

It is imperative that health care providers and patient educators recognize the needs of patients with visual impairments. Barriers to health care negatively impact their ability to be

self-sufficient and diminish their quality of life. Vision impairment affects one's ability to read or access information that is vital to their health care in such ways as medical appointments, medication regime and so on.

When individuals are no longer able to manage their own daily skills or tasks, it negatively influences all aspects of their life, emotionally and socially, in addition to the financial implications that they must endure (MacLaughlin, et al., 2005). Assistive technology has enabled individuals to obtain levels of functioning that facilitate greater independence and enhances the control individuals have over their lives (Becker, Wakl, Schilling, & Burmedi, 2005; Patton, 2009).

Family members and caregivers play a significant role in helping individuals with a visual impairment adjust to the changes in their vision. Caregivers and family members help the individual with vision loss maintain the necessary goals that are needed to function independently. Having the support and assistance of caregivers helps individuals with vision loss to accomplish goals that are in their best interest (Boerner & Cimarolli, 2005). They often provide levels of support that encourage individuals with visual impairment to continue to participate in many of the activities that they participated in before they lost their vision. Communication aids in helping individuals with visual impairment to adjust and feel comfortable in the environment in which they function.

Appropriate resources can be identified and persons with vision impairment should not be left on the doorstep, but offered an entry to resources through rehabilitation services (Boerner & Cimarolli, 2005). Rehabilitation that specializes in services for the visually impaired can help clients in many ways through assistive devices and training. Rehabilitation enhances independence and one's ability to successfully follow their medication regime and daily

functional life skills. Networking to explore available resources that can meet the needs of the older adult population is important (AFB, 2011; Crews & Campbell, 2001; Levasseur, Desrosiers & St-Cyr Tribble, 2008).

Vision loss in combination with other medical conditions substantially compromises the performance in various activities and health-related services. Vision loss does not occur in isolation but is highly associated with various other conditions. It is important to address the interaction between visual impairment and other conditions of older adults. There are major implications for policy development and influence in the areas of clinical services, healthcare, aging and disability, and rehabilitation (AFB, 2011; Crews & Campbell, 2001).

Reducing visual impairments, increasing preventive eye care, and increasing use of rehabilitation services are all public health priorities. The complexity of trying to enhance one's quality of life, along with other major causes of vision loss in the adult population implies that assistance is needed. When health care, rehabilitation, and public health agencies work together to enhance and promote health care it increases life skills, social participation, and one's quality of life. The cost of supportive care for individuals with vision loss can also have a profound impact on financial costs for the individual, government, and society in general (AFB, 2011; Levasseur, Desrosiers & St-Cyr Tribble, 2008).

CHAPTER III. METHOD AND INSTRUMENTATION

This study was designed to explore medication adherence and self-efficacy of individuals with visual impairments. These individuals often experience difficulty with taking their prescribed medication, coping with medication regimens, and accessing medical information related to their vision condition(s). This study was based on the literature that individuals with vision impairments lack access to their own health care information, which ultimately influences their confidence, as well as their ability, to take their medications and meet scheduled medical appointments. In addition, a lack of consideration of patients with vision impairments as active participants in their health care decisions may inhibit their ability to make informed decisions about their medical care. This chapter discusses the design of the study, sources of data, profiles of the organizations from which the sample was selected, method of procedure, privacy and confidentiality of participant data collected, instrumentation, and data analysis.

Design of the Study

This design was a survey research study to investigate the self-efficacy and medication adherence among individuals with vision impairments. Data related to participants' demographic and personal information related to medication taking and participant coping skills was collected using an Adherence Demographic Survey (ADS). Part I of the ADS instrument collected participant demographic data and personal information. Part II of the ADS asked participants to respond to four open-ended questions related to their coping skills. In this study, the dependent variables were medication adherence as measured by the Adherence to Refill and

Medications Scale (ARMS) and self-efficacy as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS).

Sources of Data

Population and Sample

The population for this study was all individuals served at the time of this study by one or more of the following three local chapters of their corresponding national organization: Georgia Council for the Blind (GCB), Blinded Veterans Association Georgia Regional Group (BVAGRG), or the National Federation of the Blind of Georgia (NFB). The sample for this study were individuals from the population of those served by one or more of the organizations for the blind and who volunteered to complete the survey form.

Profiles of Organizations from which the Sample was Selected

The Georgia Council for the Blind (GCB) is a nonprofit consumer organization that is affiliated with the American Council of the Blind (ACB). The GCB Columbus local chapter has 20 members. The GCB has provided forums for the views of individuals with blindness for more than 40 years. The GCB has been involved in many activities to promote the welfare of individuals with vision impairment such as improving education and rehabilitation services, broadening vocational opportunities, legislative actions, scholarships, peer support, exhibits, assistive technology, newsletters, social activities, and braille (American Council of the Blind [ACB], 2012).

The Blinded Veterans Association Georgia Regional Group is an affiliate of the Blinded Veterans Association (BVA); it has 53 members in the regional group. The BVA began at the end of World War II. The BVA is an organization of blinded veterans helping blinded veterans. The BVA supports its members through service programs, regional groups, resources, and

advocacy in the legislative and executive branches of government. All legally blind veterans are eligible for assistance whether they become blind during or after active duty military service (BVA Georgia Regional Group, 2009). The BVA was chartered by the U.S. Congress to speak and write on behalf of blinded veterans in national legislative affairs. Throughout the history of the BVA, the Department of Veterans Affairs (formerly the Veterans Administration) has recognized the BVA as the exclusive voice for blinded veterans nationwide (BVA Georgia Regional Group, 2009).

The National Federation of the Blind (NFB) was founded in 1940 (NFB, 2013). The organization advocates for the civil rights and equality of Americans who are visually impaired. The organization develops innovative education, assistive technology, and training programs for the blind and those who are losing their vision. The NFB provides individuals with the tools they need to become independent and successful (NFB, 2013). The NFB is a non-profit, 501c (3) volunteer organization. The Georgia chapter was established in 1972 and charted in 1973 as a state affiliate. The NFB is recognized as the oldest and most influential national organization of individuals with blindness in the United States (NFB, 2013).

Privacy and Confidentiality of Data Collection

Proper steps were taken to ensure the privacy and confidentiality of the data collected.

Permission was obtained by the researcher from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Auburn

University to conduct the study (see Appendix A). In addition, as required by Auburn

University, IRB approval was received. Approval was also received from each organization

selected to participate in this study. A copy of the approval letter from each organization is

included in the appendices. Data were collected from the participants. Only the researcher, her

major professor, and a committee member who assisted with data analysis, have access to the

survey data. Data obtained from this study were reported in aggregate form and remain anonymous.

Instrumentation

A two-part questionnaire, the Adherence Demographic Survey (ADS) developed by the researcher, was administered to each participant during an organizational meeting of the local chapter. Part I of the ADS has 24 items designed to collect information such as:

- (1) Gender (male, female);
- (2) Type of vision impairment (cataract, glaucoma, macular degeneration, retinitis pigmentosa, diabetic retinopathy, trauma, and other);
- (3) Marital status (married, single, divorced, widow); (4) Age range (22–30; 31–39; 40–48; 49–57; 58–66; 67–75; 76–84; 85 and over);
- (5) Education level (high school, GED, some college, college graduate, masters education, beyond master's degree);
- (6) Current employment status (full-time, part-time, unemployed, homemaker, retired, student, volunteer);
- (7) Housing arrangement (live alone, live with spouse, live with other family member, live with friend, live in residential facility);
- (8) Travel independently outside the home (yes/no);
- (9–17) Travel methods (car, taxi, bus, wheelchair, use mobility cane, sighted guide, support cane, special mode of transportation, walk alone independently [with no cane];
- (18) Assistance in taking medications (yes/no);
- (19) Use of assistive technology to take medication (yes/no);

- (20) Ability to read large print on newspaper headings (yes/no);
- (21) Ability to read small print on newspaper (yes/no);
- (22) Ability to read medication labels (yes/no);
- (23) Ability to see the medication pills (yes/no); and
- (24) Requires the assistance of others in reading (yes/no).

Part II of the ADS has four open-ended items that collect information related to the coping skills of participants. These items were formulated by the researcher to address barriers to and consequences of taking medications. These open-ended items allow the participants to express their coping skills in their own words.

The Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS) was developed to evaluate an individual's self-reported adherence to taking and refilling their medications. The instrument's psychometric properties revealed high internal consistency, reliability, test-retest, and criterion-related validity (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009). The ARMS was comprised initially of 14 items. The factor analyses included 14 items based on the eigenvalues that showed a three-factor solution which accounted for 47.9% of the variance. The factor analyses resulted in a two-factor solution for the 14 items, but it did not result in a clear separation of the items as intended by the instrument design (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009).

Factor analysis was conducted on the reduced item scale of 12-items (without questions 1 and 9). As a result, a two-factor solution was forced and the items clustered as expected, which also supported the reduction of items from the scale to 12 items (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009).

On Factor 1, the eigenvalue of 4.209 explained 35.1% of the variance. Factor 1 included eight of the items. The eight items assessed adherence to taking medication correctly. For

Factor 2, there was an eigenvalue of 1.199 and it accounted for 10.0% of the variance. It assessed adherence to refilling medications on schedule with four of the items. Both subscales consisted of a total of 12 items for the ARMS (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009).

Cronbach's α was 0.794 for the first subscale. The total item correlations ranged from 0.344 to 0.598. Cronbach's α was 0.641 for the second subscale and the total item correlations ranged from 0.408 to 0.514. Cronbach's α alpha for the full scale is high (α = 0.82).

The ARMS demonstrated high internal consistency and high correlation with older standardized measures. For the ARMS, the distribution of scores was created by treating each item on the 12-item instrument as a four-point question; scores ranged from 12 to 34 (mean = 16.32, standard deviation [SD] = 4.06). The eight-item subscale consisted of taking medications. The 8-item subscale scores ranged from 8 to 29 (mean = 10.33, SD = 2.66). On the 4-item subscale, refilling medications reported scores ranging from 4 to 14 (mean = 5.99, SD = 1.98). The lower scores indicated better adherence (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009). The 4-item prescription refill subscale assesses a patient's ability to refill medications. The combined 12-item scale on the 4-point Likert-type scale yielded a composite score range of 12 to 48 points (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009). Patients with low ARM scores indicate better adherence to medication. ARM has a valid and reliable self-reported medication measure on adherence which performs well across literacy levels (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009). Permission to use the ARMS for this study was requested and received from the developer of the scale (see Appendix B).

The Adherence to Refills and Medications Scale (ARMS) is also designed to evaluate medication adherence for populations with chronic conditions. It is designed to include two distinct subscales supported by the overall factor analysis of the ARMS. The 8-item medication

taking subscale assesses a patient's ability to self-administer the prescribed regimen correctly (Risser, Jacobson, & Kripalani, 2007).

The Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS) is a valid self-reported scale. It is a 13-question instrument to assess barriers and self-efficacy (Lousa, Holzworth, & Ansani, 2011). The SEAMS measures confidence in one's ability to self-administer medication properly. The SEAMS was designed to assess self-efficacy for appropriate medication use for patients with chronic diseases across a range of literacy levels (Risser, Jacobson & Kripalani, 2007). The importance of medication non-adherence as well as patients health was explored by the authors (DiMatteo, 2004; Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005; Risser, Jacobson, & Kripalani, 2007). Their research has indicated that low literacy is a risk factor for medication non-adherence (Chew, Bradley, Flunn, Cornia, & Koepsell, 2004; Kalichman, Ramachandran, & Catz, 1999). Risser, Jacobson, and Kripalani (2007) suggested that low-literacy individuals may have some difficulty understanding certain items, which may also lead to potential biased responses.

The SEAMS was developed using items with simple wording that may be beneficial for use in a low-literacy population. The instrument was also designed to be generated across medical conditions and lifestyles. In the development of the instrument, questions were selected from several other instruments. Priority was given to these items in published psychometric analyses that performed well and crested a balance across a range of situations (Ogedegbe, Mancreso, Allegrante, & Charlson, 2003; Risser, Jacobson, & Kripalani, 2007). A content map of selected questions and a pool of new items were generated to fill any gaps, mainly in areas of medication use that may present challenges for low-literacy patients (Risser, Jacobson, & Kripalani, 2007).

The questions were linked to a three-point response scale (Risser, Jacobson, & Knipalani, 2007). Smith, Wakely, deKruif, and Swartz (2003) noted that scales with broad response options have not shown to be beneficial. Participants were asked to respond to indicate, their level of confidence about taking medications correctly (1 = not confident, 2 = somewhat confident, and 3 = very confident).

The possible score for the original 21-item scale ranged from 21 to 63. For the SEAMS, the higher scores indicated higher levels of self-efficacy for medication adherence (Risser, Jacobson, & Knipalani, 2007). The mean responses on each of the 21 items ranged from 1.91 to 2.91.

In the original 21-item scale, the principal factor analysis resulted in a fair factor solution that was based on eigenvalues > 1. A four-factor solution was identified from the scree plot. Factor 1 resulted in 36.05% of the variance being explained, while for all four factors together accounted for 54.6% of the variance. Item numbers 3, 4, 13, and 19 (four items) loaded greater than 0.4 on more than one factor (Risser, Jacobson, Kripalani, 2007). On the first two factors, 14 items were loaded and the remaining 6 items were loaded on the two remaining factors. The results indicated that it was difficult to clearly identify associated dimensions of self-efficacy for each of the four factors. Therefore, the factors were not identified at this point (Risser, Jacobson, Kripalani, 2007).

The SEAMS performed well in the reliability analysis; however, it did not factor in any notable domains. Therefore, a reduced set of items was tested and the general self-efficacy questions (items 1 and 2) were excluded. Also, items that shared a different question format (items 17 to 21) were excluded. Item 14 was also excluded with the lowest item-total

correlation, low inter-item correlations performed poorly in subgroup analysis of literacy (Risser, Jacobson, & Kripalani, 2007).

The remaining 13 items resulted in two-factory solution with items 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, and 10 that loaded onto Factor 1. For Factor 2, items 7, 11, 12, 13, 15, and 16 were loaded on. Two clear dimensions were indicated self-efficacy for taking medications under difficult circumstances (factor 1) and self-efficacy for continuing to take medications when circumstances surrounding medication-taking are uncertain (factor 2) (Risser, Jacobson, & Kripalani, 2007).

Item 10 was found to agree with Factor 1. On both factors item 10 loaded > 0.4. The reduced 13-item scale resulted in interitem correlations of 0.20 to 0.71 high total correlations for the reliability analysis and a Cronbach's alpha of 0.89. Cronbach's alpha was 0.86 and 0.7 for the two subscales, taking medications under different circumstances and under conditions of uncertainty. Mean interitem correlations for the 13-item scale was 0.38, 0.46 and 0.39. and the same reflected for the two subscales. The 13-item scale test –retest reliability was adequate (Spearman's p = 0.57, p = .0001) (Risser, Jacobson, & Kripalani, 2007). The researcher obtained permission to use the SEAMS from the developers (see Appendix C).

Method of Procedure

Before the study began, approval to conduct the study was sought from the Institutional Review Board for Research Involving Human Subjects (IRB) at Auburn University. The researcher contacted each president of the three local organizations by telephone to request the organization's participation in the study and provided information on the purpose of the study (see Appendix E). Presidents and participants were assured that the participant data will remain anonymous.

After receiving permission from the IRB, an information letter was e-mailed to each organization's president, the Georgia Council for the Blind (GCB), the Blinded Veterans Association Georgia Regional Group (BVAGRG), and the National Federation of the Blind (NFB) Georgia Chapter (see Appendix D). The information letter further explained the purpose of the study and requested further support for the study. The President of the National Federation for the Blind, Columbus Chapter had responded with a permission letter to conduct the study (see Appendix E). Later, BVAGRG and the GCB also responded with permission to conduct the study (see Appendix F & Appendix G). In addition, a request was made for permission to attend one monthly meeting for each organization to solicit participation in the study.

All participation was voluntary. The survey instruments were self-reported as being completed independently or with the use of a proxy (family member or friend). A letter with a statement on confidentiality was given to each participant and their proxy (see Appendix H). After completing the surveys, participants placed surveys in a drop box at the meeting of their organization. The survey data remained anonymous.

Data Analysis

Data were entered into an IBM SPSS (Version 21) spreadsheet for analysis.

Demographic information was calculated using descriptive statistics to report the frequency and percent of the following variables: What were the demographic and personal information related to medication taking selected for this study in terms of (a) gender, (b) type of vision impairment, (c) marital status, (d) age range, (e) education, (f) current employment status, (g) housing arrangement, (h) travel independently outside the home (yes/no), (i) travel methods, (j) assistance in taking medications, (k) use of assistive technology to take medication, (l) ability to

read large print on newspaper headings, (m) ability to read small print on newspaper, (n) ability to read medication labels, (o) ability to see the medication pills, and (p) requires the assistance of others in reading. Descriptive data such as frequency and percent and were calculated. These data were collected on Part I of the Adherence Demographic Scale (ADS). Part II of the ADS asked participants to respond to four open-ended questions that address their coping skills. The researcher analyzed these items by organizing comments into similar categories to explore whether or not common themes could be identified. In addition, unique responses were recorded. All participant responses provided implications for the results.

A one-sample t-test was used to test three of the null hypotheses. All statistical results were tested at the 0.05 probability level (p = .05). A one-sample t-test was used to test the first null hypothesis. The first null hypothesis stated no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 10.33, which was the median score on the Adherence to Refill Medication Scale (ARMS) on the first subscale for individuals who followed their prescribed medication regimens. The median score on the scale was identified by the scale developers when field testing the instrument (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009).

A one-sample t-test was used to test the second null hypothesis. The second null hypothesis states that there was no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 5.99, the median score on the subscale of Adherence to Refill Medication (ARMS) for individuals who refill their medication on schedule. The median score was set by the scale developers (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009). A one-sample t-test was used to test the third null hypothesis.

The third null hypothesis stated that there was no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 26, which is the midpoint on the Self-Efficacy for

Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS) for individuals with vision impairments feelings of confidence in their ability to manage their medication independently. The range of possible scores on the SEAMS is 13 to 39 points. Since no specific cut-off score or test value was provided by the scale developers, the researcher set the test value at 26, as a reasonable expectation of one's self-efficacy for taking medications (Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009). The midpoint of the scale was derived by summing the maximum number of points possible for the middle column of the scale (a value of 2), which indicates that a person is somewhat confident in self-efficacy for taking medications.

The fourth null hypothesis stated that there is no statistically significant difference in mean scores on the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS) for individuals with vision impairments who use assistive aids in taking their medications and those who do not use assistive aids. An independent samples t-test was used to test the fourth null hypothesis.

CHAPTER IV. DATA ANALYSIS AND RESULTS

Chapter I of this study provided an introduction, statement of the problem, purpose of the study, research questions, statement of the hypothesis, design of the study, sources of data, definition of terms, limitations of the study, assumptions of the study, need for the study and significance of the study. The purpose of the study was to investigate the self-efficacy and medication adherence of individuals with vision impairments that hold membership in three organizations in the State of Georgia that provide supportive services to this population.

Participants in this study were individuals with vision impairments that reside in the State of Georgia. Participants in the study acquired their vision impairments at different periods in their lifetime, either at birth or later in life.

For the purpose of this study, vision impairment is defined as those individuals with a condition of the eye that is not corrected by standard eyeglasses, contact lenses, medication or surgery (NIH/NEI, 2006). This condition of the eye interferes with the individual's ability to perform activities of daily living. There are several terms used to describe an individual's eye condition when they are diagnosed as having vision impairment. They may include, but are not limited to, the following: total blindness, legal blindness, low vision, vision impairment, functional limitations to seeing and severe limitations (Carthwaite & Garner, 2002; Kelly, 2009; Safran, et al., 2005). The International Classification of Diseases (ICD)-9CM classification of visual impairment is used as the classification system to associate an eye disease with a specific code for vision impairment (Freeman, et al., 2007; NIH/NEI, 2006).

Chapter II presented a review of the literature relevant on self-efficacy of individuals associated with vision challenges. Terminology provided definition of terms, explanation of impairment, the prevalence of vision impairment and blindness in the population, the major causes of visual impairment in the United States, age-related muscular degeneration, cataract, diabetic retinopathy, and glaucoma. In addition, the theoretical framework for the study was discussed, the population affected by non-adherence to medication regimens was examined, the need for functional life skills, an examination of the use of assistive technology and assistance aids, the cost of society and the report on prevention of blindness in America was reviewed. Chapter III discussed methods and instrumentation, design of the study, sources of data, profiles of organizations from which the sample was selected, privacy and confidentiality of data collection, instrumentation, method of procedure and data analysis. Chapter IV focuses on the results of the data analysis.

Data Analysis

Descriptive data such as frequencies and percents were summarized for gender, type of vision impairment, marital status, age range, education, current employment status, housing arrangement, travel independently outside the home, travel methods, assistance in taking medications, use of assistive technology to take medication, ability to read large print on newspaper headings, ability to read small print on newspaper, ability to read medication labels, ability to see the medication pills, and need for assistance from others in reading. Descriptive data such as frequency and percent were calculated. The data were collected on Part I of the Adherence Demographic Survey (ADS). This information was used to answer research question one.

Part II (Coping Skills) of the ADS responded to research question two that consisted of four open-ended questions. A theme was generated from the responses on each open-ended question. The researcher assessed the responses to identity a common theme for each of the questions using a qualitative approach. The themes were used to support associated questions in the research that were answered using quantitative data.

Research questions three, four, five and six were answered by testing the null hypothesis at the .05 level of significance. Question three, four, and five were tested with their associated null hypotheses using the one sample t-test. Question six and the associated fourth hypothesis was tested using the independent samples t-test.

Results of Research Question One

The first research question was: What are the demographic characteristics of individuals with vision impairments who were participants in the study (held membership in the Georgia Council of the Blind, Georgia Regional Group of the Blinded Veterans Association and/or the Georgia Chapter of the National Federation of the Blind? The following tables show the frequencies and percents of the demographic information for participants with vision impairment in the study.

Demographic characteristics for all participants with vision impairment used in this study were summarized in terms of the following: gender, type of vision impairment, marital status, and age range. In addition, demographics also included education level, employment status, housing arrangement, travel independently outside, travel methods, assistance in taking medications, use of assistance technology to take medication, ability to read large print on newspaper headings, ability to read small print on newspaper, ability to read medication labels,

ability to see medication pills, and requiring the assistance of others in reading. The total number of individuals with vision impairments that participated in the study was 52.

Gender, Type of Vision Impairments, Marital Status, and Age Group

The majority of the individuals with vision impairments were males (59.6%). Females were represented by 40.4% of the participants. The type of vision impairments were addressed by the participants. The majority of the participants indicated their type of vision impairment as "Other" (36.5%). For other responses, there were several different responses; the leading type of vision impairment for "Other" was birth blindness. The next highest response for vision impairment for the population sample was glaucoma and retinitis pigmentosa (21.2% for both types). Nearly sixty percent (59.6%) of the sample with vision impairments were between 49 to 66 years of age and 46.2% were married. Table 1 shows the frequencies and percents of the demographic information for participants for gender, type of vision impairment, and marital status. Table 2 shows the frequencies and percent's of the demographic information for participants for age group.

Table 1

Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments by Gender, Type of Vision

Impairments, and Marital Status

Variable	Frequency	Percent
Gender		
Males	31	59.6
Females	21	40.4
Type of Vision Impairments		
Cataract	1	1.9
Glaucoma	11	21.2
Macular Degeneration	2	3.8
Retinitis Pigmentosa	11	21.2
Diabetic Retinopathy	3	5.8
Trauma	5	9.6
Other*	19	36.5
Martial Status		
Married	24	46.2
Single	13	25.0
Divorced	10	19.2
Widow	5	9.6

^{*}Blindness at birth leading 'Other'

Table 2

Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments by Age Group

Variable		Frequency	Percent
Age Group			
22 to 30		3	5.8
31 to 39		3	5.8
40 to 48		5	9.6
49 to 57		10	19.2
58 to 66		21	40.4
67 to 75		8	15.4
76 to 84		2	3.8
	Total	52	100.0

Education Level

For education level, the majority indicated that the highest degree held by the sample was college graduate that reflects 26.9% of the sample, followed by high school (25%), beyond master's degree and master's degree each reflected 21.2%. Also for employment status, the majority of the sample were retired (42.3%), but for those participants that were employed the results reflected 32.7% of the sample. Table 3 shows the frequencies and percentages of the demographic information for participants for education level and employment status.

Table 3

Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments for Education Level and Employment Status

13	25.0
3	5.8
11	26.9
14	21.2
11	21.2
12	23.1
5	9.6
8	15.4
3	5.8
22	42.3
2	3.8
	3 11 14 11 12 5 8 3 22

Living Arrangements

Housing arrangement reflected the majority of the sample resided with their spouse, 53.8%. The next highest indicator for living arrangement reported by the sample was living alone, 28.8%. Table 4 provides the results of the frequencies and percentages for housing arrangements.

Table 4

Frequencies and Percents of Individuals with Vision Impairments for Housing Arrangements

Variable	Frequency	Percent
Housing Arrangements		
Lives Alone	15	28.8
Lives with Spouse	28	53.8
Lives with Other Family	7	13.5
Lives with Friend	2	3.8
Total	52	100.0

Travel Outside Independently

When asked if they travel outside independently at home, the majority of the sample population indicated that they traveled outside independently (67.3%) while 32.7% indicated that they did not. Table 5 shows the frequencies and percentages of the demographic information for participants for independent travel.

Table 5

Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments for Travel Independently

Outside Home

Variable	Frequency	Percent
Travel Outside Home	35	67.3
No Travel Outside Home	17	32.7

Travel Methods

For travel methods, individuals in the sample used several different methods to travel independently outside the home. They included: car (84% = yes; 8% = no), taxi (19.2% = yes; 80.8% = no), bus (48% = yes; 52% = no), wheelchair (5.8% = yes; 94.2% = no), mobility cane (42.3% = yes; 57.7% = no), sighted guide (32.7% = yes; 67.3% = no), support cane (25% = yes); 75% = no), and walk alone independently (19.2% = yes; 80.8% = no). Table 6 shows the frequencies and percentages of the demographic information for participants for travel methods.

Table 6

Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments by Travel Methods

Variable	Frequency	Percent
Travel Methods By Car		
Car Travel	44	84.6
No Car	8	15.4
Travel Methods By Taxi		
Taxi Travel	10	19.2
No Taxi	42	80.8
Travel Methods By Bus		
Bus Travel	25	48
No Bus	27	52
Travel Methods By Wheelchair		
Wheelchair Travel	3	5.8
No Wheelchair	49	94.2

Table 6 (continued)

Variable	Frequency	Percent
Travel Methods By Mobility Cane		
Mobility Cane Travel	22	42.3
No Mobility Cane	30	57.7
Travel Methods By Sighted Guide		
Travel With Guide	17	32.7
No Guide Travel	35	67.3
Travel Methods By Support Cane		
Travel With Support	13	25.0
No Support Cane	39	75.0
Travel Methods By Walking Alone		
Walk Alone Independently	10	19.2
No Walking Alone	42	80.8

Taking Medication

When asked if participants required assistance in taking their medications, the majority of the sample (53.8%) indicated that they did not require assistance in taking their medication, but some (46.2%) indicated that they required assistance in taking their medications. For assistive technology/aids to take one's medication, half of the participants (50%) indicated that they did not use assistive technology/aids in taking their medication while half of the participants (50%) did use technology. Table 7 shows the frequencies and percentages of the demographic information for participants for taking medication and the use of assistive technology/aids.

Table 7

Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments by Ability to Take

Medication and Assistive Technology/Aids

Variable	Frequency	Percentages
Assistance with Medication	24	46.2
No Medication Assistance	28	53.8
Use Assistive Technology/Aids	26	50.0
No Use of Technology/Aids	26	50.0
Total	52	100.0

Ability to Read

Participants also responded to questions that indicated if they were able to read print on the newspaper. Participants were asked if they were able to read large print such as the heading on newspapers. The results reflected that 42.3% indicated that they were able to read the newspaper headings, while 57.7% indicated that they were unable to read the newspaper headings. Participants where asked if they were able to read small print on the newspaper. Participant's response reflected that 9.6% indicated that they were able to read the small print on the newspaper, while 90.4% indicated that they could not.

When participants were asked about their ability to also read the labels that were placed on their medication, 21.1% of the participants indicated that they were able to read medication labels, while 78.8% indicated that they were unable to read their medication labels. Table 8 shows the frequencies and percentages of the demographic information for participants on ability to read.

Table 8

Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments by Ability to Read

Variable	Frequency	Percentages
Read Large Print	22	42.3
No Reading Large Print	30	57.7
Read Small Print	5	9.6
No Reading Small Print	47	90.4
Able to See Labels	11	21.2
Unable to See Labels	41	78.8

Ability to See

Participants were asked if they were able to see their medication pills. Of the participants that responded, 32.7% indicated that they were able to see their medication pills, while 67.3% indicated that they were not able to see their medication pills. The question was asked if participants requested the assistance of others in reading their medication. Of the participants that responded to this question, 86.5% indicated that they require the assistance of someone else in reading printed material. Table 9 shows the frequencies and percentages of the demographic information for participants on ability to see.

Table 9

Frequencies and Percentages of Individuals with Vision Impairments by Ability to See

Variable	Frequency	Percentages
Able to See Pills	17	32.7
Unable to See Pills	35	67.3
Assistance in Reading	45	86.5
No Help in Reading	7	13.5

Results for Research Question Two

Question Two consisted of four open-ended questions as indicated below. Information was collected on coping methods on four open-ended questions associated with taking medication for individuals with vision impairments. The questions were examined to obtain central themes from the responses.

The open-ended questions that were presented included the following:

- a) What coping methods do you use in taking your medications?
- b) What is the greatest barrier to taking your medication?
- c) If you missed or have not taken your medications, what have been the consequences?
- d) What assistive technology do you use to take your medications?

Question 2(a) was regarding coping methods used in taking medications. Participants responded by providing a list of their responses to the question. The researcher identified a central theme by categorizing the responses. The responses that reflected the majority of similar responses by category were identified as the central theme for the question.

Results for Question 2(a), Coping Methods used in Taking Medications, indicated that 48% of the responses reflected the majority of the responses for a category. The majority indicated that they organized their medication by pill box, bottle, and/or some type of container. The central theme for method used in taking medication was organizing medication by pill box or other container. However, it is noteworthy to also mention that 39% of the participants also indicated that they required assistance with medication as a coping method used in taking medication.

Question 2(b) was "What are the greatest barriers in taking your medications?" For Question 2(b) the participants addressed the greatest barriers to taking one's medications by providing a list of barriers. The researcher identified a central theme by categorizing the responses. The responses that reflected the majority of similar responses by category were identified as the central theme for the question.

Results for Question 2(b), participants noted coping methods used in the greatest barriers in taking medications by providing a list of barriers. The majority of the participants (56%) fell into a category for central theme of individuals with vision impairments that indicated that their greatest barrier in taking medication was not being able to read the medication label for the type of medication and other information. For Question 2(b), the central theme was not being able to read the medication label that represented the majority of the category responses.

Question 2(c) was "If you missed or had not taken your medication on time, what would be the consequences?" For Question 2(c) the participants addressed if missed medication what would be the consequences by providing a list of consequences. The researcher identified a central theme by categorizing the responses. The responses that reflected the majority of similar responses by category were identified as the central theme for the question.

For Question 2(c), the researcher identified a central theme by categorizing the responses. The responses that reflected the majority of similar responses by category were identified as the central theme for the question.

The majority of the participants (65%) fell into a category for central theme of individuals with vision impairments that indicated that they would experience deterioration in their health (physical or mental) if they missed or did not take their medication. For question 2(c), the central theme was health deterioration that represented the majority of the category responses.

Question 2(d) was "What assistive technology or aids do you use to take your medication?" For Question 2(d) the participants addressed the assistive technology or aids they used to take their medication by providing a list of devices. The researcher identified a central theme by categorizing the responses. The responses that reflected the majority of similar responses by category were identified as the central theme for the question.

Results for Question 2(d) were identified. The majority of the participants (44%) fell into a category for central theme of individuals with vision impairments that indicated that they used assistive technology or aids to take medication. For Question 2(d), the central theme was assistive technology or aids for taking medication that represented the majority of the category responses.

Results for Research Question Three

The third research question was "To what extent do individuals with vision impairments follow their prescribed medication regimens as measured by the Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS)". The first null hypothesis was formulated to answer research question 3.

Ho_{1:} There is no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 10.33, the median score on the subscale of Adherence to Refill Medication Scale (ARMS) set by the scale developers for individual who follow their prescribed medication regimens.

Following are the results of the first null hypothesis for question 3.

Null hypothesis 1 showed that the observed mean of 10.71 for subscale 1 taking medication as prescribed and standard deviation (SD) was 2.40. There was no statistically significant difference from 10.71 t₍₅₁₎=1.14, p=.26. Therefore, the researcher failed to reject the null hypothesis. The null hypothesis states there is no significance difference in observed mean scores and the test value of 10.33; the researcher failed to reject this hypothesis at the .05 level. The 95% confidence interval for the difference of the observed mean scores for taking medication as prescribed ranged from -.29 to 1.05. The observed outcome is expected 26% of the time if the hypothesis is true. The results do not support that individuals with vision impairment follow their prescribed medication regimens as measured by the ARMS. In other words, there was not sufficient evidence to support that individuals with vision impairment took their prescription medication on schedule or the way that the medication was prescribed.

Results for Research Question Four

The fourth research question was "To what extent do individuals with vision impairment refill their medication on scheduled as measured by Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS)?" The second null hypothesis was formulated to answer research question 4.

Ho₂: There was no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 5.99, the median score on the subscale of Adherence to Refills and Medication (ARMS) for individuals who refill their medication on schedule.

Following are the results of the second null hypothesis for question 4.

Ho_{2:} showed the observed mean of 6.13 for the subscale for refilling medication on schedule and the standard deviation (SD) of 1.794. There was no significant difference from 6.13, t(51) = .581, p = .56. Therefore, the researcher failed to reject the null hypothesis.

The null hypothesis states that there is no statistically significant difference in the observed mean and the test valve of 5.99; the researcher failed to reject the null hypothesis at the .05 level. The 95% confidence interval for the difference ranged from -.35 to .64 on the observed means scores for refilling prescribed medication on schedule. The observed outcome is expected to occur 56% of the time if the null hypothesis is true. However, the evidence does not support individuals with vision impairments refill their medication on schedule or as indicated on their prescription.

Results for Research Question Five

The fifth research question was "To what extent do individuals with vision impairments feel confident in their ability to manage their medication independently as measured by the Self-Efficacy Adherence Medication Scale (SEAMS)?" The following third null hypothesis was formulated to answer research question 5.

Ho_{3:} There was statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 26, which is the midpoint on the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS) for individuals with vision impairments feelings of confidence in their ability to manage their medication independently.

The following are the results of the third null hypothesis for question 5.

Null hypothesis 3 showed the observed mean 29.0 on all 13 items on the SEAMS scale and the standard deviation was 6.817. There was a statistically significant difference from 29

t(51)= 3.17, p=.003. Therefore, the researcher rejected the null hypothesis, which states there is no significance in the observed scores and the test value 26 is the mid-point on the SEAMS for individuals with vision impairments feelings of confidence in their ability to manage their medication independently. The researcher rejected the null hypothesis at the .05 level. The 95% confidence interval for the difference in the observed mean scores in all items on the SEAMS ranged from 1.10 to 4.90. The observed outcome is expected to occur 32% of the time if the hypothesis is true. In other words, there is a statistically significant difference, which supports the statement that individuals with vision impairment were somewhat confident to very confident in their perception of self-efficacy for appropriate medication use.

Results for Research Question Six

The sixth research question was "To what extent is there a difference in the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments who use assistive technology/aids in taking their medications and individuals who do not use technology/aids in taking medication as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS)?" The fourth null hypothesis was formulated to answer research question 6.

Ho₄: There is no statistically significant difference in mean scores on the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS) for individuals with vision impairments who use assistive aids in taking their medications and those who do not use assistive aids. The following are the results of the fourth null hypothesis for question 6.

Null hypothesis four showed that the sample mean score was 27.81 for the use of assistive technology to take medication (SD = 5.59). However, for participants that indicated that they did not use technology/aids to take their medications, the mean score was 30.19 and the standard deviation (SD) was 7.79.

The results indicated the following for participants that did use technology/aids to take their medications and those that did not use technology/aids to take their medications at the .05 level; t(50) = 1.269, p = .21. There is no statistically significant difference in the mean scores on the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS) of individuals with vision impairments who use assistive aids in taking their medications and those who do not use assistive aids. Therefore, the researcher failed to reject the null hypothesis at the .05 level.

There were no statistically significant differences between the users and the non-users of assistive technology/aids feeling confident to take their medication. The results also suggested that whether individuals are users or non-users of assistive technology/aids, it does not influence their confidence level in taking of medication.

Summary

This chapter discussed the results of the data analysis. Descriptive data presented in this chapter summarizes the demographic characteristics of individuals with vision impairments used in this study. The majority of the population with vision impairments was males. For type of vision impairment, among the leading causes of vision loss was marked 'Other' with the majority of 'Other' (32%) representing blind at birth. The majority of the sample population was between 58 to 66 years of age, married, held a master's degree, retired, and living with spouse.

The majority of participants also indicated that they traveled independently outside of the home and their travel methods. Of the sample population that traveled, most participants traveled outside the home independently, by car, and the least was by wheelchair, bus, and walking alone independently.

Ability to take medication was addressed by the sample population. The majority of the sample population indicated that they did not require assistance in taking their medication, they

did not use assistive technology/aids in taking their medication, and they did not use assistive technology/aids in taking their medication.

Ability to see was addressed by the sample population. The majority of the sample population indicated that they were able to read the large headings in the newspaper; however, they were unable to read the small print on the newspaper and they were unable to read medication labels. Also, the majority of the sample population indicated that they were able to see their medication pills but still required assistance of others in reading newspaper or medication information.

There were four open ended-questions that addressed coping methods used for taking medications. The following themes were generated:

- (a) Organizing Medication by Pill Box or Container
- (b) Unable to Read
- (c) Health Deterioration (physical or mental)
- (d) Talking Device or Script-Talk Device

The chapter also provided the results on three questions that used the one sample t-test. The questions examined individuals' with vision impairment ability to follow their prescribed medication regimens as measured by the Adherence to Refill Medication Scale (ARMS), ability to refill medication on schedule as measured by Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS), and individuals' with vision impairments feeling confident in their ability to manage their medication independently as measured by the Self-Efficacy Adherence Medication Scale (SEAMS).

The last question was examined using an independent sample t-test. This question examined the difference in the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments who use assistive technology/aids in taking medications and individuals who do not use technology/aids

in taking to access medication as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS).

There was only one statistically significant difference with the use of the t-test while three questions were not statistically significant. An overview of this study, summary of results, limitations, implications, conclusion, recommendations for practical applications, and summary are present in Chapter V.

CHAPTER V. OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY

The problem of non-adherence to medication regimens has received much attention during the last decade, but limited research has been done to examine self-efficacy and medication adherence for individuals with vision impairment. Individuals with vision with impairments have challenges in accessing information and managing their medication. The challenges that exist for this population in taking their medication as prescribed as well as their confidence level in taking their medication has not been thoroughly examined.

The purpose of the study was to investigate the self-efficacy and medication adherence of individuals with vision impairments. The study also investigated an individual's confidence level associated with tasks such as ability to read medication labels, ability to take medication as prescribed, and use of assistive technology/aids when taking medication. The study also examined such factors as coping methods in taking medication, barriers to taking medication, consequences of not taking medication, and assistive technology/aids used in taking medication.

The focus of this study was individuals with vision impairments, perception of their ability to take prescribed medication, participants' ability to refill their medication on schedule, participants feeling confident in their ability to manage their medication independently, and differences in the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments who use or do not use assistive technology/aids in taking medication. Participants were individuals with a type of vision impairment that ranged from legally blind to totally blind. The participants held membership in at least one of three organizations in the State of Georgia that provide services

and advocacy to populations with vision impairments. Members of organizations such as Columbus Chapter of Georgia Council for the Blind, Columbus Chapter of the National Federation of the Blind, and the Regional Group of the Blinded Veterans Association were participants. The organizations represent members residing in the State of Georgia. The demographic characteristics used in this study were gender, type of vision impairment, marital status, age range, education, current employment status, housing arrangement, travel independently outside the house travel methods, assistance in taking medications, use of assistance technology to take medication, ability to read large print on newspaper headings, ability to read small print on newspaper, ability to read medication labels, ability to see the medication pills, and need for assistance from others in reading.

Sources of data were collected from the members of the three organizations that participated in the study. Participation was voluntary and participants responded to surveys as self-reported (independently) or by using a proxy. Presidents of each of the organizations were contacted through electronic email. They were also sent a letter requesting their participation, information about the study, and a request to attend the organization's meeting to discuss the projects, solicit their support, and to answer any questions. There were 52 participants that completed surveys, representing both males and females with vision impairments holding membership in at least one of the three organizations.

Adherence behavior has mostly been investigated in the areas of disease factors, patient characteristics, referral and appointment process, therapeutic regimens and patient-provider interaction (American Foundation for the Blind [AFB], 2005; Ho, Bryson, & Rumsfeld, 2009; Kripalani, Risser, Gatti, & Jacobson, 2009). Adherence behavior is considered active voluntary

and collaborative involvement of the individual in behavior that is mutually acceptable and behavior that produces a therapeutic result (Ho, Bryson, & Rumsfeld, 2009).

However, there has been limited research on self-efficacy and medication adherence for individuals with vision impairment. An individual's ability to safely manage their healthcare is influenced by their ability to access information regarding their healthcare and medication.

Obtaining necessary health related information such as medication, types of prescriptions, doses, side effects, appointments and so on impact one's healthcare.

Self-efficacy has been used to explain a wide range of health behaviors associated with medication adherence. Self-efficacy has been defined as an individual's personal belief regarding their capabilities to carry out a specific task to achieve a desired outcome. As a result, adherence is defined in the literature as the extent to which individuals take medications as prescribed by their health care provider (Ho, Bryson, & Rumsfeld, 2009; Ogedegbe, Mancuso, Allegrante, & Charlson, 2003).

On the other hand, there has been little research involving self-efficacy and medication adherence among individuals with vision impairment. Most of the research involving self-efficacy has been in healthcare and has been shown to predict a wide range of health behaviors including medication adherence (Ogedegbe, Mancuso, Allegrante, & Charlson, 2003). Healthcare providers are becoming increasingly aware of the significance of medication adherence to health management and ways to detect non-adherence to medication adherence. Medication non-adherence is a significant public health problem; individuals that are non-adherent to their medication do not readily divulge such information unless they are given specific reasons to do so. Health-related issues continue to be of great concern for individuals with vision impairments. Information regarding their healthcare and prescribed medication is

often not accessible to them. Individuals with vision impairment have difficulty with reading what is considered normal print. Often, individuals with vision impairments are unable to read or gain access to information necessary for managing their healthcare (AFB, 2014; MacLaughlin, et al., 2005; Prime, 2012).

The significance of the study has both practical and theoretical applications. In practical terms, addressing issues associated with self-efficacy of individuals with vision impairments helps to identify problems associated with taking medication, access to medical information and adherence to a medication regimen that would impact one's ability to manage their healthcare. When individuals are able to access information, adhere to their medication regimens, meet scheduled medical appointments, and meet urgent care visits, they are better able to understand the importance of adhering to recommendations made by their healthcare provider.

Self-efficacy in medication management, independence in managing one's care, and the cost effectiveness and practice of preventive care helps individuals to better understand the importance of adhering to their recommended healthcare plan. In addition, to being aware of the demographic characteristics of participants, this information also suggest that we need further options for accessing information and for managing medication. This information can be used to provide an awareness of the challenges, as well as improved services to individuals with vision impairments in accessing their health information and services. This study will also add to the limited body of knowledge on self-efficacy and medication adherence among the population of individuals with vision impairments in the country

Summary of Results

This study investigated the answers to the following research questions: (1) What are the demographic and personal information related to medication taking that was selected for this

study in terms of (a) gender, (b) type of vision impairment, (c) marital status, (d) age range, (e) education, (f) current employment status, (h) housing arrangement, (i) travel independently outside the house (j) travel methods, (k) assistance in taking medications, (l) use of assistance technology to take medication, (m) ability to read large print on newspaper headings, (n) ability to read small print on newspaper, (o) ability to read medication labels, (p) ability to see the medication pills, and (q) need for assistance from others in reading. Research question two consisted of four open-ended questions: (a) What coping methods do you use in taking your medications? (b) What are the greatest barriers to taking medication? (c) If you missed or have not taken your medications, what has been the consequence? (d) What assistive technology do you use to take your medications? Research question three stated, "To what extent do individuals with vision impairments follow their prescribed medication regimens as measured by the Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS)?" Research question four stated, "To what extent do individuals with vision impairments refill their medication on schedule as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Scale (SEAMS)? Research question five stated, "To what extent do individuals with vision impairments feel confident in their ability to manage their medication independently as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS)? Research question six stated, "To what extent is there a difference in the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments who use assistive technology/aids in taking their medications and individuals who do not use technology/aids in taking medication as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS)?

Question one addressed the demographics of individuals with vision impairments that were members in at least one of the three non-profit organizations representing the blind and

visually impaired in the State of Georgia. Frequencies and percentage tabulations were computed on the participant's demographic information. Of the 52 individuals that were visually impaired in the study, the majority were males (59.6%). Females were represented by 40.4% of the participants with vision impairments. Type of vision impairment was "Other" (36.5%) with Blind at Birth the leading of the 'Other" responses. The next highest response for type of vision impairment was glaucoma and retinitis pigmentosa (21.2% for both types). Approximately 59.6% of the participants were between 49 to 66 years of age and 46.2% were married.

The highest education level of the participants was college graduate at 26.9%, followed by high school (25%), categories of mater's degree and master's degree and beyond reflected the same results (21.2%). Of the 52 participants with vision impairment, 42.3% were retired and 32.7% were employed (part-time and full-time).

In terms of housing arrangement, 53.8% resided with their spouse and 28.8% lived alone. Of the participants that traveled outside of their home, 67.3% traveled independently and 32.7% did not travel outside of their home independently. The participants with vision impairment used several methods of traveling as their preferred choice. The travel methods included 84.6% car method, 19.2% taxi method, 48% bus method, 5.8% wheelchair method, 42.3% mobility cane, 32.7% sighted guide method, 25% support cane method, and 19.2 walked alone independently.

For taking medication with assistance, 28% did not require assistance. Fifty-three percent (52.8%) did not use assistive technology/aids when taking their medication. Of the participants with vision impairment, 42.3% were able to read large print such as newspaper headings. Only 9.6% were able to read small print on the newspaper. In addition, 21.1% of the participants were able to read the medication labels and 32.7% were able to see their medication

pills. However, 86.5% of the participants with vision impairment when reading required the assistance of others.

Question two identified coping methods in taking medication for participants with vision impairments in the study. The four open-ended questions generated the following themes from each question. Coping methods used in taking medication generated the theme, 'use of pill box or other container'. For the identification of greatest barriers to taking medication generated the theme, 'not able to read medication labels'. Coping methods when not taking medication and the consequences generated the theme 'deteriorated health' (mental, physical). Coping method on assistance technology/aids used when taking medication generated the theme 'voice over devices/script-talk devices'.

Question three investigated the extent to which individuals with vision impairments follow their prescribed medication regimens as measured by the Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS). The null hypothesis Ho₁ used to address this question found no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 10.33, the median score on the subscale of the Adherence to Refill Medication Scale (ARMS) set by the scale developers, for individuals who follow their prescribed medication regimens. The results of the one-sample t-test procedure indicated that in terms of individuals with vision impairments following their prescribed medication regimens as measured by the ARMS, did not support that individuals in the sample followed their medication regimens.

Question four investigated the extent to which individuals with vision impairments refill their medication on schedule as measured by the Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS). The following hypothesis was used to address the question.

Ho₂: There was no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 5.99, the median score on the subscale of the Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS) for individuals who refill their medication on schedule. The results of the one-sample t-test procedure indicated that in terms of individuals with vision impairment refilling their medication on schedule as measured by the ARMS, it did not support that individuals refilled their medication on schedule.

Question five investigated to what extent individuals with vision impairments feel confident in their ability to manage their medication independently as measured by the Self-Efficacy Adherence Medication Scale (SEAMS). The following hypothesis was used to address this question:

Ho₃: There was no statistically significant difference in observed scores and the test value of 26, which is the midpoint on the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scales (SEAMS) for individuals with vision impairments feeling of confidence in their ability to manage their medication independently.

The results of the one-sample t-test procedure indicated that in terms of individuals with vision impairment feeling confident in their ability to manage their medication as measured by the SEAMS, results indicated that there is a statistically significant difference to support the statement that individuals with vision impairments were somewhat confident to very confident in their perception of self-efficacy for appropriate medication use.

Question six investigated to what extent is there a difference in the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments who use assistive technology/aids in taking their medications and individuals who do not use technology/aids in taking medication as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS). There is no significant

difference in the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments who use assistive technology/aids in taking their medications and individuals who do not use technology/aids in taking medication. For individuals with vision impairments who use assistive technology/aids in taking their medications and those who do not use assistive technology/aids, the results of the independent sample t-test procedure indicated that in terms of individuals with vision impairments confidence level the results did not support that there was a significant difference in the confidence level of those that used assistive technology/aids and confidence levels of those that did not use assistive technology.

Limitations

The findings of this research study were based entirely on individuals with vision impairments that were members of at least one of the three nonprofit organizations identified that provide services to individuals with vision impairments in the State of Georgia. The results must be interpreted with caution for three reasons. First, the term 'vision impairment' is defined to include a range of visual diagnoses, indicating that the range of vision will also vary. The level of vision may be adequate to meet the needs of some individuals and when used on other levels it may be an inhibitor for various other tasks. Therefore, there may have been individuals with vision impairments as well as being diagnosed as legally blind or having low vision that have some vision to meet their needs for managing their medication independently, but poor in doing other tasks. In addition, there may have been participants that were vision impaired but not to the extent that one would be identified as legally blind but only low vision.

Second, the population for this study was limited to individuals with vision impairments that held membership in one of the following nonprofit organizations: Columbus Chapter of the Georgia Council for the Blind, Columbus Chapter of the Regional Group of the Blinded

Veterans Association and the Columbus Chapter of the National Federation of the Blind. Third, the results may not be representative of individuals with vision impairments since the sample from this study was obtained from only three non-profit advocacy organizations located in the State of Georgia.

Despite these limitations, this study provides information that will be useful in medication adherence research for this population. It may provide information that may be useful in understanding the role of self-efficacy and medication management for individuals with vision loss as well as understanding the need to provide reasonable accommodations for individuals with vision impairment in accessing health-related information so that they may manage their healthcare independently.

Conclusion

To the extent that the data collected in this study were valid and reliable and the assumptions of the study were appropriate and correct, the following conclusions may be made. Based on the results of this study, it may be concluded that there were more males than females that participated voluntarily in the study specifically males represented 59.6% of the population surveyed. For type of vision impairment represented, 36.5% were other (blind at birth was the leading response), whereas 42.4% represented glaucoma and retinitis pigmentosa combined. Having vision impairment impacts one's ability to see as well as read print of various sizes. It especially impacts one's ability to read and interpret print since 57.7% were unable to read large print such as the headings in newspaper. There were 90.4% that indicated that they could not see the small print provided in the newspaper. Labeling of medication along with other printed medication information is usually written in small print. In many cases, information provided in small print does not give individuals with vision impairments access to medical information

(AFB, 2005, 2008b; Drummond, Drummond, & Dutton, 2004; Eustace, Johnson, & Gault, 1982). It is also noteworthy to mention that in education level, 42.4% reflected master's degree and master's degree and beyond, while 26.9% were college graduates. This information reflects that the population is assumed to be literate to the extent that they are able to understand and interpret information regarding healthcare such as meeting scheduled appointments, medication regimens for taking medication, confidence in being able to take medication, and arranging traveling for appointments (Morisky, Green, & Levine, 1986; Ogedegbe, Mancuso, Allegrante, & Charlson, 2003). Participants appeared to have mastered the skill to address their needs or are able to ask and seek assistance in obtaining the help that is required to achieve a satisfactory outcome.

Sixty-seven percent indicated that they could not see their medication bill. Reading labels was unable to be achieved by 79%. In other words, the participants required some assistance, either through human and/or technology intervention, to acquire information regarding their medication such as the type of medication, when to take the medication, what medications looked like, how much to take, potential side effects, what to do if medication is missed, when is the medication refilled, etc.

Having access to information regarding one's medication, being able to care for one's self and managing one's care is an important element in healthcare management and quality of life (Jacobs, Hammerman-Rozenberg, Maaravi, Cohen, & Stessman, 2005; Varma, Wu, Chong, Azen, & Hays, 2006). Participants provided their individual responses to open-ended questions regarding coping methods when taking medication. The responses fell into a central theme category of 'organizing medications'. Some level of assistance is still required in this task.

Results reflected that the majority of the participants for this question organized their

medications in medication containers or other containers, i.e. bottles of different sizes, labeled some, etc. Also, the central theme for the remaining questions fell into the categories of 'not being able to read the medication labels', 'health deterioration', and 'voice-over devices' that provided information to them regarding an item or 'script-talk device' that actually read the prescription label and provided other relevant information to the listener.

Even more important to note that a central theme category was 'health deterioration' if they missed their medication or did not take their medication. When examining the means of those that follow their prescribed medication regimen (10.71) and the test value (10.33), the results indicated there is no evidence to support that individuals with vision impairments take their medications as prescribed as measured by the ARMS. The taking of medication as prescribed was not statistically significantly different as measured by the ARMS for this study. At the same time, when examining if individuals with vision impairments, refilled their medication on schedule (6.13) and the test value (5.99), the results indicated that there is also no sufficient evidence to support the statement that individuals with vision impairments refill their medication on schedule as measured by the SEAMS. Refilling medication on schedule was not statistically significantly different as measured by the SEAMS.

When examining the mean score for the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments who use assistive technology/aids in taking their medication (27.81) and those that did not (30.19) as measured by the SEAMS with a test for equality variance (1.269) and the test for equality of means (2.385). Results indicated that the confidence level of individuals using assistive technology/aid in taking their medication and the confidence level of those that used no technology in taking their medication showed no statistically significant difference on the SEAMS. However, the difference for those who do use assistance was at the .07 level.

The results for feeling confident in their ability to manage their medication independently were different. The mean score was 29.0 for feeling confident in their ability to manage their medication as measured by SEAMS with a test value of 26. Results indicated that feeling confident in their ability to manage their medication showed a statistical significant difference when measured by the SEAMS. Results show that the evidence support the statement that individuals with vision impairment in the study feel somewhat confident to very confident in their ability to manage their medication as measured by the SEAMS.

Implications

The results of this study indicate several implications. First, the results of this study imply that individuals with vision impairments have challenges in reading the labels on their medication prescription, which also present some challenges in being able to take medication independently and as prescribed. The majority of individuals with vision impairments require some assistance in taking their medication, whether it is from the assistance of other individuals or through assistive technology/aids. In fact, the results provide no evidence to support that individuals with vision impairments follow their prescribed medication regimens and that they refill their medication as scheduled. In addition, the results did no provide evidence to support a difference in the confidence level of individuals with vision impairment who use technology/aids in taking their medications and the confidence level of individuals who do not use assistive technology/aids. However, the majority of individuals in the study indicated that some level of assistance was needed in adhering to their medication regimens. These responses suggest that efforts to enhance accessibility as well as enhance voice-over devices are necessary to help inform this population of their medication needs.

The majority of the population surveyed was adults age 58 to 66 that were responsible for their healthcare management. An impediment to managing one's health and caring for one's self medically is having the necessary information as well as having access to information. It is imperative that individuals with vision impairments are able to access information and other necessary health-related information that is also available to sighted individuals. Overall, individuals with vision impairments have challenges in accessing various information regarding medication regimens and other health-related issues.

However, individuals with vision impairments feel 'somewhat confident' to 'very confident' in their ability to manage their medication as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS). When managing their medical care and/or medication regimens methods that are sufficient to them are incorporated into their repertoire to obtain their desired outcome.

Therefore, one could assume that individuals with vision impairment have some challenges in obtaining their medication and travel, but feel somewhat confident to very confident in their management of their medication. Medication information is not always readily accessible; however, avenues to access that information have been established. They may include such things as use of others and assistive technology/aids. Furthermore, the results indicated that the majority of the participants support their healthcare through various types of medication management. Society must become more inclusive in the medical field for all individuals including those with disabilities seeking medical as well as pharmaceutical services. It is important that service providers realize that it is necessary to incorporate equal access for individuals using different formats to access information. The values of independence, productivity, and inclusion are goals for various service delivery systems. These goals should be

used in among all service delivery systems to help individuals with vision impairments and other disabilities to gain access to needed information.

Results imply that individuals with vision impairments require the assistance of others in many tasks that require reading. Even though assistance is provided to them in some manner, they feel somewhat confident to very confident in how they manage their medication. They also feel that they are independent in many aspects in regard to their medication management.

Recommendations

The research for this study focused on the confidence level of individual's with vision impairments in taking their medication as well as if they followed their medication regimens as prescribed. This research further investigated individuals with vision impairments perception of their ability to read medication labels and the use of assistive technology/aids when managing their medication. Research that encompasses a larger population in other states is needed to obtain a representative sample and explore the prevalence and challenges that exist for individuals with vision impairments in taking their medication and following their medication regimens.

The study was designed so that it could be replicated at other organizations and agencies providing services to individuals with vision impairments as well as for other disciplines studying this topic such as medical, pharmacy, rehabilitation, etc. In addition, future research could expand the scope and identify specific methods to address the needs of individuals with vision loss recognizing that vision loss consist of different levels and it must be addressed in many ways. The literature suggests that there are no national requirements established for the format of medication labeling on prescription medication. Currently medication labeling is not

acceptable for individuals with vision loss (American Foundation for the Blind [AFB], 2005, 2008b).

In managing one's medication there are also safety issues that must be considered. Vision loss affects one's ability to take medication as prescribed as well as take the correct medication at the right time (AFB, 2005, 2008b; McFeely, 2009). According to AFB, vision loss affects the ability to read labels on prescriptions, and determines shape, color and any markings on medication. Vision loss also affects individuals' ability to see to operate various types of medical devices and requires the assistance of others in managing those devices. These conditions impact the safety and well-being of individuals with vision impairments (AFB, 2008b; NFB, 2004).

Another major point of interest for this sample population was travel. Most of the individuals who responded did not travel outside their home independently. Therefore, in many cases, in order to access medication, participants also required the assistance of others.

Transportation can be another area to explore to enhance access to medication independently. How society addresses these issues is important because these issues have a great impact on this population's ability to manage their care. It is important that individuals with vision impairment be informed regarding their medication, because it limits the chance of taking the wrong medication, at the wrong time, and the wrong amount. Safety is a major concern when individuals are not clearly aware of their medications and information regarding the medication (AFB, 2008; McFeely, 2009).

It is important to note that individuals in the study identified coping methods that they used in taking their medications as well as barriers that they feel contribute to their non-adherence to their medication regimen. Having this type of information helps agencies and

organizations at the federal, state, and non-profit levels in developing programs and resources that aid in enhancing accessibility for individuals with vision impairments (AFB, 2008b; NFB, 2004).

The findings in this study showed no significant difference in three of the four questions. Individuals with vision impairments efforts in following their medication regimens showed no evidence to support that they followed their medication regimens. We recognize that this is an important factor in taking medication and managing one's medication. Medication is not effective if it is not taken correctly (McFeely, 2009; Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). It is also necessary for the care and overall functioning of some individuals. It can also be a life or death situation for others (Ho, Bryson, & Rumsfeld, 2009; Ogedegbe, Mancuso, Allegrante, & Charlson, 2003; Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005).

Another area that showed no difference was the refilling of medication on schedule. This area should be further explored and expanded to identify how medication is obtained. Inhibitors should be identified that prevent individuals with vision impairments from obtaining their medications to have it readily available when they need to take it. Does a factor such as transportation influence their ability to have on-hand medication when they need to take it? What is the current trend for this population in accessing their medication? How are they able to refill their medication? How are individuals with vision impairments able to access their necessary medication, and the side effects, instructions, etc.?

The confidence level of those individuals who use assistive technology/aids to take their medication and those who do not use assistive technology to take their medication also showed no difference. Assistive technology has been considered the equalizer that afforded individuals with disabilities such as individuals with vision impairments the opportunity to be independent in

taking their medication. Assistive technology is considered an equalizer for many individuals with disabilities. Exploring avenues to meet the needs of individual with vision impairments through assistive technology is also necessary for these items to be accessible and affordable to individuals that need them.

The results indicated that individuals with vision impairment have challenges in being able to take their medication, following their medication regimen, and refilling their medication. Also in this study, there was no evidence to support a difference in the confidence level of users and non-users of assistive technology/aids. In spite of the challenges individuals with vision impairments had in the study, they felt confident in their ability to manage their medication independently. The results showed a statistically significant difference.

Further research in this area also should be explored to determine what specific elements make an individual feel confident in taking their medication and what specific influence it has on individuals with vision impairments taking medication. How can those elements be shared or transferred to other populations of individuals with vision impairments that have similar challenges?

Summary

The focus of this study was self-efficacy and medication adherence of individuals with vision impairment. The focus was further delineated by investigating the confidence level of individuals with vision impairments associated with tasks such as ability to read medication labels, ability to take medications as prescribed, and use of assistive technology. Participants represented at least one of the three non-profit, advocacy organizations in the State of Georgia. The results of the study indicated that individuals with vision impairments feel 'somewhat' 'confident' to 'confident' in their ability to manage their medications independently.

REFERENCES

- Administration on Aging (AOA). (2006). *A profile of older Americans 2006*. Retrieved on December 12, 2010, from http://www.aoa.acl.gov/Aging_Statistics/Profile/2006/index.aspx
- American Council of the Blind (ACB). (2012). *ACB's statement on best practices for prescription drug labeling*. Retrieved on June 6, 2013, from http://www.access-board.gov/drug-labels/acb.htm
- American Foundation for the Blind (AFB). (2014). Guidelines for prescription labeling and consumer medication information for people with vision loss a collaborative project of American society of consultant pharmacists foundation and American foundation for the blind. Retrieved on February 15, 2014 from http://www.afb.org/info/programs-and-services/public-policy-center/guidelines-for-prescription-labeling/125
- American Foundation for the Blind (AFB). (2013). Expanding possibilities for people with vision loss. Retrieved on March 3, 2014, from www.afb.org/directory.aspx?action=profile&accountID-4524
- American Foundation for the Blind (AFB). (2011). Food and drug administration's study on accessible prescription labels. Retrieved on August 19, 2011 from http://www.afb.org/Section.asp?SectionID=3&TopicID=329&DocumentID=3629

- American Foundation for the Blind (AFB). (2009). National poll on severe vision loss/blindness. *Senior Site Key Findings*. Retrieved May 20, 2009, from http://www.afb.org/seniorsite.
 http://www.afb.org/seniorsite.
- American Foundation for the Blind (AFB). (2008a). Common causes of vision impairment.

 Retrieved on August 18, 2008, from http://www.afb.org/seniorsite.asp?

 SectionID=63&TopicID=286
- American Foundation for the Blind (AFB). (2008b). New prescription labeling guidelines promote medication safety for people with vision loss. Retrieved on October 22, 2014 from http://www.afb.org/info/about-us/press-room/press-release-archive/new-pr...
- American Foundation for the Blind (AFB). (2007). Vision and other medical conditions.

 Retrieved on June 13, 2007, from

 http://www.afb.org/seniorsite.asap?sectionID=63&TopicID=291
- American Foundation for the Blind (AFB). (2005). Guidelines for prescription labeling and consumer medication information for people with vision loss. Retrieved on May 17, 2005, from http://www.afb.org./Section.asp?SectionID=3&TopicID-329&DocumentID-4064&mode
- American Foundation for the Blind (AFB). (2004). *My medication education and advocacy*.

 Retrieved on December 10, 2004, from www.afb.org
- American Geriatrics Society (AGS) Foundation. (2007). *AGS foundation for health in aging*.

 Retrieved November 25, 2007, from https://theelderlies.wordpress.com/2005/10/17/ags-foundation-for-health-in-aging/
- American Geriatrics Society (AGS) Foundation for Health. (2005). Retrieved August 18, 2008, from http://www.healthinaging.org/agingintheknow/chapters-ch_trial.asp?ch=2

- American Society on Aging and American Society of Consultant Pharmacists Foundation (2012). *Adult medication improving medication in older adults*. Retrieved on May 10, 2012, from http://adultmeducation.com/
- American Society of Consultant Pharmacists Foundation. (2008). *Guidelines for prescription labeling and consumer medication information for people with vision loss*. Retrieved on

 January 20, 2011, from http://www.ascpfoundation.org/downloads/Rx-CMI%20Guidelines%20vision%20loss-FINAL2.pdf
- Ankri, J., Andrieu, S., Beaufils, B., Grand, A., & Henrard, J. C. (2005). Beyond the global score of the Zarit Durden interview: Useful dimensions for clinicians. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychology*, 20, 254–260.
- Aspinall, P., Johnson Z., Azuara-Blanco A., Montarzino, A., Brice, R., & Vickers, A. (2008, May). Evaluation of quality of life and priorities of patients with glaucoma. *Investigative Ophthalmology Vision Science*, 49(5), 19.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: Freeman.
- Bandura, A. (1977a). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1977b). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change.

 Psychological Review, 84, 191–215.
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational Psychologist*, 28, 117–148.
- Baranowski, T., Perry, C., & Parcel, G. (2002). How individuals, environments, and health behavior interact. In K. Glanz, B. K. Rimer, & F. M. Lewis (Eds.), *Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice* (3rd ed.; pp. 165–184). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Beach, S. (2005). Risk factors for potentially harmful informal caregiver behavior. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society*, 53, 255–261.
- Becker, S., Wahl, H., Schilling, O., & Burmedi, D. (2005). Assistive device use in visually impaired older adults: Role of control beliefs. *The Gerontologist*, 45, 739–746.
- Ben-Joseph, E., & Lehman, S. (2007). Visual impairment. *Teens Health*. Retrieved on May 25, 2010 from http://kidsheath.org
- Bernbaum, M., Albert, S. G., Duckro, P. A., & Merkel, W. (1993). Personal and family stress in individuals with diabetes and vision loss, *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 49(5), 670–677.
- Beverley, C. A., Bath, P. A., & Booth, A. (2004). Health information needs of visually impaired people: A systematic review of the literature. *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 12(1), 1–24.
- Blinded Veterans Association Georgia Regional Group (BVAGRG). (2009). *Georgia Regional Group Blinded Veterans Association*. Retrieved on March 10, 2014, from http://www.grgbva.org/history.aspx
- Boerner, K., & Cimarolli, V. (2005). Optimizing rehabilitation for adults with visual impairment: Attention to life goals and their links to well-being. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 19, 790–798.
- Bournias, T. (2008). Glaucoma: The quality of life factor. *Review of Ophthalmology*. Retrieved August 23, 2008, from http://www.revophth.com/index.asp?page=1_607.htm
- Brennan, M., Horowitz, A., & Su, Y. (2005). Dual sensory loss among older Americans:

 Prevalence and impact on activities of daily living. *The Gerontologist*, 45(3), 337–346.
- Brown, G. C. (1999). Vision and quality of life. *Transactions of the American Ophthalmology Society*, 97, 473–511.

- Brown, G. C., Brown, M., Sharma, S., Brown, H., Gozum, M., & Denton, P. (2000). Quality of life associated with diabetes mellitus in an adult population. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications*, 14(1), 18–24.
- Brown, L., Falvey, M., Vincent, L., Kaye, N., Johnson, F., Ferrara-Parrish, P., & Grunewald, L. (1980). Strategies for generating comprehensive, longitudinal, and chronological age appropriate individual educational plans for adolescent and young adult severely handicapped students. *Journal of Special Education*, 14(2), 199–215.
- Brown, M., & Bussell, J. (2011). Medication adherence: Who cares? *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 86(4), 304–314.
- Burmedi, D., Becker, S., Heyl, V., Wahl, H., & Himmelsbach, I. (2002). Emotional and social consequences of age-related low vision. *Visual Impairment Research*, 4(1), 47–71.
- Carlson, D., Ehrlich, N., Berland, B. J., & Bailey, N. (2001). Assistive technology survey results:

 Continued benefits and needs reported by Americans with disabilities. Retrieved on

 November 11, 2008, from

 http://www.ncddr.org/products/researchexchange/v07n01/atpaper/
- Carthwaite, T., & Garner, D. (2002). Visual impairment and blindness, independent study course.

 Department of Veterans Affairs Employee Education System, A Continuing Medical

 Education Program, Employee Education System.
- Casciato, D. (2007, May). Assistive technology devices improve seniors' quality of life.

 Allegheny County Department of Human Services, Area Agency on Aging Connections,
 Pittsburgh Senior News.
- Casten, R., & Rovner, B. (2008). Depression in age-related macular degeneration. *Journal Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 102(10), 591–600.

- Castor, T. D., & Carter, T. L. (1995). Low vision: Physician screening helps to improve patient function. *Geriatrics*, 50(12), 51–57.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2012). Vision and eye health data & statistics. Retrieved on March 2013, from http://www.cdc.gov/visionhealth/data/index.htm
- Chlebowy, D., & Garvin, B. (2006). Social support, self-efficacy, and outcome expectations: impact on self-care behaviors and glycemic control in Caucasian and African American adults with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Educator*, 32(5), 777–786.
- Choosing Life Skills. (1998). *Archived information*. Retrieved on January 30, 2009, from http://www.ed.gov/offices/OVAE/AdultEd/OCE/LifeSkills/intro.html
- Chou, R., Dana T., & Bougatsos, C. (2009). Screening older adults for impaired visual acuity: a review of the evidence for the U.S Preventive Services Task Force. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *151*(1), 44–58. Retrieved on June 13, 2013, from http://annals.org/article.aspx?articleid=744565
- Cimarolli, V. R., Boerner, K., & Wang, S. (2006). Life goals in vision rehabilitation: Are they addressed and how? *Journal of Vision Impairment and Blindness*, 100, 343–352.
- Clinton, J. J. (1993, February). Cataracts in adults: Management of functional impairment.

 Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, Department of Health and Human

 Services, AHCPR Pub. No. 93-0542.
- Colbert, A., Sereika, S., & Erlen, J. (2012). Functional health literacy, medication-taking self-efficacy and adherence to antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69(2) 295–304.

- Congdon, N., O'Colmain, B., Klaver, C., Klein, R., Munoz, B., Friedman, D., Taylor, H., & Mitchell, P. (2004, April). Causes and prevalence of visual impairment among adults in the United States. *Archives of Ophthalmology*, *122*(4), 477–485.
- Congdon, N., Friedman D., Kempen, J., O'Colmain, B., & The Eye Disease Prevalence Study Group. (2002). The prevalence of clinically significant cataract, cataract surgery and related disabilities in the United States. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, 43, Abstract 937.
- Coogan, M. (2004). Vision loss from eye diseases will increase as Americans age. *Archives of Ophthalmology*, 122. Retrieved on February 21, 2010, from http://www.eurekalert.org/pubreleases/2004-04/nei-vlf0040704.php
- Coons, S. J., Sumati, R., Keininger, D. L., & Hays, R. D. (2000). A comparative review of generic quality-of-life instruments. *PharmacoEconomics*, 17(1), 13–35.
- Crews, J. E., & Campbell, V. A. (2001). Health conditions, activity limitations, and participation restrictions among older people with visual impairments. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 95, 453–467.
- Crews, J. E., Jones, G. C., & Kim, J. H. (2006). Double jeopardy: The effects of co-morbid conditions among older people with vision loss. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 100, 824–848.
- Crews, J. E., Kirchner, C., & Lollar, D. J. (2006). The view from the crossroads of public health and vision (Re)habilitation. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 100, 773–780.
- Davila, E., Cabon-Martinez, A., Muennig, P., Lee, D., Fleming, L., Ferraro, K., LeBlanc, W., Lam, B., Arheart, K., McCollister, K., Zheng, D., & Christ, S. (2009). Sensory

- impairment among older U.S. workers. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(8), 1378–1385.
- Davis, S. (2007, June). The price of vision report underscores need for cost-effective treatment prevention. *Ophthalmology Times*, 8.
- DeVellis, B. M., & DeVellis, R. F. (2000). Self-efficacy and health. In A. Baum, T. A. Revenson, & J. E. Singer (Eds.), *Handbook of health psychology*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Di Stefano, A., Huebner, K., Garber, M., & Smith, A. (2009). Community Services, Needs, and Resources in Visual Impairment: A 21st Century Public Health Perspective. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, American Foundation for the Blind, *100*, 793–805.
- Drummond, S., Drummond, R., & Dutton, G. (2004). Visual acuity and the ability of the visually impaired to read medication instructions. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*, 88, 1541–1542.
- Eisenberg, M., Glueckauf, R., & Zaretsky, H. (1993). *Medical aspects of disability: A handbook* for the rehabilitation professional. New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- EPIS Center. (2014). *Life Skills Training Program*. Retrieved July 24, 2010, from http://www.episcenter.psu.edu/ebp/lifeskills
- Evans, K., Law, S. K., Walt, J., Buchholz, P., & Hansen, J. (2009). The quality of life impact of peripheral versus central vision loss. *Clinical Ophthalmology*, *3*, 433–445.
- Feely, M., Vetere, A., & Myers, L. (2007). A qualitative analysis of reading rehabilitation in patients with age-related macular degeneration. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 101, 44–49.
- Feinberg, J., Rogers, P., & Sokol-McKay, D. (2009). Age-related eye disease and medication safety. *Annual Longterm Care*, 17, 17–22.

- Fletcher, D. C., Schuchard, R. A., Walker, J. P., & Raskauskas, P. A. (2008). Patients with macular disease, good visual acuity, and central visual field disruption and significant difficulties with activities of daily living. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 102, 656–658.
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. (1980). An analysis of coping in a middle-aged community sample. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 21, 219–239.
- Freeman, K., Cole, R., Faye, E., Freeman, P., Goodrich, G., & Stelmack, J. (2007). *Care of the patient with visual impairment. Low vision rehabilitation*. St. Louis, MO: American Optometric Association, Publishers.
- Friedman, D., Congdon, N., Kempen, J., & Tieisch, J. M. (2002). Vision problems in the U.S.:

 Prevalence of adult vision impairment and age-related eye disease in America. Prevent

 Blindness America, National Eye Institute, National Institutes of Health, 1–36.
- Friedman, D., Hahn, S., Gelb, L., Tan, J. Shah, S., Kim, E., Zimmerman, T., & Quigley, H. (2008). Doctor-patient communication, health-related beliefs, and adherence in glaucoma. *American Academy of Ophthalmology*, 115, 1320–1327.
- Fuhr, P., Martinez, B., & Williams, M. (2008). Caregivers with visual impairments: A preliminary study. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 102(2), 89–96.
- Garnett, C., & Coogan, M., (2000). Low vision education can improve quality of life. Word on Health, The NIH Word on Health Archive. Retrieved on May 5, 2008, from http://nihrecord.nih.gov/newsletters/05_02_2000/main.htm
- Garrett, D. (2002). *More Americans facing blindness than ever before. NIH/NEI*. Retrieved on July 13, 2009, from http://www.nei.nih.gov/news/pressreleases/032002.asp

- Gatti, M., Jacobson, K., Gazmararian, J., Schmotzer, B., & Kripalani, S., (2009). Relationships between beliefs about medications and adherence. *American Journal of Health System Pharmacy*, 66(7), 657–664.
- Gazmararian, A., Kripalani, S., Miller, M., Echt, K., Ren, J., & Rask, K. (2006). Factors associated with medication refill adherence in cardiovascular-related diseases: A focus on health literacy. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 21(12), 1215–1221.
- Gellad, G., Hass, W., & Safran, D. (2007). Race/ethnicity and non-adherence to prescription medications among seniors: results of a national study. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22(11), 1572–1578.
- Georges, C., Bolton, L., & Bennett, C. (2004). Test of functional health literacy. *Journal of National Black Nurses' Association*, 15, 1.
- Goodship, J. (2012). *Life skills mastery for students with special needs*. ERIC Digest, E469.

 Retrieved on August 10, 2012, from http://www.ericdigests.org/pre-9216/life.htm
- Greig, D., West, M., & Overbury, O. (1986). Successful use of low vision aids: Visual and psychological factors. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 80(10), 985–989.
- Griffin-Shirley, N., Kelley, P., Matlock, D., & Page, A. (2006). Consumers' perspectives on effective orientation and mobility services for diabetic adults who are visually impaired. *Rehabilitation Education for Blindness and Visual Impairment*, 38 (2), 86–96.
- Guier, C. (2002). Recognizing and referring patients with low vision to appropriate rehabilitation specialists. Retrieved on September 20, 2009, from www.dcmsonline.org/jax-medicine/2000journals/.../lowvision.pdf

- Hays, R., Kraft, G., & Stolov, G. (1994). *Chronic disease and disability: A contemporary rehabilitation approach to the practice of medicine*. New York: Demos Medical Publishing.
- Hofstetter, C., Sallis, J., & Hovell, M. (1990). Some health dimensions of self-efficacy: analysis of theoretical specificity. *Social Science and Medicine*, *31*, 1051–1056.
- Horowitz, A., Brennan, M., Reinhart, J. P., & MacMillan, T. (2006). The impact of assistive device use on disability and depression among older adults with age-related vision impairments. *The Journals of Gerontology Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 61, 274–280.
- Horvat, M., Ray, C., Ramsey, V. R., Miszko, T., Keeney, R., & Blasch, B. B. (2003).

 Compensatory analysis and strategies for balance in individuals with visual impairments. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 695–703.
- Jampel, H. (2001). Glaucoma patients' assessment of their visual function, quality and quality of life. *American Ophthalmology Society*, *99*, 301–317.
- Janiszewski, R., Heath-Watson, S. L., Semidey, A. Y., Rosenthal, A. M., & Do, Q. (2006). The low visibility of low vision: Increasing awareness through public health education.
 Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness, 100, 849–852.
- Jeppesen, K., Coyle, J., & Miser, W. (2009). Screening questions to predict limited health literacy: A cross-sectional study of patients with diabetes mellitus. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2009, 7(1), 24–31.
- Jose, R. (1983). *Understanding low vision foundations*. New York: Foundation for the Blind.

- Jutai, J. W., Strong, S., & Russell-Minda, E. (2009). Effectiveness of assistive technologies for low vision rehabilitation: A systematic review. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 103(4), 210–313.
- Kalichman, S., Ramachandran, B., & Catz, S. (1999). Adherence to combination antiretroviral therapies in HIV patients with low health literacy. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 14, 267–273.
- Kalina, R. (1997). Seeing into the future: Vision and aging. *The Western Journal of Medicine*, 253–255.
- Kaufman, S. (2009). Developments in age-related macular degeneration: Diagnoses and treatment. *Geriatrics*, 64(3), 16–19.
- Kelly, S. M. (2009). Demographics of vision loss in the United States: Dealing with definitions. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 100, 185–186.
- Kington, R., Rogowski, J., Lillard, L., Lee, P.P. (1997). Functional associations of "trouble seeing." *Journal Genecology Intern Medicine*, *12*, 125–128.
- Knobbe, C. A., & Haddrill, M. (2008, December). Diabetic retinopathy. Archives of Ophthalmology. Retrieved on April 15, 2011 from http://www.Allaboutvision.com/conditions/diabetic.htm
- Koestler, F. (1976). The unseen minority: A social history of blindness in the United States. New York: McKay.
- Kripalani, S., Risser, J., Gatti, M., & Jacobson, T. (2009). Development and evaluation of the adherence to refills and medications scale (ARMS) among low-literacy patients with chronic disease. *Value Health*, *12*(1), 118–123.

- Laitinen, A., Koskinen, S., Rudanko, S., Martelin, T., Laatikainen, L., & Aroma, A. (2008). Use of eye care services and need for assistance in the visually impaired. *Optometry and Vision Science*, 85(5), 341–349.
- Lamoureux, E. L., Hassell, J. B., & Keeffe, J. E. (2004). The determinants of participation in activities of daily living in people with impaired vision. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*, 137(2), 265–270.
- Lamoureux, E. L., Pallant, J., Pesudovs, K., Rees, G., Hassell, J., & Keefe, J. (2007). The impact of vision impairment questionnaire: An assessment of its domain structure using confirmatory factor analysis and Rasch analysis. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 48(3), 1001–1006.
- Langelaan, M., deBoer, M., van Nispen, R., Wouters, B., Moll, A., & Van Rens, G. (2009).

 Change in quality of life after rehabilitation: Prognostic factors for visually impaired adults. *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research*, 32(1), 12–21.
- Latham, K., Waller, S., & Schaitel, J. (2011). Do best practice guidelines improve the legibility of pharmacy labels for the visually impaired? *Ophthalmic & Physiological Optics*, *31*, 275–282.
- Lauerman, J. (2000). Vision rehabilitation on low vision. *Hippocrates*, 14(2), 1–8.
- Lavsa, S., Holzworth, A., & Ansani, N. (2011). Selection of a validated scale for measuring medication adherence. *Journal of American Pharmacists Association*, 51(1), 90–94.
- Lee, J., Grace, K., & Taylor, A. (2006). Effects of a pharmacy care program on medication adherence and persistence, blood pressure, and low density lipoprotein cholesterol: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 296(21), 2563–2571.

- Lehman, S., & Ben-Joseph, E. (2007). Visual impairment. *Teens Health*. Retrieved on January 19, 2010, from http://kidshealth.org/teen/diseases_conditions/sight/visual_impairment.html
- Lentz, E., & Shortbridge-Baggett, E. (2002). Self-efficacy in nursing: Research and measurement perspective. New York: Springer.
- Levasseur, M., Desrosiers, J., St-Cyr Tribble, D. (2008). Do quality of life, participation and environment of older adults differ according to level of activity? *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 6(30). Retrieved on May 2009 from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2412860/
- Little, J. (2006). Effective and confidential communication of prescription information:

 Accommodating the blind and visual impaired. Retrieved on November 20, 2009, from http://www.Johnlittle.com/prescription_information.accommodating_the_Blind.pdf
- Lombardi, T. P., & Kennicutt, J. D. (2001). Promotion of safe medication environment: Focus on the elderly and residents of long-term care facilities. *Medscape Pharmacists*, 2(1), 23–38.
- Luszczynska, A., & Schwarzer, R. (2005). Multidimensional health locus of control: Comments on the construct and its measurement. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *10*, 633–642.
- MacLaughlin, E., Raehl, C., Treadway, A., Sterling, T., Zoller, D., & Bond, C. (2005). Assessing medication adherence in the elderly: Which tools to use in clinical practice? *Drugs & Aging*, 22(3), 231–255.
- Maddux, J., & Rogers, R. (1983). Protection motivation and self-efficacy: a revised theory of fear appeals and attitude change. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 19, 469–479.

- Maibach, E., & Flora, J., & Nass, C. (1991). Changes in self-efficacy and health behavior in response to a minimal contact community health campaign. *Health Communication*, *3*, 1–15.
- Maibach, E., & Murphy, D. (1995). Self-efficacy in health promotion research and practice:

 Conceptualization and measurement. *Health Education Research Theory and Practice*,

 10(1), 37–50.
- Margolis, M., Coyne, K., Kennedy-Martin, T., Baker, T., Schein, O., & Revicki, D. (2002).

 Vision-specific instruments for the assessment of health related quality of life and visual functioning: A literature review. *Pharmacoeconomics*, 20(12), 791–812.
- Martin, E. (2001). Significant disability issues affecting people with significant disabilities from a historical, policy, leadership, and systems perspective. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas Publisher, LTD.
- Massof, R. (2002). A model of the prevalence and incidence of low vision and blindness among adults in the U.S. *Optometry and Vision Science*, 79(1), 31–38.
- McFeely, C. (2009). *AFB survey finds drug labeling puts people with vision loss at serious*medical risk. Retrieved on February 21, 2011, from

 http://www.afb.org/Section.asp?SectionID=47&SubTopicID=43&DocumentID=4553
- McGwin, G. Jr., Li, J., McNeal, S., & Owsley, C. (2003). The impact of cataract surgery on depression among older adults. *Ophthalmic Epidemiology*, *10*, 303–313.
- McGwin, Jr, G., Xie, A., & Owsley, C. (2005). Rate of eye injury in the United States. *Archives of Ophthalmology*, 123(7), 970–976.

- McIlvane, J. M., & Reinhardt, J. D. (2001). Interactive effect of support from family and friends of visually impaired elders. *Journal of Gerontology: Psychological Sciences*, 56(3), 374–382.
- McKean-Cowdin, R., Varma, R., Wu, J., Hays, R., & Azen, S. (2007, June). Severity of visual field loss and health-related quality of life. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*, *143*(6), 1013–1023.
- McMahon, J., & Curtis, A. (2009). Methods of reading information on labels on prescription medications by persons who are visually impaired. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 103(5), 303–308.
- Meadows, M. (2002). Saving your sight—early detection is critical. *FDA Consumer Magazine*.

 Retrieved on August 18, 2008, from

 http://www.fda.gov/fdac/features/2002/202_eyes.html
- Mills, R., Janz, N., Wren, P., & Guire, K. (n.d.). Correlation of visual field with quality-of-life measures at diagnosis in the collaborative initial glaucoma treatment study (CIGTS). *Journal of Glaucoma*, 10, 192–198.
- Minnesota Adult Basic Education Disabilities. (n.d.). What is assistive technology? Retrieved on May 21, 2009, from www.mnabedisabilities.org/guide/assistive-technology/what-assistive-technology
- Mitchell, J., & Bradley, C. (2006). Quality of life in age-related macular degeneration: A review of the literature. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 4(97), 1–20.
- Mogk, L., Watson, G., & Williams, M. (2008). A commentary on the Medicare low vision rehabilitation demonstration project. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 102(2), 69–75.

- Moisan J., Gaudet, M., Grégoire, J. P., & Bouchard, R. (2002). Non-compliance with drug treatment and reading difficulties with regard to prescription labeling among seniors. *Gerontology*, 48(1), 44–51.
- Murphy, O., & Williams, J. (1999). Assessment of rehabilitative and quality of life issues in litigation. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- National Federation of the Blind (NFB). (2013). About the National Federation of the Blind.

 Retrieved on March 10, 2013, from https://nfb.org/about-the-nfb
- National Federation for the Blind (NFB). (2004). *Aging with loss of sight improving independence for older blind persons*. Retrieved on March 20, 2013, from https://nfb.org/Images/nfb/Publications/Law/medicare_facts.htm
- National Institute of Health-National Eye Institute (NIH-NEI). (2007). *Promoting independence through vision rehabilitation: What you should know*. Retrieved on August 18, 2008, from http://www.nei.nih.gov/lowvision/content/know.asp
- National Institute of Health-National Eye Institute (NIH-NEI). (2006). *Promoting independence through vision rehabilitation: Helping a loved one*. Retrieved on August 18, 2008, from http://www.nei.nih.gov/lowvision/content/helping.asp
- National Institute of Health-National Eye Institute (NIH-NEI). (2004). Vision loss from eye diseases will increase as Americans age. *News and Events*. Retrieved on November 10, 2009, from http://www.nei.nih.gov/news/pressreleases/041204.asp
- National Institute of Health–National Eye Foundation (NIH-NEI). (2002). *More Americans facing blindness than ever before*. Retrieved on July 13, 2010, from http://www.nei.nih.gov/news/pressreleases/032002.asp

- National Literacy Act P.L. 102-103 (1993). *Adult Education Functional Literacy and Life*Skills Program for State and Local Prisoners. U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved on from June 25, 2010, from https://www2.ed.gov/pubs/Biennial/416.html
- Ngoh, L. (2009). Health literacy: A barrier to pharmacist–patient communication and medication adherence. *Journal of the American Pharmacists Association*, 49, 132–149.
- Nordmann, J., Auzanneau, N., Ricard, S., & Berdeaux, G. (2003, December). Quality of life and topical glaucoma treatment side effects. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 1(75).
- O'Brien, S. (2009). Aging population: Seniors are fastest growing population worldwide.

 Retrieved from *Senior Living.com* May 20, 2009, at

 http://seniorliving.about.com/od/lifetransitionsaging/a/seniorpop.htm
- Ophthalmology Times. (2007, June). The price of vision report underscores need for cost-effective treatment prevention. *Ophthalmology Times*, 8.
- Orr, A., Rogers, P., & Scott, J., (2006). The complexities and connectedness of the public health and aging network. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, *Special Supplement*, 874–877.
- Osterberg, L., & Blaschke, T. (2005). Adherence to medication. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 353, 487–497.
- Owsley, C. (2007). Impact of cataract surgery on health-related quality of life in nursing home residents. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*, *91*(10), 1359–1136.
- Owsley, C., McGwin, G. Jr., Sloane, M. E., Stalvey, B. T., & Wells, J. (2001). Timed instrumental activities of daily living (TIADL) tasks: Relationship to visual function in older adults. *Optometry and Vision Science*, 78, 350–359.

- Pajares, F. (2002). Overview of social cognitive theory and of self-efficacy. Retrieved on January 10, 2013, from http://www.emory.edu/EDUCATION/mfp/eff.html
- Polsdorfer, J. (2001). Visual impairment. *Encyclopedia of Medicine*. Retrieved on August 19, 2011 from http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mig2601/is 0014/ai 2601001455/
- Ponchillia, P., & Ponchillia, S. (1996). Foundation of rehabilitation teaching with persons who are blind or visually impaired. New York: American Foundation for the Blind.
- Ponchillia, S. V. (2006). Diabetes management and visual impairment. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness Special Supplement*, 3(5), 867–871.
- Popivker, L., Wang, S., & Boerner, K. (2010). Eyes on the prize: Life goals in the context of disability in midlife. Clinical Rehabilitation, 24(12), 1127–1135.
- Prevent Blindness America. (2002). Vision problems in the U.S.: Prevalence of adult vision impairment and age-related eye disease in America. Retrieved on October 25, 2009, from http://www.preventblindness.org/vpus/VPUS_report_web.pdf
- Prime, L. (2012). Visually impaired need help with medicines. *Journal of British General*Practitioner, 411–412.
- Ray, C., Horvat, M., Williams, M., & Blasch, B. (2007). Clinical assessment of functional movement in individuals with visual impairments. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 10(2), 108–113.
- Review of Ophthalmology. (2008, May). Eye disease continuing to increase among Americans, 10.
- Risser, J., Jacobson, T., & Kripalani, S. (2007). Development and Psychometric evaluation of the self-efficacy for appropriate medication use scale (SEAMS) in low-literacy patients with chronic disease. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, *15*(3), 203–219.

- Riviere, A. (2001). Assistive technology for learning disabilities. *National Adult Literacy and Learning Disabilities Center*. Retrieved on May 20, 2009, from http://www.rehabtool.com/forum/discussions/93.html
- Riviere, A. (1996). Assistive technology for learning disabilities. *National Adult Literacy and Learning Disabilities Center, A program of the National Institute for Literacy*, 1–13.
- Rosenberg, E. A., & Sperazza, L. C. (2008). The visually impaired patient. *American Family Physician*. Retrieved on May 15, 2008, from www.aafp.org/afp
- Rubin, S. E., Chan, F., & Thomas, D. L. (2003). Assessing changes in life skills and quality of life resulting from rehabilitation services. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, 69(3), 4–9.
- Russell, J. N., Hendershot, G. E., LeClere, F., Howie, L. J., & Adler, M. (1997). Trends and differential use of assistive technology devices: United States, 1994. *Advance Data from Vital and Health Statistics*, 292. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
- Saaddine, J. B., Narayan, K. M., Engelgau, M., Aubert, R., Klein, R., & Beckles, G. L. A. (1999, August). Prevalence of self-rated visual impairment among adults with diabetes. *American Journal of Public Health*, 89(8), 1200–1205.
- Sabate', E., ed. (2003). Adherence to long-term therapies: Evidence for action. *Chronic Diseases and Health Promotion*, World Health Organization. Retrieved on September 15, 2013, from http://www.who.int/chp/knowledge/publications/adherence_report/en/
- Safran, D., Neuman, P., Schoen C., Kitchman M.S., Wilson, I.B., Cooper, B., Li, A., Chang, H., & Rogers W. (2005). Prescription drug coverage and seniors: Findings from a 2003 national survey. *Health Affairs*: W5-152–W5-166, 2005. Retrieved on August 25, 2011 from http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/early/2005/04/19/hlthaff.w5.152.full.pdf

- Scott, I. U., Smiddy, W. E., Schiffman, J., Feuer, W. J., & Pappas, C. J. (1999). Quality of life of low-vision patients and the impact of low-vision services. *American Journal of Ophthalmologist*, 128(1), 54–62.
- Shrank, W., Agnew-Blais, J., Choudhry, N., Wolf, M., Kesselheim, A., & Shekelle, P. (2007).

 The variability and quality of medication container labels. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 167(16), 1–9. Retrieved on March 15, 2008, from http://archinte.ama-assn.org/cgi/content/full/167/1760
- Shrank, W., Avorn, J., Rolon, C., & Shekell, P. (2007). Effect of content and format of prescription drug labels on readability, understanding, and medication use: A systematic review. *Harvard Medical School, Division of Pharmacoepidemiology and Pharmacoeconomics*. Retrieved on August 15, 2011, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17426075
- Shrank, W., Choudhry, N., & Kessselheim, A. (2007). The variability and quality of medication container labels. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *167*(16), 1760–1765.
- Shrank, W., Gleason, P., Canning, C., Walters, C., Heaton, A., Saira, J., Patrick, A., Brookhart, M., Schneeweiss, S., Solomon, D., Avorn, J., & Choudhry, N. (2009). Can improved prescription medication labeling influence adherence to chronic medications? An evaluation of the target pharmacy label. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 24(5), 570–578.
- Silva-Smith, A., Theune, T., & Spaid, P. (2007). Primary support persons for individuals who are visually impaired: Who they are and the support they provide. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 101(2), 113.

- Sleath, B., Robin, A., Covert, D., Byrd, J., Tudor, G., & Svarstad, B. (2006). Patient-reported behavior and problems in using glaucoma medications. *American Academy of Ophthalmology*, 113(3), 431–436.
- Smith, T., Thomas, K., & Dow, K. (2009). The effect of an educational program for persons with macular degeneration: A pilot study. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 130(4), 234–240.
- Steiner J., & Earnest, M. (2000). The language of medication-taking. *Annual Internal Medicine*. 132(11), 926–930.
- Stelmack, J. (2001). Quality of life of low-vision patients and outcomes of low-vision rehabilitation. *Optometry and Vision Science*, 78(5), 335–342.
- Stelmack, J. A., Babcock-Parziale, J. L., Head, D. N., Wolfe, G. S., Fakhoury, N. E., Wu, S. M., & Massof, R. W. (2006). Timing and directions for administration of questionnaires affect outcomes measurement. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 43(6), 809–816.
- Strobel, W. (2003). *Stakeholder forum on technology for vision impairment*. Retrieved on March 20, 2008, from http://cosmos.buffalo.edu/pubs/forums/vision/vision.pdf
- Stroupe, K., Stelmack, J., Tang, X., Reda, D., Moran, D., Rinne, S., Mancil, R., Wei, Y., Cummings, R., Mancil, G., Ellis, N., & Massof, R. (2008). Economic evaluation of blind rehabilitation for veterans with macular diseases in the Department of Veterans Affairs.

 Ophthalmic Epidemiology, 15, 84–91.
- Sugunendran, S. (2011). Diabetes dangers—The different complications of diabetes. *Ezine Articles*. Retrieved March 13, 2011, from http://ezinearticles.com/?Diabetes-Dangers...

- Szlyk, J. P., Stelmack, J., Massof, R., Stelmack, T. R., Demers-Turco, P., Williams, R. T., & Wright, B. D. (2004). Performance of the veterans affairs low vision visual functioning questionnaire (VA LV VFQ). *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 98(5).
- Taylor, S. (1998). Coping strategies. Retrieved on April 7, 2014 from http://www.macses.ucsf.edu/research/psychosocial/coping.php
- Taylor, S., Galbraith S., & Mills, R. (2002). Causes of non-compliance with drug regimens in glaucoma patients: A qualitative study. *Journal Ocular Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 18(5), 401–409.
- The Eye Disease Prevalence and Incidence Research Group. (2004). Causes and prevalence of visual impairment among adults in the United States. *Archive Ophthalmology*, 122(4), 477–485.
- Tolman, J., Hill, R. D., Kleinschmidt, J., & Gregg, C. (2005). Psychosocial adaptation to visual impairment and its relationship to depressive affect in older adults with macular degeneration. *Gerontologist*, 45, 747–753.
- Torpy, J., Lynn, C., & Glass, R. (2003). Causes of visual impairment. *Journal American Medical Association*. Retrieved September 18, 2008, from www.jama.com
- Travis, L. A., Lyness, J. M., Sterns, G. K., Kuchmek, M., Shields, C. G., King, D. A., Sterns, S., & Northrup, L. (2003). Family and friends: A key aspect of older adults' adaptation to low vision? *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 97,
- Turner, M., Rimal, R., Morrison, D., & Kim, H. (2006). The role of anxiety in seeking and retaining risk information: Testing the risk perception attitude framework in two studies.

 Human Communication Research, 32(2), 130–156.

- Tuttle, D., & Tuttle, N. (2004). *Self-esteem and adjusting with blindness*. Illinois: Charles C. Thomas Publishing, LTD.
- Upton, L. R., Bush, B. A., & Taylor, R. E. (1998, September). Stress, coping and adjustment of adventitiously blind male veterans with and without diabetes. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 92(9), 6565.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration. (2005). Statistical Brief: 65+ in the United States [Fact Sheet]. Washington, DC: Bureau of the Census.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1996). The international classification of diseases, 9th revision, clinical modification (ICD-9-CM), 4th ed., 1. U.S. DHHS (PHS-HCFA). Washington, DC.
- U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Disability Rights Section. (2005, September).

 A guide to disability rights laws. Retrieved from http://www.ada.gov/cguide.htm
- U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, (2002). *Visual impairment and blindness*. Employee Education System.
- Wahl, H. W., Schiling, O., Oswald, F., & Heyl, V. (1999). Psychosocial consequences of agerelated visual impairment: Comparison with mobility-impaired older adults and long-term outcome. *Journal of Gerontology, Psychological Sciences*, 5(54B), 304–316.
- Walt, J. G., Chiang, T. H., Stern, L. S., & Doyle, J. J. (2007). Characteristics of the living environments of end-stage glaucoma patients and use of low vision care services: A physician survey study. *International Congress Series*, 1282, 458–461. Retrieved on November 12, 2013, from
 - http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0531513105007892

- Weeraratne, C., Opatha, S., & Rosa, C. (2012). Challenges faced by visually disabled people in use of medicines, self-adopted coping strategies and medicine-related mishaps. *Journal of Public Health*, 1(3), 256–267.
- Windham, B. G., Fried, M. E., Rubin, G. S., Xue, Q., & Carlison, M. (2008). Vision problems make it difficult to take properly, *The AGS Foundation for Health Aging*. Retrieved on May 5, 2010, from http://www.healthinaging.org/agingintheknow/research_content.asp?id=8,1-2
- Windham, G., Griswold, M., Fried, L., Rubin, G., Xue, Q., & Carlson, M. (2005). Impaired vision and the ability to take medications. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(7), 1179–1190.
- Wilson, I., Schoen, C., Neuman, P., Strollo, M., Rogers, W., Chang, H., & Safran, D. (2007).

 Physician-patient communication about prescription medication nonadherence: A 50-state study of America's seniors. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22, 6–12.
- Wolffsohn, J. S., & Cochrane, A. L. (2000). Design of the low vision quality-of-life questionnaire (LVQOL) and measuring the outcome of low-vision rehabilitation.

 American Journal Ophthalmology, 130, 793–802.
- Wong, E., Guymer, R., Hassell, J., & Keeffe, J. (2004). The experience of age-related macular degeneration. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 98(10), 629–640.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2009). *Visual impairment and blindness. [Fact Sheet]*.

 Retrieved January 19, 2010 from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs282/en/
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2001). *International classification of functioning [ICF]*, disabilities and health. Geneva, Switzerland. Retrieved January 25, 2010 from http://www.who.int/classifications/icf/en/

- World Health Organization (WHO). (1999). *Partners in life skills education*. Retrieved January 25, 2010, from http://www.who.int/mental_health/media/en/30.pdf
- Yalow, E., & Collins, J. (1989). Self-efficacy in health behavior change: issues in measurement and research design. *Advances in Health Education and Promotion*, 2, 181–199.
- Yamdagni, N., Bhaheetharan, S., Dunn, C., & Fahimi, F. (2007). *Medication adherence. Using Technology to Measure Adherence of Complicated Medication Regimens*. Retrieved on May 25, 2011, from http://homepages.cae.wisc.edu/~bme200/medication_adherence_s07/reports/PDS_402_2nd_semester.pdf
- Yell, M. (2006). The law and special education. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education Inc.
- Zagar, M., & Baggarly, S. (2010, October). Simulation-based learning about medication management difficulties of low-vision patients. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 74(8), 146–152.
- Zerhouni, E. A. (2004). Vision loss from eye diseases will increase as Americans age. *NIH/NEI*.

 Retrieved on July 13, 2004, from http://www.nei.nih.gov/news/pressreleases/041204.asp
- Zieve, D., Juhn, G., & Eltz, D. (2008). Vision problems. *Medline Plus*. Retrieved August 1, 2009 from http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/003029.html

Appendix A

IRB APPROVAL NOTIFICATION FROM AUBURN UNIVERSITY

Tazewell, Debra CAVHCS

From:

Debra Tazewell <djt0001@tigermail.auburn.edu>

Sent:

Wednesday, August 06, 2014 1:29 PM

To:

rcnoble@ncat.edu

Cc:

Tazewell, Debra CAVHCS

Subject: Attachments: [EXTERNAL] FW: Approval, Exempt Protocol # 14-264 EX 1407

Investigators Responsibilities rev 1-2011.doox; Tazewell Information Letter.pdf

From: IRB Administration < irbadmin@aubum.edu> Sent: Wednesday, August 6, 2014 1:23 PM

To: Debra Tazewell

Cc: Rebecca Curtis; Everett Martin

Subject: Approval, Exempt Protocol # 14-264 EX 1407

Use IRBadmin@auburn.edu for questions and information. Use IRBsubmit@auburn.edu for protocol/forms submissions.

The IRB will only accept forms posted at https://cws.auburn.edu/vpr/compliance/humansubjects/?Forms and submitted electronically.

Dear Ms. Tazewell,

Your protocol entitled "Self-Efficacy and Medication Adherence for Individuals with Vision Impairments" has been approved by the IRB as "Exempt" under federal regulation 45 CFR 46.101(b)(2).

Official notice:

This e-mail serves as official notice that your protocol has been approved. A formal approval letter will not be sent unless you notify us that you need one. By accepting this approval, you also accept your responsibilities associated with this approval. Details of your responsibilities are attached. Please print and retain.

Consent document/Information Letter:

Your approved, stamped consent document will soon be sent. Until then, attached is a scan that you may use to make copies as needed.

Please note that you may not begin your research that involves human subjects unless you use the new document with an IRB approval stamp applied. You must use copies of that/those document when you consent participants, and provide a copy (signed or unsigned) for them to keep.

Expiration - Approval for three year period:

***Note that the policy for Exempt approvals is a three year approval. Therefore, your protocol will expire on July 30, 2017. Put that date on your calendar now. About three weeks before that time you will need to submit a renewal request.

When you have completed all research activities, have no plans to collect additional data and have destroyed all identifiable information as approved by the IRB, please notify this office via e-mail. A final report is no longer required.

If you have any questions, please let us know.

Best wishes for success with your research!

1

Sucau

IRB Administration
Office of Research Compliance
115 Ramsay Hall (basement)
Auburn University, AL 36849
(334) 844-5966
IRBadmin@auburn.edu (for general queries)
IRBsubmit@auburn.edu (for protocol submissions)

2

APPENDIX B LETTER OF PERMISSION TO USE ARMS

June 9, 2014

Sunil Kripalani, MD, MSc Section of Hospital Medicine Division of general Internal Medicine and Public Health Vanderbilt University 1215 21st Avenue South Suite 6000 MCE, Nashville, TN 37232

Dear Dr. Kripalani,

lam a doctoral student for Auburn University writing my dissertation tentatively titled 'Self-Efficacy and Medication Adherence of Individual with Vision Impairments', under the direction of my dissertation committee chaired by Dr. Rebecca Curtis.

- I would like your permission to reproduce and to use your scale entitled Adherence to Refills and Medication Scale (ARMS) in my study. I would use and print your scale under the following conditions:
- I will use this scale only for my research study and will not sell or use it with any compensated or curriculum development activities.
- I will include the copyright statement on all copies of the instrument.
- I will send my research study and one copy of reports, articles, and the like that make use of the scale data promptly to your attention.

If these are acceptable terms and conditions, please indicate so by signing one copy of this letter and returning it to me either through postal mail, fax, or e-mail:

My postal address is: 2304 Alabama Ave. Tuskegee, Al 36088

My fax number is: 334-725-2584. My e-mail is: Debra.Tazewell@va.gov

Sincerely,

Debra Tazewell **Doctoral Candidate**

Signature:

ell

unil Knipalani by

winn: October 30, 2014 Amel Ja

With permission Expected date of completion: October 30, 2014

APPENDIX C LETTER OF PERMISSION TO USE SEAMS

June 9, 2014

Jessica Risser Jessica Covuin, MD

Emory University School of Medicine Atlanta, GA 30317

Dear Ms. Risser,

I am a doctoral student for Auburn University writing my dissertation tentatively titled 'Self-Efficacy and Medication Adherence of Individual with Vision Impairments', under the direction of my dissertation committee chaired by Dr. Rebecca Curtis.

- I would like your permission to reproduce and to use your scale entitled 'Self-efficacy for Appropriate Medication Use Scale (SEAMS) in my study. I would use and print your scale under the following conditions:
- I will use this scale only for my research study and will not sell or use it with any compensated or curriculum development activities.
- I will include the copyright statement on all copies of the instrument.
- I will send my research study and one copy of reports, articles, and the like that make use of the scale data promptly to your attention,

If these are acceptable terms and conditions, please indicate so by signing one copy of this letter and returning it to me either through postal mail, fax, or e-mail:

On lessica Corwin MD, Mi

My postal address is: 2304 Alabama Ave. Tuskegee, Al 36088

My fax number is: 334-725-2584. My e-mail is: Debra.Tazewell@va.gov

Sincerely,

Debra Tazewell

Doctoral Candidate

Signature:

Expected date of completion: October 30, 2014

APPENDIX D INFORMATION LETTER TO PARTICIPANTS



The Aubum University Institutional Review Board has approved this Paper to the Paper To 131114 to 7/30/17

Protect 8/14-264 EX/1407

DEPARTMENT OF SPECIAL EDUCATION, REHABILITATION, AND COUNSELING

INFORMATION LETTER TO PARTICIPANTS

INFORMATION LETTER

for a Research Study entitled

"Self- Efficacy and Medication Adherence for Individuals with Vision Impairments"

You are invited to participate in a research study to investigate self-efficacy in medications adherence of individuals with visual impairments. The study is being conducted by Debra Tazewell, doctoral student, under the direction of Dr. Rebecca Curtis, associate professor, in the Auburn University Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling. You are invited to participate because you are an individual who has experienced some level of vision loss, and you are age 22 or older.

What will be involved if you participate? If you decide to participate in this research study, you will be asked to complete two short questionnaires and a demographic data sheet. Your total time commitment will be approximately five minutes.

Are there any risks or discomforts? There are no risks or discomforts associated with this study.

Are there any benefits to yourself or others? There are no benefits to you for participating in this study. However, you may receive a copy of the results at your request.

Will you receive compensation for participating? There is no compensation for your participation in this study.

Are there any costs? There are no costs to you for participating in this study.

Page 1 of 2

If you change your mind about participating, you can withdraw at any time during the study. Your participation is completely voluntary. If you choose to withdraw, your data can be withdrawn as long as it is identifiable. Your decision about whether or not to participate or to stop participating will not jeopardize your future relations with Auburn University, the Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling, or the researcher, Debra Tazewell.

Any data obtained in connection with this study will remain anonymous. We will protect your privacy and the data you provide by analyzing aggregate data only. Information collected through your participation may be used to fulfill an educational requirement, published in a professional journal, and/or presented at a professional meeting.

If you have questions about this study, please ask them now or contact Debra Tazewell at DIT0001@auburn.edu or Dr. Marie Kraska at kraskmf@auburn.edu

If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Auburn University Office of Research Compliance or the Institutional Review Board by phone (334)-844-5966 or e-mail at IRBadmin@auburn.edu or IRBChair@auburn.edu.

HAVING READ THE INFORMATION PROVIDED, YOU MUST DECIDE IF YOU WANT TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS RESEARCH PROJECT. IF YOU DECIDE TO PARTICIPATE, THE DATA YOU PROVIDE WILL SERVE AS YOUR AGREEMENT TO DO SO. THIS LETTER IS YOURS TO KEEP.

Dahres Gargerell 8/35/2014
Investigator's signature Date

Personal 14-264 EX 14-07

The Aubum University Institutions

DEBRA TALEWELL
Print Name

Page 2 of 2

APPENDIX E

PERMISSION LETTER FROM NFB

June 8, 2014

Dear Ms. Tazewell.

Your questionnaire to address medication adherence, challenge in taking medication independently, and the possible consequences for individuals with vision impairments is a very important issues for our population. Therefore we give you permission to administer your questionnaire. We acknowledge and welcome your request to administer your questionnaire on medication adherence among our members during our monthly meeting.

We understand that the questionnaire takes about 5 minutes to complete. It is anonymous and it has no identifiable information. It will also be administered during the organization's monthly meeting.

We would like to participate in addressing our concerns and the challenge that exist in taking medication with vision loss. We also welcome your discussing the questionnaire to our members at our next meeting. We understand that the questionnaire will take place during the following two months after your presentation to the members in July and August, 2014.

Again, we look forward to addressing this important topic. If you have any questions please feel free to contact me at 904 472-7125.

Sincerely.

Mary Huie President

NFB, Columbus, Chapter

APPENDIX F PERMISSION LETTER FROM THE BVAGRG



BLINDED VETERAN ASSOCIATION GEORGIA REGIONAL GROUP COLUMBUS CHAPTER PO BOX 1251 COLUMBUS, GA 31902

June 9, 2014

Dear Ms. Tazewell,

This letter is to acknowledge your request to administer your questionnaire on medication adherence among our members during our monthly meeting. We also recognize that the purpose of your questionnaire to address medication adherence, the challenge in taking medication independently, and the possible consequences for individuals with vision impairments. Therefore, we give you permission to administer the questionnaire recognizing the importance of the topic.

We understand that the questionnaire takes about 5 minutes to complete. It is anonymous and it has no identifiable information. It will also be administered during the organization's monthly meeting.

We would like to participate by sharing our voice in the challenge that exist for our blind and visually impaired population in taking their medication. We also welcome your discussing the questionnaire to our members at the next BVA meeting. We understand that the questionnaire will take place during the following three months after your presentation to the members.

Again, we look forward to addressing this important topic. If you have any questions please feel free to contact me at 706 -464-0322.

Sincerely,

Raymond Thorn, 1st Vice President

Georgia Regional Group Blinded Veterans Association

Columbus Chapter

APPENDIX G PERMISSION LETTER FROM GCB



July 7, 2014

Dear Ms. Tazewell,

The project that you are working on entitled "Self Efficacy and Medication Adherence for individuals with Vision impairment" is a topic that is very important that needs addressing among our members and all individuals with vision loss.

This is a topic that many of our members are struggling with in being able to manage their medications and take their medications independently. We welcome the opportunity to participate in this project by completing the questionnaires. We also realize that the questionnaires are anonymous and there is no identifying information. The questionnaire will be provided to each member that wishes to volunteer to participate with their proxy or another identified proxy. The completed questionnaires will be placed in a drop box provided by you. We understand that the questionnaires will take approximately 5 minutes to complete. We plan to meet in the month of August and welcome you to administer the questionnaires at that time.

We are looking forward to a copy of the results to aid us in our advocacy role in addressing the needs of individuals with vision loss in managing their medications.

Sincerely,

Bill Holley

President, Georgia Council of the Blind

Wessen Hitchelogh

THE GREATER COLUMBUS CHAPTER

OF THE GEORGIA COUNCIL OF THE BLIND PO BOX 12045

COLUMBUS, GA 31917-12045

June 9, 2014

Dear Ms. Tazewell,

We acknowledge and welcome your request to administer your questionnaire on medication adherence among our members during our monthly meeting. We give you permission to administer the questionnaire. We also understand that the questionnaire takes about 5 minutes to complete. It is anonymous and it has no identifiable information. It will also be administered during the organization's monthly meeting.

We would like to participate in addressing the challenge that exist in taking medication with vision loss. We also welcome your discussing the questionnaire to our members at our next meeting. We understand that the questionnaire will take place during the next following two monthly meetings after your presentation to the members.

Again, we look forward to addressing this important topic. If you have any questions please feel free to contact me at 706-330-8185.

Sincerely,

Gregory McDuffie, President Georgia Council of the Blind, Columbus Chapter

APPENDIX H STATEMENT ON CONFIDENTIALITY

Statement on Confidentiality

To: The Individual Assisting in Completing the Survey (Proxy),

Thank you for your assistance in volunteering as a proxy for the participant by aiding to read the questions and responding to the questions based on the answers provided by the participant, only.

We also would ask that you maintain confidentiality in aiding the individuals in completing the survey. Please do not sign or provide any identifiable information on the survey. The survey is confidential and anonymous.

There should not be any identifiable information on the survey linking the individual back to the survey. This process is very important.

Again, thank you for your assistance as a proxy and maintaining confidentiality in assisting the participant in completing the survey.